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CAUTIONARY STATEMENT REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STAT EMENTS  

   
This Report, including information included or incorporated by reference in this document, contains statements which constitute forward-looking 
statements. Forward looking statements made by penny stock issuers such as the Company are excluded from the safe harbor in Section 21E of 
the Securities Exchange Act of 1934. Forward-looking statements may relate to our financial condition, results of operation, plans, objectives, or 
future performance. These statements are based on many assumptions and estimates and are not guarantees of future performance. Our actual 
results may differ materially from those anticipated in any forward-looking statements, as they will depend on many factors about which we are 
unsure, including many factors which are beyond our control. The words “may,” “would,” “could,” “should,” “will,” “expect,” “anticipate,” 
“predict,” “project,” “potential,” “believe,” “continue,” “assume,” “intend,” “plan,” and “estimate,” as well as similar expressions, are meant to 
identify such forward-looking statements.  
   
Forward-looking statements are subject to certain risks and uncertainties which could cause actual results to differ materially from those 
anticipated. Such risk and uncertainties include, without limitation, those described below under Item 1A - Risk Factors and the following: 
(1) the Company has limited cash resources and if it is not able to obtain further financing required for continuing operations, marketing, product 
development, and research its business operations will fail, (2) the Company has not generated substantial revenues or cash flow from 
operations, and as a result, faces a high risk of business failure, (3) the Company’s lack of diversification and dependence on material customers 
increases the risks associated with the Company’s business and an investment in the Company, and the Company’s financial condition may 
deteriorate rapidly if it fails to succeed in developing the Company’s business and expanding our customer base, (4) the Company may not 
effectively execute the Company’s business plan or manage the Company’s potential future business development, (5) ) the Company may 
expend a substantial amount of time and resources in connection with the Securities and Exchange Commission’s (“SEC”) recent subpoena, 
potential inquiries or legal actions in connection with its filings with the SEC or otherwise, which may impair the Company’s ability to raise 
capital and to operate its business, (6) the Company’s business could be impaired if it fails to comply with applicable regulations, (7) the 
Company has had significant turnover in management and may not be able to retain key management personnel to manage the Company or 
laboratory scientists to carry out the Company’s business operations, which could have a material adverse effect on the Company’s business, 
(8) the market for lab-grown diamond may not develop as anticipated, and (9) competition may adversely affect our business.  You are cautioned 
not to place undue reliance on forward-looking statements, which speak only as of the date hereof.  The Company undertakes no obligation to 
publish revised forward-looking statements to reflect events or circumstances after the date hereof or to reflect the occurrences of unanticipated 
events. You are also urged to review and consider carefully the various disclosures made hereafter by the Company from time to time with its 
SEC filings.  
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PART I  
   
ITEM 1.  BUSINESS  
   
Corporate History  
   

We were incorporated on September 17, 2009 in the State of Nevada under the name Krossbow Holdings Corporation (“Krossbow”).  
Krossbow did not implement its original business plan and decided to acquire existing technology to seek to efficiently and effectively produce 
man-made diamond. In connection with this change in business purpose, Krossbow changed its name to Scio Diamond Technology Corporation 
to reflect its new business direction.  
   

On August 5, 2011, Edward S. Adams and Michael R. Monahan acquired control of the Company through the purchase of shares of the 
Company’s issued and outstanding common stock from Jason Kropp, Krossbow’s sole director and executive officer at that time.  
Messrs. Monahan and Adams served on the Company’s Board of Directors until their resignations form the Board on June 30, 2013, and June 
23, 2014, respectively.  Additionally, on August 5, 2011, the Company executed an Asset Purchase Agreement with another privately-held 
Nevada corporation that also had the name “Scio Diamond Technology Corporation” (“Private Scio”). Under the terms of the Asset Purchase 
Agreement, the Company purchased the name “Scio Diamond Technology Corporation” and acquired other rights from Private Scio for 
13,000,000 newly issued shares of common stock of the Company.   
   

On August 31, 2011, the Company acquired certain assets of Apollo Diamond, Inc. (“ADI”) (the “ADI Asset Purchase”), consisting 
primarily of diamond growing machines and intellectual property related thereto, for which the Company paid ADI an aggregate of $2,000,000.  
In connection with the ADI Asset Purchase, the Company also agreed to provide certain current and former stockholders of ADI qualifying as 
accredited investors the opportunity to acquire up to approximately 16 million shares of common stock of the Company for $0.01 per share (the 
“ADI Offering”).  
   

On June 5, 2012, the Company acquired substantially all of the assets of Apollo Diamond Gemstone Corporation (“ADGC”) (the 
“ADGC Asset Purchase”), consisting primarily of lab-grown diamond gemstone-related know-how, inventory, and various intellectual property, 
in exchange for $100,000 in cash and the opportunity for certain current and former stockholders of ADGC qualifying as accredited investors to 
acquire up to approximately 1 million shares of common stock of the Company for $0.01 per share (the “ADGC Offering”) with the intent that 
ADI Offering be conducted substantially concurrently with the ADGC Offering (collectively, the “ADI/ADGC  Offering”).   
   

In December, 2011, the Company began a build-out of its Greenville, South Carolina production facility. Construction was largely 
completed in March 2012 and equipment was moved from ADI’s former facility in Massachusetts to South Carolina over the first calendar 
quarter of 2012. The Company began initial production with ten diamond growing machines in July 2012.  
   

Since July 2012, the Company has been operational with ten diamond growing machines in our Greenville facility.  Through March of 
2013, the Company’s production was focused on industrial cutting tool products supplied to a single customer.  Subsequent to March 2013, the 
Company has expanded its product focus to include diamond gemstone material as well as industrial materials.  
   

On September 16, 2013, the Company entered into a series of agreements with SAAMABA, LLC and S21 Research Holdings (the 
“Grace Rich Agreements”) to form a joint venture (“Grace Rich LTD”) with operations in the People’s Republic of China (“PRC”) to deploy 
over 100 Company designed diamond growing machines.  Under the Grace Rich Agreements, the Company has agreed to license its proprietary 
technology for the manufacture of diamond gemstones of agreed upon specifications.  In exchange for the license, the Company received 
licensing and development revenue and a 30% ownership position in the joint venture.  In addition to the licensed technology, the Grace Rich 
Agreements include obligations for the Company to provide and be compensated for technology consulting services to the joint venture to 
support the start-up of operations.  The Company does not control the joint venture and is not required to make any on-going funding 
contributions to the joint venture and our ownership stake cannot be reduced from 30%.  
   

On December 16, 2014, the Company entered into an agreement for the Sale and Lease of Growers (the “Grower Sale-Lease 
Agreement”) with Heritage Gemstone Investors, LLC (“HGI”).  Pursuant to the Grower Sale-Lease Agreement, the Company agreed to a sale-
leaseback arrangement for certain diamond growers produced by the Company during the term of the Grower Sale-Leaseback Agreement by 
which the Company will sell diamond growers to HGI and then lease the growers back from HGI.  The direct profit margin generated from the 
growers will be split between the Company and HGI in accordance with the Grower Sale-Lease Agreement.  The Grower Sale-Lease Agreement 
requires the Company to operate and service the growers, and requires HGI to up-fit certain existing growers and to make capital improvements 
to the new growers under certain circumstances.  The Company will also have the right to repurchase the leased growers upon the occurrence of 
certain events.  
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On December 18, 2014 entered into an arrangement with Renaissance Diamonds, Inc. (“Renaissance”) creating Renaissance Created 

Diamond Company, LLC (“RCDC”).   The Company and Renaissance are each 50% members of RCDC. The arrangement was entered into in 
order to facilitate the development of procedures and recipes for, and to market and sell, lab-grown fancy-colored diamonds.  RCDC will 
purchase rough diamond material from the Company and process and finish the material into finished gemstones for sale to various retailers and 
other participants in the market for gemstones.  Profits generated by RCDC's operations will be distributed between the Company and 
Renaissance according to the terms of the LLC Agreement.  
   
Our Business  
   
General  
   

The Company is first and foremost a materials company that has developed proprietary technology through which high quality single 
crystal diamond materials are produced through a chemical vapor deposition (“CVD”) process (the “Diamond Technology”).  The Company’s 
primary mission is the development of profitable and sustainable commercial production of its diamond materials, which are suitable for known, 
emerging and anticipated industrial, technology and consumer applications. The Company intends to pursue progressive development of its core 
diamond materials technologies and related intellectual property that the Company hopes will evolve into product opportunities across various 
applications. We believe these opportunities may be monetized though a combination of end product sales, joint ventures and licensing 
arrangements with third parties, and through continued development of intellectual property. Anticipated application opportunities for the 
Company’s diamond materials include the following: precision cutting devices, diamond gemstone jewelry, power switches, semiconductor 
processors, optoelectronics, geosciences, water purification, and MRI and other medical science technology.  
   

Prior to October 1, 2011, the Company was a development stage company. Developmental activities ceased and the Company 
commenced producing diamond materials in July 2012.  Less than three years into production, the Company is already in the initial phases of 
commercializing the Diamond Technology and its goal is to become a preferred manufacturer of single crystal diamond and a leading global 
supplier of diamond materials for multiple applications. The Company hopes to further shape the evolution of various markets for its product and 
to leverage the technical foundation of the Diamond Technology by expanding into strategic partnerships with select industry leaders with 
distribution channels already in place to capture high value application opportunities.  
   

As of March 31, 2015, nearly all of the Company’s production capacity is being sold for use in the gemstone market.  As of March 31, 
2015 we had generated $3,026,282 in cumulative net revenue. Through March 31, 2015, over 50% of our product has been sold overseas and 
100% of these sales have been to external customers and to our joint venture partners as discussed in Item 8, Notes 10 and 11.  
   
The Diamond Technology  
   

We acquired our Diamond Technology primarily from ADI. ADI was originally founded in 1990 with the goal of developing and 
perfecting two advanced semiconductor materials, gallium nitride (now used in light emitting diodes) and diamond. From 2000 onward, ADI 
focused solely on diamond and developing a process by which large, single-crystal diamond could be grown in a controlled laboratory 
environment.  
   

The core Diamond Technology that was acquired by the Company is based on a CVD diamond growth system. Diamond wafers 
produced through the Diamond Technology CVD process have been shown to be exceptionally pure (nitrogen content < 10 ppb), and possess 
low levels of structural defects. Advances in this technology have dramatically improved the quality, and lowered the cost of high-quality 
diamond, resulting in new applications of diamond in electronics, optics, high power devices and quantum computing.  
   

The Diamond Technology provides a materials production platform and is supported by intellectual property, including trade secrets, 36 
issued patents (27 in the United States and 9 in foreign jurisdictions).  
   

Our Diamond Technology utilizes CVD growth technology to produce diamond crystals. This technology utilizes a highly scalable 
manufacturing process for producing large size, high-quality diamond crystals at a low cost. Unlike the high-pressure, high-temperature 
(“HPHT”) process, the Diamond Technology process allows for concurrent production of multiple diamond crystals.  
   

The Company’s diamond crystals are grown on small slices of diamond called “seeds” that the Company either grows internally or 
acquires from third parties.  Over time, the Company has been able to transition to larger seeds than previously used.  This transition allows the 
Company to see a substantial increase in the size of the material it is producing and allows for the Company to better match its production to 
specific customer needs.  
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In addition to utilizing larger “seeds,” our process can also be scaled through larger capacity diamond growing machines.  The 

Company has successfully developed 4-inch growing technology that allows for up to a 100% increase in production capacity from the current 
3-inch growing technology.  The Company is implementing this new technology across its production platform and anticipates being 
substantially complete with the upgrade during the first fiscal quarter of 2016.  
   

Finally, we expect that as we increase our production levels, our production costs per carat will actually decrease due to economies of 
scale.  
   
Facilities  
   

The Company’s production facility is located in Greenville, South Carolina.  This facility, covering 9,470 square feet of leased space 
including both our headquarters and our production facility, was substantially completed and ready for production as of June 30, 2012. Ten of 
the production reactors purchased from ADI were installed in the facility and are currently operating.  The Company is the process of adding two 
additional reactors to the Greenville facility which we believe is the maximum capacity of this facility.  
   

The Grace Rich LTD joint venture’s production facility is under development in the PRC and is not operational as of March 31, 2015.  
   
Products and Markets  
   

The current market for laboratory-grown diamond remains largely unknown and uncertain.  Sales of laboratory-grown diamond into the 
gemstone market are thought to be very small currently.  The industrial market for these products is more developed, but it is diffused globally 
and the Company is unable to reliably estimate its size or breadth.  
   

In addition to the precision cutting market and opportunities for the Company in the diamond gemstone market, we will continue to 
explore other opportunities for our diamond materials through applications where the unique properties of diamond may be desirable and 
advantageous, including: alternative energy, optoelectronics, communications, biotechnology, water treatment, quantum computing and the 
diamond device arenas.  

   
Competitive factors that will influence the market for our products include product quality, consistency of supply and price. We believe 

that we will be able to compete on the basis of these factors. We believe that we will be able to reliably and efficiently produce lab-grown 
diamond possessing substantially the same qualities and characteristics of their mined diamond counterparts.  
   
Gemstones  
   

Within the gemstone industry, our single-crystal diamond can be used in jewelry products requiring the highest quality gemstones and 
can be regularly grown in matched color sets ranging in polished sizes from 5-points (0.05 carats) to over 1.50 carats. Our diamond may be well 
suited for jewelry featuring matching diamond of various sizes, clarities and colors, diamond engagement rings, and fashion jewelry. The 
potential consistency and other potential characteristics of lab-grown diamond gemstones grown using the Diamond Technology may provide 
advantages over their mined counterparts in areas that matter to jewelers, jewelry manufacturers and consumers, with potential characteristics 
such as:  
   

   
We will seek to establish and maintain market acceptance through consumer education and industry cooperation. We intend to require 

laser marking of lab-grown diamond grown using the Diamond Technology (without compromising aesthetics) in order to brand and instill 
confidence in the consumer and the market as well as to differentiate our lab-grown diamond from earth-mined diamond. We intend to educate 
retailers and consumers on the physical properties of the Company’s lab-grown diamond as compared to mined diamond and quality of the 
Company’s lab-grown diamond.  
   
Commercial, Industrial and Technological Applications  
   

Diamond has exceptional qualities for use in advanced electronics and optics applications, but to date, development progress has been 
slow because of, among other things, diamond’s relative scarcity and high cost. Diamond’s unique hardness, clarity and thermal characteristics 
have made it highly desirable for scientific use for decades. However, material consistency issues and economics have created barriers to mass 
application adoption of diamond. We believe that our patented technology and production approach give us the ability to improve the quality and 
lower the cost of producing diamond materials, creating the opportunity for usage in a wider range of applications.  
   
   

• Equal quality and brilliance of diamond product; 
• Matched sizes, colors and clarities (particularly in goods ranging in sizes from 0.05 - 0.50 carats); 
• Consistency of diamond finish due to high quality; 
• Opportunity for color palette of diamond gemstones; and 
• Lack of negative issues related to environmental and social concerns. 
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The demand for computing and communications products has increased significantly. As devices become more intelligent and 

ubiquitous, the need for connectivity at very high speeds, data intensive storage needs and ever-faster computer processors are pushing the limits 
of conventional silicon-based devices. Diamond enables these technologies to move past their current limitations and may be able to facilitate the 
development of next-generation devices in key areas such as wireless networking, optical storage, and high speed computing.  
   

The Company anticipates several opportunities to monetize our patented technology and production approach in various technological 
applications. Pursuit of these opportunities is expected to be directed in part in concert with strategic partners.  
   

Several of diamond’s properties provide significant advantages over other materials used in devices/systems, such as high power 
switches, radiation detectors, and microwave windows suitable for use in plasma fields or other nuclear reactor high-electromagnetic interference 
(“EMI”) environments.  
   

Industrial diamonds already comprise what we estimate is a $1 billion-plus market per year, but consist of low-quality diamonds that 
have primarily been utilized in rudimentary cutting and polishing devices. These diamond materials are largely in the form of diamond grit and 
diamond dust. Through the introduction of higher-quality relatively large diamond materials, substantial growth is anticipated for the industrial 
diamond market. As previously noted, we have initially experienced this in precision cutting devices.  
   

The diamond and diamond-like materials historically used in the development of these non-gem applications have various limitations 
that have formerly impeded progress in optoelectronics and other technology applications. As our production volume increases and 
manufacturing costs continue to decrease due to our capacity expansion, we anticipate that our diamond materials will provide a viable and 
potentially economically preferred alternative for many of these highly-valued electronic, optical and industrial applications.  
   

In order to more fully explore the opportunities discussed above, we intend to continue current production of our high quality diamond 
materials and to pursue related commercial opportunities. Currently, we intend to continue to explore opportunities in the precision cutting 
devices market while concurrently seeking opportunities for our lab-grown diamond gemstones.  
   
The Industry and Competition  
   

Our lab-grown diamond gemstones and diamond materials for use in industrial applications face competition from established 
producers and sellers of mined diamond, including companies such as De Beers, and other known and current and potential future manufacturers 
of lab-grown diamond. Our competitors include large multi-national gemstone diamond companies as well as start-up and development-stage 
gemstone diamond and technology companies, some of whom we may not be aware.  Many of our competitors have significantly greater 
financial, technical, manufacturing and marketing resources and greater access to distribution channels than the Company.  Many of our 
competitors may be able to devote substantially greater resources to promotion and systems development than we can.  Barriers to developing 
competitive technology in our market may not be sufficient to prevent competitors from entering the industry, and current and new competitors 
may be able to develop competing diamond at a relatively low cost.  We believe that our success will depend heavily upon whether we can 
achieve significant market acceptance before our potential competitors are able to introduce broadly accepted competitive products.  

   
Companies that produce lab-grown diamond and who may compete with the Company in one or more of its markets include Element 

Six (South Africa), a privately held subsidiary of De Beers, AOTC Group NV (Netherlands), Pure Grown Diamond/IIa Technologies (USA, 
Singapore & Malaysia), Washington Diamond/Carnegie Institute, Sumitomo Electric Industries, Ltd. and Cornes Technologies (Japan). Other 
companies could seek to introduce lab-grown diamond or other competing diamond or to develop competing processes for production of lab-
grown diamond and diamond materials. We believe that competition will increase as demand for diamond materials increases for use in 
industrial and technology applications and as lab-grown diamonds continue to gain market acceptance.  
   
Raw Materials  

   
The principal raw materials used in the manufacture of our products are diamond seeds and certified high purity bottled gases. Certain 

diamond seeds are purchased from other diamond material producers, but the Company maintains its primary seed inventory through its self-
sustaining seed production. Seeds are re-used through multiple production runs.  
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Our manufacturing process is dependent upon large amounts of electrical power delivered on an uninterrupted basis. The Company has 

worked with the local electric utility, a Fortune 200 company, to build and operate equipment at its manufacturing site that meets its needs. This 
equipment is provided to the Company on a long-term operating lease, which includes warranty, maintenance, and the delivery of electrical 
power at attractive per kilowatt/hour rates.  

   
Customers  
   

In July 2012 the Company began to produce diamond material and entered into a purchase order with an international supplier of 
precision diamond cutting tools pursuant to which the Company has been providing CVD single crystal diamond in specified wafer sizes.  At 
March 31, 2013, the Company had largely fulfilled its initial purchase order with this customer.  Since then, the Company has aggressively 
expanded its customer base with a focus on the gemstone marketplace.  During the year ended March 31, 2015, the Company had 31 customers 
purchasing various materials for industrial and gemstone applications.  

   
If we continue to reliably manufacture diamond products and are successful in expanding our manufacturing capacity, we anticipate that 

we will experience increased demand for our products both domestically and internationally, given the potential demand for diamond, the variety 
of potential uses for these products in gemstone, high tech applications, alternative energy technologies, and defense technologies.  

   
Patents, Trademarks, Licenses, Franchises, Concessions, Royalty Agreements or Labor Contracts  
   

At March 31, 2015, we held the following number of patents:  
   

   
During the fiscal year ended March 31, 2015, the Company had one new patent granted in the United States.  This patent expanded our 

intellectual property rights related to our Diamond Technology.   
   
All of the Company’s patents have various lives based on the date of issue.  Expiration of individual patents is expected to occur 

between 2019 and 2032.  
   
Our research and development staff will continue efforts to develop proprietary manufacturing processes and equipment designed to 

enhance our manufacturing facilities and reduce costs.  
   
We also own various trademarks and trade secrets that we developed within the Company or acquired from ADI and ADGC.  

   
Distribution  
   

Through March 31, 2015 the Company has had a limited number of customers.  The Company has distributed its products directly to 
these customers without using intermediaries or distributors.  
   
Joint Ventures  
   

On September 16, 2013, the Company entered into the Grace Rich Agreements to form a joint venture with operations in the PRC.  This 
joint venture is to initially deploy 100 Scio-designed diamond growing machines.  The Company has licensed its proprietary technology for the 
manufacture of diamond gemstones to the joint venture to produce material of agreed upon specifications.  In exchange for the license, the 
Company has received licensing and development revenue and a 30% non-dilutable ownership position in the joint venture.  In addition to the 
licensed technology, the Grace Rich Agreements include obligations for the Company to provide and be compensated for technology consulting 
services to the joint venture to support the start-up of operations.  The Company is assisting the joint venture with the initial deployment of the 
licensed technology and the development of its production facility.  The Company does not control the joint venture and is not required to make 
any on-going funding contributions.   
   

On December 18, 2014, the Company entered into an arrangement with Renaissance Diamonds, Inc. (“Renaissance”) creating 
Renaissance Created Diamond Company, LLC (“RCDC”).   The Company and Renaissance are each 50% members of RCDC. The arrangement 
was entered into in order to facilitate the development of procedures and recipes for, and to market and sell, lab-grown fancy-colored diamonds.  
RCDC will purchase rough diamond material from the Company and process and finish the material into finished gemstones for sale to various 
retailers and other participants in the market for gemstones.  Profits generated by RCDC's operations will be distributed between the Company 
and Renaissance according to the terms of the LLC Agreement.  
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Jurisdiction    No. of Patents   
United States     27     
Foreign     9     

Total     36     



   
Government Regulations  
   

Laboratory technology activities are subject to various federal, state, foreign and local laws and regulations, which govern research, lab 
development, taxes, labor standards, occupational health, and waste disposal, protection of the environment, mine safety, hazardous substances 
and several other matters. We believe that we are in compliance in all material respects with applicable technology, health, safety and 
environmental statutes and the regulations promulgated by the relevant jurisdictions. Currently, there are no costs associated with our 
compliance with such regulations and laws.  Certain federal and state laws and regulations govern the testing, creation and sale of the types of 
diamond we intend to produce. The United States Federal Trade Commission (“FTC”) and other comparable regulatory authorities in the United 
States and in foreign countries may extensively and rigorously regulate our lab-grown diamond, product development activities and 
manufacturing processes. In the United States, the FTC regulates the introduction and labeling of gemstone diamond. We may be required to:  
   

   
The process of obtaining marketing clearance for new gemstone diamond from the FTC may prove costly and time consuming. The 

FTC has neither approved nor prohibited the use of the term “cultured” to describe the diamond the Company intends to sell as gemstones. 
However, in December 2006, the Jewelers’ Vigilance Committee submitted a petition (the “Petition”) to the FTC seeking amendment to the 
Guides for the Jewelry, Precious Metals, and Pewter Industries, 16 C.F.R. Part 23 (“Guides”) to include the term “cultured” as a proscribed term 
to describe laboratory-created diamond. By opinion, dated July 21, 2008, the FTC denied the Petition, finding it did not demonstrate that the use 
of the term “cultured” to describe laboratory-created diamond, when qualified by one of the terms provided in the Guides, is deceptive or unfair 
and declined to amend the Guides as requested by the Petition. The Company has not procured FTC clearance, and the FTC has not precluded 
the Company from selling diamond produced using the Diamond Technology. FTC has the power to restrict the offer and sale of diamond that 
could deceive or have the tendency or effect of misleading or deceiving purchasers or prospective purchasers with regard to the type, kind, 
quality, character, value, origin or other characteristics of a diamond gemstone. Under current guidelines issued by the FTC, the Company is 
permitted to market its diamond gemstones as “Scio-created,” “lab-created diamond”, “laboratory created diamond,” “laboratory grown 
diamond” or “cultured” so long as that term is accompanied by any of the foregoing and such designations may inhibit marketing descriptions 
that are more favorable to creating consumer demand. We may come under close scrutiny by governmental agencies and industry testing 
organizations and also by competitors in the gemstone industry, any of which may challenge our promotion and marketing of our lab-grown 
diamond. If our production or marketing is challenged by governmental agencies or competitors, or if regulations are issued that restrict our 
ability to produce and market our lab-grown diamond as “cultured diamond”, “lab-created diamond”, or otherwise as a mined diamond 
alternative, our business, operating results and financial condition could be materially adversely affected.  
   

Our lab-grown diamond must also comply with similar laws and regulations of foreign countries in which we market such diamond. In 
general, the extent and complexity of gemstone diamond regulation is increasing worldwide. This trend may continue, and the cost and time 
required to obtain marketing clearance in any given country may increase as a result. Should it prove necessary, there can be no assurances that 
our lab-grown diamond will obtain any necessary foreign clearances on a timely basis, or at all.  
   

Federal, state, local and foreign laws and regulations (especially those regarding approval of gemstone diamond) are always subject to 
change, and could have a material adverse effect on the testing and sale of our lab-grown diamond and, therefore, our business.  
   
Research and Development  
   

Our research and development activities have been limited to date as we have focused first on establishment of our production facility 
and immediately thereafter on production of diamond materials for commercial purposes. We expect to invest in new technology and intellectual 
property development to further improve production efficiencies and develop new products in the future.  
   
   

• Obtain clearance before we can market and sell our lab-grown diamond; 
• Satisfy content requirements applicable to our labeling, sales and promotional materials; 
• Comply with manufacturing and reporting requirements; and 
• Undergo rigorous inspections. 
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Environmental Regulations  
   

Our operations are subject to local, state and federal laws and regulations governing environmental quality and pollution control. To 
date, our compliance with these regulations has had no material effect on our operations, capital, earnings, or competitive position, and the cost 
of such compliance has not been material. We are unable to assess or predict at this time what effect additional regulations or legislation could 
have on our activities.    
   
Employees  
   

We had eight full-time employees as of March 31, 2015.  
   
Securities Exchange Act of 1934 Reports  
   

We maintain an Internet website at the following address: http://www.sciodiamond.com. The contents of the website are not 
incorporated either directly or by reference into this Form 10-K or into our other filings with the SEC.  The Company makes available on or 
through our Internet website certain reports and amendments to those reports that are filed or furnished to the SEC pursuant to Section 13(a) or 
15(d) of the Exchange Act. These include annual reports on Form 10-K, quarterly reports on Form 10-Q, current reports on Form 8-K and 
beneficial ownership reports on Forms 3, 4 and 5. This information is available on our website free of charge as soon as reasonably practicable 
after we electronically file the information with, or furnish it to, the SEC.  
   
ITEM 1A.  RISK FACTORS.  
   

Our business, financial condition, and results of operations could be harmed by any of the following risks, or other risks that have not 
been identified or which we currently believe are immaterial or unlikely. Shareholders should carefully consider the risks described below in 
conjunction with the other information in this Form 10-K and the information incorporated by reference in this Form 10-K, including our 
financial statements and related notes.  

   
Risks Related to Our Business  
   

We have a very limited operating history, and have incurred losses to date. We have generated limited revenues to date, and 
therefore, it is difficult to evaluate our business and prospects.  
   

Our Company is in the preliminary stages of operation. While our Company has recently engaged in revenue-producing business 
activities, it is not yet a profitable enterprise and may incur substantial losses for the foreseeable future. In addition, the Company’s revenues are 
presently derived from a limited number of customers. The Company has not finalized the scope of products it anticipates it will bring to market. 
As a company in the early stages of operation, our business is subject to all the risks inherent in a new business enterprise. We have no 
substantial operating history for investors to consider in evaluating our business and prospects. When making an investment decision, investors 
should consider the risks, expenses and difficulties that we may encounter as a young company in a new market. These risks include, but are not 
limited to, the following:  

   

   
Likewise the diamond materials and lab-grown diamond gemstones produced using the Diamond Technology (collectively “Scio 

Diamond Materials”) are in a relatively early stage of development and are subject to the risks inherent in the development and marketing of 
Scio Diamond Materials, including unforeseen design, manufacturing or other problems or failure to develop market acceptance. Our business is 
subject to the risks inherent in the transition of technology from research and development and prototype proof-of-concept to commercial 
production and market acceptance.  
   
   

• Our need to fund and manage our rapidly developing and changing operations; 
• Our need to expand our sales and marketing activities; 
• Our need to quickly hire and integrate new personnel, including various levels of senior management who have been hired 

relatively recently; 
• Our ability to develop additional applications and markets for our diamond materials, including the diamond gemstone industry; 
• Our ability to produce diamond materials sufficient to meet the specifications and needs of various industrial and technology 

applications; 
• Our ability to produce diamond materials and lab-grown diamond sufficient to meet anticipated demand in the gemstone 

marketplace; 
• Acceptance of our lab-grown diamond in the gemstone marketplace; and 
• The need to further refine and improve our technology with respect to man-made diamond development/growing and 

commercialization — including the need to make the diamond growing process commercially viable, acceptable (by our own and 
third party measures) and economical — and our intellectual property and product offerings, and the need to respond to changing 
technologies and consumer preferences. 
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Failure by the Company to complete and integrate commercial development of the Scio Diamond Materials it will market and distribute 

in sufficient quantities to meet market demand would have a material adverse effect on the Company’s business, operating results and financial 
condition. Accordingly, the Company’s prospects must be considered in light of the risks, expenses and difficulties frequently encountered by 
companies in their early stage of development, particularly technology-based companies operating with developing and unproven manufacturing 
processes.  
   

To address these risks, the Company must, among other things, respond to competitive developments, attract and motivate qualified 
personnel, develop market acceptance for its diamond, establish effective distribution channels, effectively manage any growth that may occur 
and continue to upgrade and successfully commercialize the Diamond Technology and Scio Diamond Materials incorporating such technology.  
   

The Company purchased its Diamond Technology from ADI and ADGC (together, the “Apollo Companies”).  Neither of the Apollo 
Companies was able to successfully (profitably) develop and commercialize their man-made diamond development/growing process.  
   
We will require additional funding.  
   

We currently have limited cash and working capital to support our operations.  Our future continuing operations will require additional 
funding, and we may not be able to obtain such funding on acceptable terms or at all. We likely will require additional capital to be able to fund 
continued development and improvement of the process for growing Scio Diamond Materials and to fund our expansion of manufacturing 
capacity to meet projected growth of the market for our diamond. There can be no assurance that such efforts for raising capital will not involve 
substantial dilution with respect to existing or future stockholders of the Company.  
   

Our future capital requirements will depend on many factors, including the speed at which our production process can be scaled-up for 
high yield production, market acceptance of and demand for our diamond, and the timing of our expansion into new diamond markets. Our 
future capital requirements depend upon many factors, including, but not limited to:  
   

   
We expect additional financing to be required and there can be no assurance that additional equity or debt financing, if required, will be 

available on acceptable terms or at all. If we raise additional funds by selling stock, the percentage ownership of our then current stockholders 
will be reduced, and we may raise these funds with securities that have rights, preferences, or privileges equal or superior to the rights of 
investors owning our common shares. If we cannot raise adequate funds to satisfy our capital requirements, we may have to limit our operations 
significantly, or the Company could terminate operations entirely, resulting in a complete loss of investment for our stockholders. Our inability 
to obtain financing on acceptable terms when needed would have a material adverse effect on the Company’s business, operating results and 
financial condition.  
   
We have had significant turnover in key management personnel.  
   

We have had significant turnover in our executive officers.  Our success depends in part upon our ability to retain the services of certain 
executive officers and other key employees and on the skills, experience and performance of senior management and certain other key personnel, 
most of whom have either never worked together or who have worked together for only a short period of time. The loss of the services of our 
executive officers or other key employees would have a material adverse effect on our business, operating results and financial condition. 
Because we are in the early stages of commercialization, we are also dependent on our ability to recruit, retain and motivate personnel with 
technical, manufacturing and chemical vapor deposition process skills. There are a limited number of personnel with these qualifications and 
competition for such personnel may be intense. Our inability to attract, integrate and retain additional qualified key personnel would materially 
adversely affect our business, operating results and financial condition.    
   

• The rate at which we increase our production capacity; 
• The rate at which we expand our sales and marketing operations; 
• The rate at which we attract consumers, distributors and strategic relationships; 
• The extent to which we are able to develop and upgrade the technology and infrastructure; and 
• The response of competitors to our Scio Diamond product offerings. 
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We may expend a substantial amount of time and resources in connection with SEC, other regulatory or stockholder-related inquiries or 
legal actions related to our filed financial statements and other disclosures and the transactions related thereto or other matters.  
   
                We have recently received a subpoena issued by the SEC ordering the provision of documents and related information concerning 
various corporate transactions between the Company and its predecessors and other persons and entities.  The Company is fully cooperating with 
this inquiry.   We may expend a substantial amount of time and resources in connection with the SEC subpoena, other regulatory or stockholder-
related inquiries or legal actions related to our previously filed financial statements and other disclosures and the transactions related thereto or 
other matters. Such actions could have a material adverse effect on the Company’s liquidity and financial condition and could also affect our 
ability to file periodic reports on a timely basis and investor confidence in the accuracy and completeness of our financial statements, which in 
turn could harm our business and have an adverse effect on our stock price and our ability to raise additional funds.  
   
We expect future losses.  
   

In order to achieve a commercially viable operation, we have made and expect to make further significant investments in technology, 
infrastructure, research and development. We expect to expend substantial financial and other resources on expanding our operations, in 
particular our diamond growth technology infrastructure, diamond fabrication, and sales/marketing activities. As a result, we must generate 
significant revenues to achieve and maintain profitability. We expect that our sales and marketing expenses, general and administrative expenses, 
as well as the continued development expenses will continue to increase.  
   
Our business model is unproven.  
   

Our initial business model was focused on selling lab-grown diamond for various precision cutting applications. We are concurrently 
seeking to produce other lab-grown diamond for retail gemstone consumption and other commercial applications. Although other companies 
have sold some minimal amounts of lab-grown diamond gemstones to date, the full extent of the market for such lab-grown diamond is not fully 
known. Our business model is relatively new, is unproven and is likely to continue to evolve. Accordingly, our business model may not be 
successful, and we may need to make substantial changes thereto. Our ability to generate significant revenues will depend, in large part, on our 
ability to successfully market our product to consumers, distributors and commercial customers. We intend to continue to develop our business 
model as the market for our products evolves.  
   
We are wholly dependent on the Diamond Technology.  
   

Our diamond supply depends entirely on our ability to manufacture diamond using the Diamond Technology acquired via the 
August 31, 2011 purchase of assets by the Company from ADI and the June 5, 2012 purchase of assets by the Company from ADGC (together, 
the “Asset Purchase”).  
   

Although the ability to produce limited quantities of high quality lab-grown diamond gemstones has been demonstrated, it has yet to be 
proven that such success can be transferred into a mass production process that will yield high-quality gemstones and material suitable for retail 
gemstone distribution and commercial/industrial applications. The inability or difficulty to transfer the Diamond Technology into a high-yield 
production facility would have a material adverse effect on our business, operating results and financial condition. Any disruption in our ability 
to produce high quality lab-grown diamond would have a significant material effect on our business.  
   
Our future revenues are unpredictable, and we expect our operating results to fluctuate from period to period.  
   

Our lack of operating history and the emerging nature of the markets in which we expect to compete make it difficult for us to 
accurately forecast revenues in any given period. As such, revenues could fall short of our expectations if we experience production delays or 
difficulties. Likewise, revenues could fall short of expectations should our product not be met with the demand we anticipate from the 
marketplace. We have limited experience in financial planning for our business on which to base our planned operating expenses.  
   

Our operating results are likely to fluctuate substantially from period to period as a result of a number of factors, many of which are 
beyond our control. These factors include, but are not limited to, the following:  
   

   

• Outside market influences beyond our control, including extended periods of decreased demand for Scio diamond; 
• Our ability to enter into successful strategic relationships; 
• Our ability to attract purchasers and/or distributors; 
• The amount and timing of operating costs and capital expenditures relating to expansion of production operations; 
• The rate at which individuals and organizations accept our diamond; 
• An announcement or introduction of new or enhanced diamonds or services by our competitors; 
• Our ability to attract and retain qualified personnel; and 
• Pricing policies instituted by our current and possible future competitors. 
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The Company has generated limited revenue to date and consequently its operations are subject to all risks inherent in the establishment 

of a new business enterprise. For the period from inception, September 17, 2009, through March 31, 2015, the Company has an accumulated 
deficit of ($18,738,915). We are currently generating limited revenues and expect to continue to generate revenue in the future, but there can be 
no assurances that we will ever generate sufficient revenues to achieve profitability. If we do achieve profitability, there can be no assurances 
that we can sustain or increase profitability.  
   
Our ability to develop our core technologies is subject to uncertainties.  
   

The process by which we plan to manufacture diamond is highly complex. We anticipate that customers will have highly specific 
quality standards that our diamond will be required to meet. The diamond we intend to sell is in the early stages of development and there can be 
no assurances that it will meet high customer standards. Product failure or the inability to meet customer requirements would have a material 
adverse effect on our business, operating results and financial condition. The process by which we plan to produce our diamond requires the 
integration of several complex components, some of which will be provided by third-party suppliers. The successful integration of the Diamond 
Technology with third-party products will determine the performance and scalability of our production process. We will be dependent upon our 
employees and vendors to maintain an adequate testing and technical support infrastructure to ensure the successful adoption and rollout of our 
diamond to customers. We currently have limited experience in these areas. Failing in any of these areas could materially adversely affect our 
business.  
   
We may not be able to establish effective distribution channels.  
   

We initially intend to sell our diamond in selected markets in the United States and internationally. We expect that we will be required 
to enter into distribution agreements with, and will be dependent upon, a number of third parties for distribution and sales of our diamond. We 
are currently selling diamond directly to customers and have not yet entered into distribution agreements with any distributors. There can be no 
assurance that we will be able to enter into distribution agreements with distributors or that our distribution strategy will prove to be successful. 
Additionally, there can be no assurance that distributors will devote the efforts needed for successful distribution of our diamond. The inability 
of the Company to enter into favorable arrangements with distributors or to achieve desired distribution of our diamond would have a material 
adverse effect on our business, operating results and financial condition.  
   

Our sales of diamond for commercial applications are dependent upon our ability to enter into profitable relationships with businesses 
best able to reap rewards from the unique characteristics of diamond. There is no assurance that we will be able to initiate and maintain these 
relationships.  
   
The Diamond Technology may be vulnerable to failure.  
   

Our success depends, in part, on the performance, reliability and availability of the Diamond Technology and the diamond we 
ultimately produce. The Diamond Technology and diamond produced thereby may be vulnerable to failure. The failure of the Diamond 
Technology or diamond produced thereby could adversely affect our business. The process for manufacturing diamond using the Diamond 
Technology is vulnerable to disruptions due to a variety of factors, which may lead to interruptions, delays, and losses of opportunities or 
inability to consistently market and sell our lab-grown diamond. The occurrence of any of the foregoing could have a material adverse effect on 
our business.  
   
We may need to effectively manage rapid growth of our operations.  
   

Our ability to successfully offer diamond and to implement our business plan in new markets requires an effective planning and 
management process. We are in the process of increasing our operations and anticipate having to increase our headcount as well. Increasing our 
operations and potentially experiencing rapid growth would place a significant strain on our management systems, infrastructure and resources. 
We will need to continue to improve our financial and managerial controls and reporting systems and procedures, and will need to continue to 
expand, train and manage our workforce.  
   

Furthermore, we may be required to manage an increasing number of relationships with various users, customers and other third parties. 
Any failure to expand any of the foregoing areas efficiently and effectively could cause our business to suffer. We could experience a period of 
rapid and significant growth, which could continue over several years. We believe rapid growth would place a significant strain on our resources. 
Our ability to manage growth effectively will require us to implement and improve operational and financial systems and to expand, train and 
manage our employee base. We also may be required to manage multiple relationships with various suppliers, customers and other third parties. 
Our future operating results will also depend on our ability to expand sales and marketing, research and development and administrative support 
organizations. If the Company were unable to manage growth effectively, our business, financial condition and results of operations would be 
materially adversely affected.  
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We will need to hire additional personnel.  
   

Our future success depends on our ability to identify, attract, hire, train, retain and motivate highly skilled executive, technical, 
managerial, sales and marketing and business development personnel. We intend to hire a number of executive, technical, sales, and marketing, 
business development and administrative personnel during the next one or two years. Competition for qualified personnel may prove intense, 
particularly in the technology markets. If we fail to successfully attract, assimilate and retain a sufficient number of qualified executives, 
technical, managerial, sales and marketing, business development and administrative personnel, our business could suffer.  
   
Our success depends upon achieving a critical mass of customers and strategic relationships.  
   

Our success is largely dependent upon achieving significant market acceptance for our diamond.  The market for our diamond is at an 
early stage of development. Although we believe that our diamond will ultimately achieve broad market acceptance, our existing and potential 
competitors may offer diamond that could negatively affect the market acceptance of our product and damage our business prospects.  
   

Our success is also dependent upon attracting significant numbers of distributors and strategic relationships in order to market our 
diamond. In particular, our ability to enter into beneficial distribution partnerships will depend in large part upon our success in convincing 
diamond gemstone consumers that our lab-grown diamond gemstone is of a desired quality. Failure to achieve and maintain a critical mass of 
market acceptance will seriously harm our business in the diamond gemstone industry.  
   
The current and future state of the global economy may curtail our operations and our anticipated revenues.  
   

Our business may be adversely affected by changes in domestic and international economic conditions, including inflation, changes in 
consumer preferences and changes in consumer spending rates, personal bankruptcy and the ability to collect our accounts receivable. Changes 
in global economic conditions may adversely affect the demand for our products and make it more difficult to collect accounts receivable, 
thereby negatively affecting our business, operating results and financial condition. The recent disruptions in credit and other financial markets 
and deterioration of national and global economic conditions could, among other things, impair the financial condition of some of our customers 
and suppliers, thereby increasing customer bad debts or non-performance by suppliers.  
   
Acts of war, terrorism or other unknown and unexpected events could disrupt our business and we could be required to cease our operations. 
   

Involvement in a war or other military action or acts of terrorism may cause significant disruption to commerce throughout the world. 
To the extent that such disruptions result in (i) delays or cancellations of customer orders, (ii) a general decrease in consumer spending, (iii) our 
inability to effectively market and distribute our products or (iv) our inability to access capital markets, our business and results of operations 
could be materially and adversely affected. We are unable to predict whether the involvement in a war or other military action will result in any 
long-term commercial disruptions or if such involvement or responses will have any long-term material adverse effect on our business, results of 
operations or financial condition.  
   
The Company continues to receive a “going concern” qualification in our financial statements that might create additional doubt about our 
ability to stay in business, which could result in a total loss of investment by our stockholders.  
   

We have not generated material revenues and have negative operating cash flows. These issues, among others, raise substantial doubt 
about our ability to continue as a “going concern.”  
   
Risks Related to Our Industry  
   
The potential market for our lab-grown diamond is unproven and may not materialize.  
   

There currently is no widely-developed market for lab-grown diamond gemstones, and we believe that companies operating in the 
gemstone field may not be fully aware of the existence and attributes of our lab-grown diamond. As is the case with any new or potential 
product, market acceptance and demand are subject to a significant amount of uncertainty. Our future financial performance will depend upon 
consumer acceptance of lab-grown diamond as a realistic and comparable alternative to mined diamond and other gemstones. Because no 
widely-developed markets now exist for lab-grown diamond gemstones, it is difficult to predict the future growth rate, if any, and the size of the 
market for our lab-grown diamond gemstones. We may spend significant amounts of capital to acquire diamond production systems at a time 
when demand for our lab-grown diamond is not at a level to fund those expenditures. The market for our lab-grown diamond gemstones may 
never develop or may develop at a slower pace than expected due to a general lack of consumer acceptance of lab-grown diamond gemstones. If 
the market fails to develop or develops more slowly than expected, or if our lab-grown diamond gemstones do not achieve significant market 
acceptance, our business, operating results and financial condition would be materially adversely affected.  
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We face significant competition.  
   

Our lab-grown gemstone diamond will face competition from established producers and sellers of earth-mined diamond and other 
known and potential manufacturers of lab-grown gemstones. Other companies could seek to introduce lab-grown diamond or other competing 
diamonds or to develop competing processes for production of lab-grown diamond gemstones. We believe that the more successful the Company 
is in creating market acceptance for Scio diamond which included lab-grown gemstone diamond, the more competition can be expected to 
increase. Increased competition could result in a decrease in the price charged by the Company for our diamond or reduce demand for our 
diamond, which would have a material adverse effect on our business, operating results and financial condition. Further, our current and 
potential competitors may have significantly greater financial, technical, manufacturing and marketing resources and greater access to 
distribution channels than the Company. There can be no assurance that we will be able to compete successfully with existing or potential 
competitors.  
   

Widespread consumer acceptance of lab-grown diamond gemstones is still developing. At this time, the Company is aware that it may 
be competing with companies that produce lab-grown diamond for industrial and gemstone markets, including Pure Grown Diamond/IIa 
Technologies, Washington Group, D’Nea, Element Six, and Sumitomo. We believe that as lab-grown diamond continues to gain widespread 
commercial and consumer acceptance, the more competition can be expected to increase. Increased competition could result in a decrease in the 
price expected to be charged by the Company for our diamond or reduce demand for our diamond, which would have a material adverse effect 
on our business, operating results and financial condition.  
   

Our potential competitors in the gemstone diamond industry may have significantly greater financial, technical, manufacturing and 
marketing resources and greater access to distribution channels than the Company. Our competitors will likely include large multi-national 
gemstone diamond companies as well as numerous start-up and development-stage gemstone diamond and technology companies, some of 
whom we may not be aware. We expect intense competition as we execute our business plan. It is believed that some of our existing and 
potential competitors, as well as potential entrants into our market, have longer operating histories, larger user bases, greater brand recognition 
and significantly greater financial, marketing and other resources than the Company. Many of these potential competitors may be able to devote 
substantially greater resources to promotion and systems development than we can. Barriers to developing competitive technology in our market 
may not be sufficient and current and competitors may be able to develop competing diamonds at a relatively low cost. Accordingly, we believe 
that our success will depend heavily upon achieving significant market acceptance before our potential competitors introduce competing 
products. There can be no assurance that we will be able to compete successfully with potential competitors.  
   
Rapid technological change will affect our business.  
   

Rapidly changing technology, industry standards, evolving consumer demands and frequent new product introductions are expected to 
define our market. Our market’s early stage of development may exacerbate these characteristics. Our future success will depend in significant 
part on our ability to continuously improve the quality of lab-grown diamond and our production capabilities in response to both the evolving 
demands of the market and competitive product offerings. Efforts in these areas may not be successful.  
   
We expect to have limited protection of our intellectual property and proprietary rights.  
   

We regard the patents, trade secrets and similar intellectual property acquired via the Asset Purchase as critical to our success. We must 
rely on patent law, trade secret protection and confidentiality agreements with our employees, customers, strategic partners, advisors and others 
to protect those proprietary rights. Such measures, however, afford only limited protection, and we may not be able to maintain the propriety 
and/or confidentiality of the Diamond Technology. Despite these precautions, unauthorized third parties might use information that we regard as 
proprietary to compete or help others to compete with us. There is no assurance that any of the existing patent applications or future patent 
applications, if made, will be granted, or, if granted, will not be invalidated or circumvented, or that the rights granted there under will provide us 
with a competitive advantage. Any misappropriation of our proprietary information by third parties could materially adversely affect our 
business. There can be no assurance that any other patents issued will provide any significant commercial protection to the Company, that the 
Company will have sufficient resources to prosecute its patents or that any patents will be upheld by a court should the Company seek to enforce 
its respective rights against an infringer.  
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There can be no assurances that:  

   

   
Furthermore, there can be no assurances that others have not developed or will not develop diamond which may duplicate any of the 

diamond produced using the Diamond Technology or our expected manufacturing processes, or those others will not design around any of the 
Company’s patents. The existence of valid patents does not provide absolute prevention from other companies independently developing 
competing technologies. Existing producers of laboratory-created diamond may refine existing processes for growing diamond or develop new 
technologies for growing diamond in a manner that does not infringe any intellectual property rights of the Company.  
   

Other parties may independently develop or otherwise acquire substantially equivalent techniques, gain access to our acquired 
proprietary technology or disclose such technology. In addition, whether or not we obtain additional patents, others may hold or receive patents 
covering components of diamond we independently develop in the future. There can be no assurances that third parties will not claim 
infringement by us, and seek substantial damages, with respect to current or future diamond-related activities. If we were to become involved in 
a dispute regarding intellectual property, whether ours or that of another company, we may become involved in material legal proceedings. Any 
such claims, with or without merit, could be time-consuming, result in costly litigation, cause product shipment delays and require us to:  
   

   
There can be no assurances that we would be able to obtain royalty or licensing agreements, if required, on terms acceptable to us or at 

all, or that we would be able to develop commercially acceptable non-infringing alternative diamond. The failure to do so could have a material 
adverse effect upon our business, financial condition, operating results and cash flows. We cannot be absolutely certain that the Diamond 
Technology does not infringe issued patents or other intellectual property rights of others. In addition, because patent applications in the United 
States are not publicly disclosed until the patent is issued, applications may have been filed which relate to the Diamond Technology.  
   

There can be no assurance that our business and ability to produce diamond will not be impaired by claims that we are infringing upon 
the intellectual property of others. We may be subject to future legal proceedings and claims from time to time in the ordinary course of our 
business, including claims of alleged infringement of the trademarks and other intellectual property rights of third parties. Intellectual property 
litigation is expensive and time-consuming and could divert the Company’s management’s attention from diamond production and operating our 
business. As a result of the foregoing, the limited protection of our acquired intellectual property rights and proprietary information could have a 
material adverse effect on the Company’s business, operating results and financial condition.  
   
Substantial governmental regulation may restrict our ability to sell our lab-grown diamond.  
   

Certain federal and state laws and regulations govern the testing, creation and sale of the types of diamond we intend to produce. The 
United States Federal Trade Commission (“FTC”) and other comparable regulatory authorities here and in foreign countries may extensively and 
rigorously regulate our Scio Diamond Materials, product development activities and manufacturing processes. In the United States, the FTC 
regulates the introduction and labeling of gemstone diamond. We may be required to:  
   

   

• The scope of any patent protection will be effective to exclude competitors or provide competitive advantages to us; 
• We will be able to commercially exploit any issued patents before they expire; 
• Any of the patents held will be held valid if subsequently challenged; 
• Others will not claim rights in or ownership of, the patents and other proprietary rights acquired or produced by the Company; 
• Our diamond will not infringe, or be alleged to infringe, the proprietary rights of others; or 
• We will be able to protect meaningful rights in proprietary technology over which the party does not hold patents. 

• Cease manufacturing and selling the product in question, which could seriously harm us; 
• Enter into royalty or licensing agreements; or 
• Design commercially acceptable non-infringing alternative diamond. 

• Obtain clearance before we can market and sell our lab-grown diamond gemstones; 
• Satisfy content requirements applicable to our labeling, sales and promotional materials; 
• Comply with manufacturing and reporting requirements; and 
• Undergo rigorous inspections. 
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The process of obtaining marketing clearance for new gemstone diamond from the FTC may prove costly and time consuming. The 

FTC has neither approved nor prohibited the use of the term “cultured” to describe the diamond the Company intends to sell as gemstones. 
However, in December 2006, the Jewelers’ Vigilance Committee submitted the Petition a petition (the “Petition”) to the FTC seeking 
amendment to the Guides for the Jewelry, Precious Metals, and Pewter Industries, 16 C.F.R. Part 23 (“Guides”) to include the term “cultured” as 
a proscribed term to describe laboratory-created diamond. By opinion, dated July 21, 2008, the FTC denied the Petition finding it did not 
demonstrate that the use of the term “cultured” to describe laboratory-created diamonds, when qualified by one of the terms provided in the 
Guides, is deceptive or unfair and declined to amend the Guides as requested by the Petition. The Company has not procured FTC clearance, and 
the FTC has not precluded the Company from selling diamond produced using the Diamond Technology. Despite its knowledge of the existing 
limited sales of lab-grown diamond gemstones and however unlikely, there can be no assurances that the FTC will not preclude the Company, or 
others similarly situated from marketing and selling lab-grown diamond gemstones.  
   

The FTC has the power to restrict the offer and sale of diamond that could deceive or have the tendency or effect of misleading or 
deceiving purchasers or prospective purchasers with regard to the type, kind, quality, character, value, origin or other characteristics of a 
diamond gemstone. Under current guidelines issued by the FTC, the Company is permitted to market its diamond gemstones as “Scio-created,” 
“lab-created diamond”, “laboratory created diamond,” “laboratory grown diamond” or “cultured” so long as that term is accompanied by any of 
the foregoing and such designations may inhibit marketing descriptions that are more favorable to creating consumer demand. We may come 
under close scrutiny by governmental agencies and industry testing organizations and also by competitors in the gemstone industry, any of which 
may challenge our promotion and marketing of our lab-grown diamond. If our production or marketing is challenged by governmental agencies 
or competitors, or if regulations are issued that restrict our ability to produce and market our lab-grown diamond as “lab-grown diamond”, “lab-
created diamond”, or otherwise as a mined diamond alternative, our business, operating results and financial condition could be materially 
adversely affected.  
   

It is likely that our Scio Diamond Materials must also comply with similar laws and regulations of foreign countries in which we market 
such diamond. In general, the extent and complexity of diamond disclosure regulation is increasing worldwide. This trend may continue, and the 
cost and time required to obtain marketing clearance in any given country may increase as a result. Should it prove necessary, there can be no 
assurances that our Scio Diamond Materials will obtain any necessary foreign clearances on a timely basis, or at all. Our inability to satisfy 
specific requirements for approval by domestic and/or foreign regulatory agencies could materially adversely affect our ability to bring diamond 
to market and generate revenue.  
   

Federal, state, local and foreign laws and regulations (especially those regarding approval of gemstone diamond) are always subject to 
change and could have a material adverse effect on the testing and sale of our diamond and, therefore, our business.  
   
Regulatory authorities may limit our business in the future.  
   

We will be subject to extensive regulatory requirements. Government authorities can withdraw marketing clearance due to our failure to 
comply with regulatory standards or due to the occurrence of unforeseen problems following initial clearance. Ongoing regulatory requirements 
are wide-ranging and govern, among other things:  
   

   
We expect that various government agencies may inspect our facilities from time to time to determine whether we are in compliance 

with applicable laws and regulations. Additionally, if we fail to comply or maintain compliance with laws and regulations pertaining to diamond 
gemstones, regulatory authorities may fine us and bar us from selling our lab-grown diamond gemstones. If a regulatory agency believes we are 
not in compliance with such laws or regulations, it may be able to:  
   

   

• Product manufacturing; 
• Annual inspections related to ISO certification of our quality system; 
• Supplier substitution; 
• Product changes; 
• Process modifications; 
• The process of assuring origin of mine and/or production of diamond; 
• Lab-grown diamond gemstone reporting and disclosure; and 
• Product sales and distribution. 

• Seize our lab-grown diamond gemstones; 
• Require a recall; 
• Withdraw previously granted market clearances; 
• Implement procedures to stop future violations; and/or 
• Seek civil and criminal penalties against us. 

17 

 



  
Risks Related to an Investment in our Common Stock  
   
An investment in the Company involves a high degree of risk.  
   

An investment in the Company is speculative and involves a high degree of risk, including the loss of an investor’s entire investment in 
the Company. There is no guaranteed rate of return on an investor’s investment in the Company, and there is no assurance that investors will be 
able to resell their shares for the amount they paid for such shares or for any other amount. Investors should not invest in the Company unless 
such investors can afford to lose their entire investment.  
   
Recent settlement agreement resulted in restructured Board of Directors and shareholder voting agreement that results in our directors and 
officers controlling a large percentage of the Company’s stock.  
   
                On June 23, 2014, the Company entered into a settlement agreement (the “Settlement Agreement”)  by and among Edward S. Adams, 
Michael R. Monahan, Gerald McGuire, James Korn, Bruce Likly, Theodorus Strous, and Robert C. Linares, their present and past affiliates, such 
as Apollo Diamond, Inc., Apollo Diamond Gemstone Corporation, Adams Monahan LLP, Focus Capital Group, Inc. and Oak Ridge Financial 
Services Group, Inc., family members and spouses (the “Adams Group”), and Thomas P. Hartness, Kristoffer Mack, Paul Rapello, Glen R. 
Bailey, Marsha C. Bailey, Kenneth L. Smith, Bernard M. McPheely, James Carroll, Robert M. Daisley, Ben Wolkowitz, Craig Brown, Ronnie 
Kobrovsky, Lewis Smoak, Brian McPheely, Mark P. Sennott, the Sennott Family Charitable Trust, and their affiliates (the “Save Scio Group”),  
pursuant to which the Company and the Save Scio Group settled the previously pending consent contest for the election of directors. Pursuant to 
the Settlement Agreement, on June 23, 2014, Messrs. Adams, Strous, Linares and McGuire resigned as directors effective immediately; the 
Board expanded the size of the Board to 7 directors and appointed Messrs. McPheely, Wolkowitz, Smoak and Leaverton (the “Save Scio 
Nominees”) to fill all but one of the resulting vacancies. In addition, the Company agreed to nominate each of Messrs. Korn and Likly (the 
“Adams Group Nominees”) and the Save Scio Nominees for election to the Board at the Company’s 2014 annual meeting of stockholders. 
Pursuant to the Settlement Agreement, the Adams Group and the Save Scio Group must vote their shares of Common Stock for the other’s 
nominees for the next three years, and will also have replacement rights in the event these nominees are unable to serve as directors.  
   
                As of June 23, 2015, the Company had 57,516,499 shares of common stock outstanding.  As of the date of the Settlement Agreement, 
the total number of shares subject to the voting agreements related to the settlement agreement is 17,492,928 or approximately 30% of the 
outstanding shares.  Therefore, the Save Scio Group and the Adams Group collectively have considerable influence to:  
   

   
The limited ability of other stockholders to exercise control over the Company may adversely affect the future market price for our 

securities and the rights of our stockholders.  
   
Provisions in our Articles of Incorporation and bylaws or Nevada law might discourage, delay or prevent a change of control of us or 
changes in our management and, therefore, depress the trading price of the common stock.  
   

Nevada corporate law and our Articles of Incorporation and Bylaws contain other provisions that could discourage, delay or prevent a 
change in control of our Company or changes in its management that our stockholders may deem advantageous. These include provisions that:  
   

   
   

• Elect or defeat the election of our directors; 
• Amend or prevent amendment of our Articles of Incorporation or Bylaws; 
• Effect or prevent a merger, sale of assets or other corporate transaction; and 
• Determine the outcome of any other matter submitted to the stockholders for vote. 

• Deny holders of our common stock cumulative voting rights in the election of directors, meaning that stockholders owning a 
majority of our outstanding shares of common stock will be able to elect all of our directors; 

• Require any stockholder wishing to properly bring a matter before a meeting of stockholders to comply with specified procedural 
and advance notice requirements; and 

• Allow any vacancy on the Board of Directors, however the vacancy occurs, to be filled by the directors. 
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There is a limited active public market for any of our securities, which are not listed on any stock exchange, and transfer of our securities is 
restricted.  
   

There is presently a limited active public market for our securities, and there can be no assurance that a trading market will continue to 
develop or, if developed, that it will be maintained. Our common stock is not listed on any stock exchange and it is currently quoted on the OTC 
Bulletin Board and OTC PINK marketplace under the ticker “SCIO”. We believe that we currently may not have enough stockholders or 
outstanding shares to support an active trading market, even if our common stock were listed on a recognized trading exchange.  There can be no 
assurance that our investors will be able to resell any of our securities at any price. The Company makes no representation to investors regarding 
the value of its securities, and, particularly in light of the thin trading in the Company’s securities; trading prices may or may not reasonably 
reflect the intrinsic value, if any, of the Company’s securities.  
   

We have been deemed to be a former shell company in accordance with the Securities Act. As a result, our shares of common stock 
may not be resold under Rule 144 of the Securities Act except pursuant to Rule 144(i). Resales under Rule 144(i) generally require, that, in 
addition to the normal Rule 144 requirements and limitations: (1) we are subject to the reporting requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 
1934 (the “Exchange Act”); (2) we have filed all Exchange Act reports required for the past 12 months; and (3) a minimum of one year has 
elapsed since we filed current Form 10 information on Form 8-K changing our status from a shell company to a non-shell company. An 
investment in the Company should be considered a long-term, illiquid investment, and investors should be able to withstand a complete loss of 
their investment.  
   

Our Bylaws specifically provide that we shall not be required to effectuate the transfer of any shares of our common stock without first 
receiving from the transferring stockholder (i) an opinion of counsel satisfactory to the Company that a proposed transfer may be made lawfully 
without the registration of such shares pursuant to the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the “Securities Act”), and applicable state securities 
laws, or (ii) evidence that the shares proposed to be transferred have been registered under the Securities Act. The existence of the foregoing 
restrictions may, therefore, adversely affect the future market price for our securities and the rights of our stockholders.  
   

Future stock issuances could severely dilute our current shareholders’ interests.  
   

The future issuance of common stock may result in dilution in the percentage of our common stock held by our existing shareholders.  
Also, any stock we sell in the future may be valued on an arbitrary basis by us and the issuance of shares of common stock or preferred stock for 
future services, acquisitions or other corporate actions may have the effect of diluting the value of the shares held by our existing shareholders.  
   
                In addition, it is the Company’s current intention (depending on the development of the business plan and other factors) to raise 
substantial additional capital during the fiscal year ending March 31, 2015, which we expect to result in substantial dilution in the percentage of 
our common stock held by our existing shareholders.  
   
Any additional funding we arrange through the sale of our common stock will result in dilution to existing stockholders’ voting power and 
may result in dilution to the book value per share held by existing stockholders.  
   

We must raise additional capital in order for our business plan to succeed. A likely source of additional capital will be through the sale 
of additional shares of common stock. Such stock issuances would cause stockholders’ voting interests in our Company to be diluted and may 
cause the book value per share held by existing stockholders to be diluted. Such dilution could negatively affect the value of investors’ shares.  
   
We do not expect to pay cash dividends in the foreseeable future.  
   

We are not obligated to pay dividends with respect to our capital stock, and we do not anticipate the payment of cash dividends on our 
capital stock in the foreseeable future. Any decision to pay dividends will depend upon our profitability at the time, cash available, and other 
factors; however, it is currently anticipated that any future profits received from operations will be retained for operations. Therefore, no 
assurance can be given that there will ever be any such cash dividend or distribution in the future. Accordingly, investors must rely on sales of 
their capital stock after price appreciation, which may never occur, or a sale of our Company or other similar transaction as the only way to 
realize a gain on their investment.  
   
If we do not obtain additional financing, our business may fail.  
   

We anticipate that additional funding will be needed for general administrative expenses, operating costs and marketing costs. There is 
no guarantee that we will be able to raise the required cash and because of this our business may fail. We have generated limited revenues from 
operations to date. The specific cost requirements needed to maintain operations depends upon the production we are able to generate. If we are 
not able to raise the capital necessary to fund our business objectives, we may have to delay the implementation of our business plan. Obtaining 
additional funding will be subject to a number of factors, including general market conditions, investor acceptance of our business plan and 
initial results from our business operations. These factors may impact the timing, amount, terms or conditions of additional financing available to 
us. The most likely source of future funds available to us is through the sale of additional shares of common stock. There is no guarantee that we 
will be able to raise the funds required by the Company and, if we are not able to raise such funds, then our business may fail.  
   
   

19 

 



   
   
Because our continuation as a going concern is in doubt, we may be forced to cease business operations unless we can generate profitable 
operations in the future.  
   

We will be incurring losses until we build a break-even level of revenue. Further losses are anticipated in the development of our 
business. As a result, there is substantial doubt about our ability to continue as a going concern. Our ability to continue as a going concern is 
dependent upon our ability to generate profitable operations in the future and/or to obtain the necessary financing to meet our obligations and 
repay our liabilities arising from normal business operations when they come due. We will require additional funds in order to provide proper 
service to our potential clients. At this time, we cannot assure investors that we will be able to obtain financing. If we are unable to raise needed 
financing, we may have to delay or abandon further operations. If we cannot raise financing to meet our obligations, we will be insolvent and 
may be forced to cease our business operations.  

   
If an active trading market for our common stock does not sufficiently develop, stockholders may be unable to sell their shares.  
   

There is currently a limited trading market for our common stock and we can provide no assurance that a significant market will 
develop. Our common stock currently trades on the OTC Bulletin Board and the OTC PINK marketplace.  We may decide to apply for listing of 
our common stock on a U.S. and/or foreign exchange. However, we can provide no assurances that we will apply or that our common stock 
would be accepted for listing on any stock exchange. Accordingly, we can provide investors with no assurance that our shares will be traded on a 
U.S. and/or foreign exchange or, if traded, that a significant active public trading market will materialize. If no active trading market is ever 
developed for our shares, it will be difficult for stockholders to sell their shares.  
   
Our shares of common stock are subject to the “penny stock” rules of the SEC and the trading market in our securities will be limited, which 
will make transactions in our stock cumbersome and may reduce the value of an investment in our stock.  
   

The SEC has adopted rules that regulate broker-dealer practices in connection with transactions in “penny stocks.” Penny stocks 
generally are equity securities with a price of less than $5.00 (other than securities registered on certain national securities exchanges or quoted 
on the NASDAQ system, provided that current price and volume information with respect to transactions in such securities is provided by the 
exchange or system). Penny stock rules require a broker-dealer, prior to a transaction in a penny stock not otherwise exempt from those rules, to 
deliver a standardized risk disclosure document prepared by the SEC, which specifies information about penny stocks and the nature and 
significance of risks of the penny stock market. A broker-dealer must also provide the customer with bid and offer quotations for the penny 
stock, the compensation of the broker-dealer, and sales person in the transaction, and monthly account statements indicating the market value of 
each penny stock held in the customer’s account. In addition, the penny stock rules require that, prior to a transaction in a penny stock not 
otherwise exempt from those rules; the broker-dealer must make a special written determination that the penny stock is a suitable investment for 
the purchaser and receive the purchaser’s written agreement to the transaction. These disclosure requirements may have the effect of reducing 
the trading activity in the secondary market for stock that becomes subject to those penny stock rules. If a trading market for our common stock 
develops, our common stock will probably become subject to the penny stock rules, and stockholders may have difficulty in selling their shares.  
   
Significant deficiencies in our disclosure controls and procedures or our failure to remediate such deficiencies could result in a material 
misstatement in our financial statements not being prevented or detected and could affect investor confidence in the accuracy and 
completeness of our financial statements, as well as our common stock price.  
   

We have identified significant deficiencies in our disclosure controls and procedures, including a lack of sufficient internal accounting 
resources, necessary to ensure that adequate review of our financial statements and notes thereto is performed, and have concluded that our 
internal control over financial reporting was not effective as of March 31, 2015. These significant deficiencies and our remediation plans are 
described further in Item 9A. Deficiencies in our disclosure controls and procedures could result in material misstatements in our financial 
statements not being prevented or detected. We may experience difficulties or delays in completing remediation or may not be able to 
successfully remediate significant deficiencies at all. Any material deficiency or unsuccessful remediation could affect our ability to file periodic 
reports on a timely basis and investor confidence in the accuracy and completeness of our financial statements, which in turn could harm our 
business and have an adverse effect on our stock price and our ability to raise additional funds.  

   
ITEM 1B.  UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS.  
   

Disclosure under this item is not applicable because the Company is a smaller reporting company.  
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ITEM 2.  PROPERTIES.  
   

Our corporate headquarters and production facility are located at 411 University Ridge, Greenville, South Carolina.  The production 
facility includes approximately 3,200 square feet adjoining our headquarters office, and the facility overall has 9,470 square feet of space. We 
have five years remaining on the lease for this facility.    
   

Annual rental payments for the next five fiscal years for these facilities are as follows:  
   

   
ITEM 3.  LEGAL PROCEEDINGS.  
   

We are subject, from time to time, to various claims, lawsuits or actions that arise i n the ordinary course of business.   As of March 31, 
2015 there were no material outstanding claims by the Company or against the Company.  
   

In May 2014, the Company received a subpoena issued by the SEC ordering the provision of documents and related information 
concerning various corporate transactions between the Company and its predecessors and other persons and entities.  The Company is fully 
cooperating with this ongoing inquiry.  
   
ITEM 4.  MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURES.  
   

Not applicable.  
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2016     $ 224,410     
2017        224,410     
2018        224,410     
2019        224,410     
2020        —     

2021 and thereafter     $ —     



   
PART II  
   
ITEM 5.  MARKET FOR COMMON EQUITY, RELATED STOCKHOL DER MATTERS, AND ISSUER PURCHASES OF EQUITY 
SECURITIES  
   
Market Information  
   

Our common stock is currently quoted on the OTC Bulletin Board and OTC PINK marketplace under the ticker “SCIO”. Because we 
are quoted on the OTC Bulletin Board, our common stock is less liquid, may receive less coverage by security analysts and news media, and 
generate lower prices than might otherwise be obtained if it were listed on a national securities exchange. The OTC Bulletin Board prices are 
quotations, which reflect inter-dealer prices without retail mark-up, mark-down, or commissions and may not represent actual transactions.  
   

The following table sets forth the quarterly high and low bid prices for our common stock for the fiscal years ending March 31, 2014 
and 2015, as reported by the OTC Bulletin Board. These quotations reflect inter-dealer prices, without retail mark-up, markdown, or 
commission, and may not represent actual transactions.  
   

   

   
As of June 23, 2015, there were 57,516,499 shares of common stock outstanding held by approximately 790 stockholders of record.  

   
Dividends  
   

We have not declared or paid any cash dividends on our common stock since our inception, and we do not intend to declare cash 
dividends for the foreseeable future. Any decision to pay dividends will depend upon our profitability at the time, cash available, and other 
factors; however, it is currently anticipated that any future profits received from operations will be retained for operations.  
   
Recent Sales of Unregistered Securities  
   

Unless otherwise indicated, the issuances of our securities listed below were made in reliance on an exemption from registration under 
Section 4(a)(2) of the Securities Act, as we reasonably believed that the investors were sophisticated, that no general solicitations were involved 
and the transactions did not otherwise involve a public offering.  
   

At the request of the then Board of Directors, the Company entered into an agreement, effective April 12, 2014, with Mr. Joseph 
Cunningham to provide consulting services to the Company.  Under this agreement, the Company agreed to provide Mr. Cunningham $4,000 
and 20,000 shares of common stock per month in exchange for his professional services to the Company.  This contract expired in August 2014.  
During the fiscal year ended March 31, 2015, the Company issued 80,000 shares to Mr. Cunningham.  These shares were valued at an average of 
$0.43 per share based on the closing prices of the shares on the dates of grant and the Company recognized $34,200 in professional and 
consulting fee expense for these shares during the fiscal year ended March 31, 2015.  
   

On June 20, 2014, the then Board of Directors granted restricted stock grants to Mr. Michael Laub of 50,000 shares for previously 
performed services rendered to the Company.  While the Company did not recognize expense for this restricted stock grant since it was in 
exchange for expenses previously accrued by the Company, the shares provided Mr. Laub were valued at $0.24 per share.  
   

On July 15, 2014, the Board of Directors approved the issuance and sale of up to 2,000,000 shares of common stock to accredited 
investors at a price of $0.30.  On September 25, 2014, the Board agreed to increase the size of the offering up to 6,666,667 shares to raise up to 
$2,000,000.  The Company completed the offering on December 23, 2014 and issued 6,666,664 shares of common stock, at a price of $0.30 per 
share, for total cash proceeds of $2,000,000.  
   
   

22 

 

Fiscal Year Ended March 31, 2014    High    Low    
First Fiscal Quarter     $ 1.00     $ 0.31     
Second Fiscal Quarter        0.54        0.15     
Third Fiscal Quarter        0.51        0.26     
Fourth Fiscal Quarter        0.40        0.15     

Fiscal Year Ended March 31, 2015       High       Low    
First Fiscal Quarter     $ 0.75     $ 0.22     
Second Fiscal Quarter        0.55        0.32     
Third Fiscal Quarter        0.97        0.28     
Fourth Fiscal Quarter        1.42        0.80     



   
   

On October 30, 2014, the Board of Directors approved the issuance of 50,000 shares to Bradley Robb to settle $15,000 of liabilities for 
services rendered to the Company.  Also on this date, the Board approved the issuance of 95,522 shares of stock to an affiliate of our landlord to 
settle $28,657 of outstanding rent liabilities.  The shares issued in each of these transactions were valued at $0.30 per share.  
   

On March 12, 2015, the Board of Directors approved the issuance of 333,333 shares to Neil Koppel to settle $100,000 of liabilities for 
inventory provided to the Company.  The shares issued in this transaction were valued at $0.30 per share, the closing price of our stock on the 
date the inventory was acquired.  
   
ITEM 6.  SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA.  
   

Not applicable.  
   
ITEM 7.  MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FI NANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS.  
   

You should read the following discussion in conjunction with the financial statements of the Company, and the notes to those 
statements, included elsewhere in this Form 10-K, as well as the rest of this Annual Report on Form 10-K. The statements in this discussion 
regarding outlook, our expectations regarding our future performance, liquidity and capital resources and other non-historical statements in 
this discussion are forward-looking statements. These forward-looking statements are subject to numerous risks and uncertainties, including, but 
not limited to, the risks and uncertainties described in the “Risk Factors” and “Cautionary Notice Regarding Forward Looking Statements” 
sections of this Annual Report on Form 10-K. Our actual results may differ materially from those contained in or implied by any forward- 
looking statements.  
   
GENERAL  
   
Corporate History  
   

We were incorporated on September 17, 2009 in the State of Nevada under the name Krossbow Holdings Corporation (“Krossbow”).  
Krossbow did not implement its original business plan and decided to acquire existing technology to seek to efficiently and effectively produce 
man-made diamond. In connection with this change in business purpose, Krossbow changed its name to Scio Diamond Technology Corporation 
to reflect its new business direction.  
   

On August 5, 2011, Edward S. Adams and Michael R. Monahan acquired control of the Company through the purchase of shares of the 
Company’s issued and outstanding common stock from Jason Kropp, Krossbow’s sole director and executive officer at that time.  
Messrs. Monahan and Adams served on the Company’s Board of Directors until their resignations form the Board on June 30, 2013, and June 
23, 2014, respectively.  Additionally, on August 5, 2011, the Company executed an Asset Purchase Agreement with another privately-held 
Nevada corporation that also had the name “Scio Diamond Technology Corporation” (“Private Scio”). Under the terms of the Asset Purchase 
Agreement, the Company purchased the name “Scio Diamond Technology Corporation” and acquired other rights from Private Scio for 
13,000,000 newly issued shares of common stock of the Company.   
   

On August 31, 2011, the Company acquired certain assets of ADI, consisting primarily of diamond growing machines and intellectual 
property related thereto, for which the Company paid ADI an aggregate of $2,000,000.  In connection with the ADI Asset Purchase, the 
Company also agreed to provide certain current and former stockholders of ADI qualifying as accredited investors the opportunity to acquire up 
to approximately 16 million shares of common stock of the Company for $0.01 per share.  
   

On June 5, 2012, the Company acquired substantially all of the assets of ADGC, consisting primarily of lab-grown diamond gemstone-
related know-how, inventory, and various intellectual property, in exchange for $100,000 in cash and the opportunity for certain current and 
former stockholders of ADGC qualifying as accredited investors to acquire up to approximately 1 million shares of common stock of the 
Company for $0.01 per share.   
   

 In December 2011, the Company began a build-out of its Greenville, South Carolina production facility. Construction was largely 
completed in March 2012 and equipment was moved from ADI’s former facility in Massachusetts to South Carolina over the first calendar 
quarter of 2012. The Company began initial production with ten diamond growing machines in July 2012.  Our initial production was focused on 
industrial cutting tool products supplied to a single customer.  Since March 2013, the Company has expanded its product focus to include 
gemstone diamond material.  

   
23 

 



  
On September 16, 2013, the Company entered into the Grace Rich Agreements to form a joint venture with operations in the People’s 

Republic of China to deploy at least 100 Scio designed diamond growing machines.  Under the Grace Rich Agreements, the Company has 
agreed to license its proprietary technology for the manufacture of diamond gemstones of agreed upon specifications.  In exchange for the 
license, the Company will receive licensing and development revenue and a 30% ownership position in the joint venture.  In addition to the 
licensed technology, the Grace Rich Agreements include obligations for the Company to provide and be compensated for technology consulting 
services to the joint venture to support the start-up of operations.  The Company is not required to make any on-going funding contributions to 
the joint venture and its ownership stake cannot be reduced from 30%.  
   
            On December 16, 2014, the Company entered into the Grower Sale-Lease Agreement with HGI.  Pursuant to the Grower Sale-Lease 
Agreement, the Company agreed to a sale-leaseback arrangement for certain diamond growers produced by the Company during the term of the 
Grower Sale-Leaseback Agreement by which the Company will sell diamond growers to HGI and then lease the growers back from HGI.  The 
direct profit margin generated from the growers will be split between the Company and HGI in accordance with the Grower Sale-Lease 
Agreement.  The Grower Sale-Lease Agreement requires the Company to operate and service the growers, and requires HGI to up-fit certain 
existing growers and to make capital improvements to the new growers under certain circumstances.  The Company will also have the right to 
repurchase the leased growers upon the occurrence of certain events.  
   
                On December 18, 2014 entered into an arrangement with Renaissance creating RCDC.   The Company and Renaissance are each 50% 
members of RCDC. The arrangement was entered into in order to facilitate the development of procedures and recipes for, and to market and 
sell, lab-grown fancy-colored diamonds.  RCDC will purchase rough diamond material from the Company and process and finish the material 
into finished gemstones for sale to various retailers and other participants in the market for gemstones.  Profits generated by RCDC's operations 
will be distributed between the Company and Renaissance according to the terms of the LLC Agreement.  
   
Business Overview  
   

The Company’s primary mission is the development of profitable and sustainable commercial production of its diamond materials, 
which are suitable for known, emerging and anticipated industrial, technology and consumer applications. The Company intends to pursue 
progressive development of its core diamond materials technologies and related intellectual property that the Company hopes will evolve into 
product opportunities across various applications. We believe these opportunities may be monetized though a combination of end product sales, 
joint ventures and licensing arrangements with third parties, and through continued development of intellectual property. Anticipated application 
opportunities for the Company’s diamond materials include the following: precision cutting devices, diamond gemstone jewelry, power 
switches, semiconductor processors, optoelectronics, geosciences, water purification, and MRI and other medical science technology.  
   

While the Company product offering continues to include industrial products, as of March 31, 2015 nearly all of the Company’s 
production capacity is being sold as gemstone materials.  As of March 31, 2015, we had generated $3,026,282 in net revenue since inception 
from sales of our diamond materials and licensing of our technology.  To date, over 50% of our product has been sold overseas and 100% of 
these sales have been to external customers and our joint venture partners as discussed in Item 8, Notes 10 and 11.  We expect continued 
development of an international market for our diamond materials.  
   

See Part I, Item 1. (Business) for additional information regarding our business.  
   
Significant Partner Agreements  
   

On September 16, 2013, the Company entered into the Grace Rich Agreements to form a joint venture with operations in the People’s 
Republic of China to deploy at least 100 Scio designed diamond growing machines.  Under the Grace Rich Agreements, the Company has 
agreed to license its proprietary technology for the manufacture of diamond gemstones of agreed upon specifications.  In exchange for the 
license, the Company will receive licensing and development revenue and a 30% ownership position in the joint venture.  In addition to the 
licensed technology, the Grace Rich Agreements include obligations for the Company to provide and be compensated for technology consulting 
services to the joint venture to support the start-up of operations.  The Company is not required to make any on-going funding contributions to 
the joint venture and its ownership stake cannot be reduced from 30%.  
   
                On December 16, 2014, the Company entered into the Grower Sale-Lease Agreement with HGI.  Pursuant to the Grower Sale-Lease 
Agreement, the Company agreed to a sale-leaseback arrangement for certain diamond growers produced by the Company during the term of the 
Grower Sale-Leaseback Agreement by which the Company will sell diamond growers to HGI and then lease the growers back from HGI.  The 
direct profit margin generated from the growers will be split between the Company and HGI in accordance with the Grower Sale-Lease 
Agreement.  The Grower Sale-Lease Agreement requires the Company to operate and service the growers, and requires HGI to up-fit certain 
existing growers and to make capital improvements to the new growers under certain circumstances.  The Company will also have the right to 
repurchase the leased growers upon the occurrence of certain events.  
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                On December 18, 2014 entered into an arrangement with Renaissance creating RCDC.   The Company and Renaissance are each 50% 
members of RCDC. The arrangement was entered into in order to facilitate the development of procedures and recipes for, and to market and 
sell, lab-grown fancy-colored diamonds.  RCDC will purchase rough diamond material from the Company and process and finish the material 
into finished gemstones for sale to various retailers and other participants in the market for gemstones.  Profits generated by RCDC's operations 
will be distributed between the Company and Renaissance according to the terms of the LLC Agreement.  
   
Critical Accounting Policies  
   

We have adopted various accounting policies that govern the application of accounting principles generally accepted in the United 
States (“GAAP”). We describe our significant accounting policies in the notes to our audited financial statements as of March 31, 2015.  
   

Some of the accounting policies involve significant judgments and assumptions by us that have a material impact on the carrying value 
of our assets and liabilities. We consider these accounting policies to be critical accounting policies. The judgment and assumptions we use are 
based on historical experience and other factors that we believe to be reasonable under the circumstances. Because of the nature of the judgments 
and assumptions we make, actual results could differ from these judgments and estimates and could materially affect the carrying values of our 
assets and liabilities and our results of operations.  
   

The following is a summary of the more significant judgmental estimates and complex accounting principles, which represent our 
critical accounting policies.  
   
Revenue Recognition  
   

We recognize product revenue when persuasive evidence of an arrangement exists, delivery of products has occurred, the sales price is 
fixed or determinable, and collectability is reasonably assured. For our Company, this generally means that we recognize revenue when we or 
our fabrication vendor has shipped finished product to the customer. Our sales terms do not allow for a right of return except for matters related 
to any manufacturing defects on our part.  
   

For product sales to our joint venture partners for further processing and finishing, we currently defer all revenues when products 
are shipped.  We currently recognize revenue when the joint venture partner sells the finished goods manufactured from our materials.  
Licensing and development revenues are recognized in the month as detailed in appropriate licensing and development contracts. In the 
event that licensing funds are received prior to the contractual commitment, The Company will recognize deferred revenue (liability) for the 
amount received.  
   
Inventories  
   
                Inventories are stated at the lower of average cost or market. The carrying value of inventory is reviewed and adjusted based upon slow 
moving and obsolete items. Inventory costs include material, labor, and manufacturing overhead and are determined by the “first-in, first-
out” (FIFO) method.  The components of inventories include raw materials and supplies, work in process and finished good.   
   
                The Company has periodically experienced selling prices that were lower than cost and as a result has recorded a lower of cost or 
market write down to the value of our inventory.  The estimation of the total write-down to inventory involves management judgments and 
assumptions, including assumptions regarding future selling price forecasts, the estimated costs to complete and disposal costs.  
   
Property, Plant and Equipment  
   

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment is on a straight-line basis beginning at the time it is placed in service, based on the 
following estimated useful lives:  
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      Years     
Machinery and equipment     3–15     
Furniture and fixtures     3–10     
Engineering equipment     5–12     



   
Leasehold improvements are depreciated at the lesser of the remaining term of the lease or the life of the asset (generally three to seven 

years).  
   

Expenditures for major renewals and betterments that extend the useful lives of property and equipment are capitalized. Expenditures 
for maintenance and repairs are charged to expense as incurred.  
   
Intangible Assets  
   

Intangible assets, such as acquired in-process research and development (“IPRD”) costs, are considered to have an indefinite useful life 
until such time as they are put into service at which time they will be amortized on a straight-line basis over the shorter of their economic or legal 
useful life. Management’s estimate of useful life of any patents when placed in service is a critical judgment. Management evaluates indefinite 
life intangible assets for impairment on an annual basis and on an interim basis if events or changes in circumstances between annual impairment 
tests indicate that the asset might be impaired. The ongoing evaluation for impairment of its indefinite life intangible assets requires significant 
management estimates and judgment. Management reviews definite life intangible assets for impairment whenever events or changes in 
circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of an asset may not be recoverable.  
   

A substantial portion of the Company’s patent portfolio is considered in service due to the inherent value of the patents to our on-going 
manufacturing operations. Through March 31, 2015, the Company has allocated $8,135,063 to patents that are being amortized over a period 
ranging from 6.75 years to 19.46 years corresponding to their remaining life.  
   

The Company continues to classify the remaining patent portfolio as IPRD and believes that the IPRD has alternative future use and 
value.  Applicable accounting guidance requires an indefinite life for IPRD assets until such time as the commercialization can be reasonably 
estimated, at which time the assets will be available for their intended use. At such time as those requirements are met, we believe that 
consideration of the legal life of the intellectual property protection should be of considerable importance in determining the useful life. Upon 
commercialization and determination of the useful life of the intellectual property assets, consideration will be given to the eventual expiration of 
the intellectual property rights underlying certain critical aspects of our manufacturing process.  
   
RESULTS OF OPERATIONS  
   
Fiscal Year Ended March 31, 2015 Compared to the Fiscal Year Ended March 31, 2014  
   

During the fiscal year ended March 31, 2015, we recorded net revenue of $726,193, compared to $1,418,341 in net revenue during the 
fiscal year ended March 31, 2014.   A portion of this decrease is due to the Company receiving $375,000 in licensing fees from the Grace Rich 
joint venture during the fiscal year ended March 31, 2015, while we received $625,000 in the prior period.  The Company does not anticipate 
receiving any additional licensing revenues from the Grace Rich joint venture until it is expected to be operational during calendar year 2016.  
Product revenues for the fiscal year ended March 31, 2015 were $351,193 versus $793,341 in the prior period.  The Company deferred $215,375 
in product revenues for sales to the RCDC joint venture during the fiscal year ended March 31, 2015.  The remaining reduction in revenue is due 
to reduced product sales and lower product prices during the fiscal year ended March 31, 2015.  
   

Cost of goods sold was $1,497,465 for the fiscal year ended March 31, 2015 versus $2,321,534 for the fiscal year ended March 31, 
2014.  The Company deferred costs related to deferred revenue from sales to the RCDC joint venture of $179,969 during the fiscal year ended 
March 31, 2015.  Cost of goods sold includes direct and indirect labor costs of $397,767 during the fiscal year ended March 31, 2015 and 
$577,200 during the fiscal year ended March 31, 2014.  Depreciation expense of $603,604 and $683,572 was recorded in cost of goods sold 
during the fiscal years ended March 31, 2015 and 2014, respectively.  The overall decrease in cost of goods sold was due to reduced product 
sales, increased deferred costs, reduced depreciation, and lower labor expenses included in cost of goods sold during the fiscal year ended March 
31, 2015 versus the year ended March 31, 2014.  
   
                We incurred a net amount of $566,154 in professional and consulting fees during the fiscal year ended March 31, 2015.  This amount 
includes reductions of $343,556 related to the reversal of expenses from the Settlement Agreement, and a reduction of $168,015 for payments 
made for legal fees from the prior fiscal year by our insurance carrier. Without these adjustments, professional and consulting fees were 
$1,077,725 compared to $1,272,212 for the fiscal year ended March 31, 2014.   This reduction of $194,487 is largely due to reduced legal fees.  
Salary and benefit expenses recognized as general and administrative expenses were $821,272 and $723,805 during the fiscal years ended March 
31, 2015 and 2014, respectively.  This increase of $97,467 is the result of the Company recognizing $305,077 in executive severance offset by 
reductions in compensation expense during the fiscal year ended March 31, 2015 versus the fiscal year ended March 31, 2014.   
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                The other components of our general and administrative expenses were relatively consistent between the fiscal year ended March 31, 
2015 and 2014.  Rent, equipment lease and facilities expenses were $145,252 and $150,502, respectively; marketing costs were $59,727 and 
$49,216, respectively; depreciation and amortization expenses were $798,477 and $799,928, respectively; and corporate general and 
administrative expenses were $345,263 and $379,552, respectively.  
   
                The Company reached an agreement with a former legal services provider that allowed the Company to settle outstanding past legal 
fees from prior fiscal years.  This settlement of $165,453 was recorded as forgiveness of legal accounts payable during the fiscal year ended 
March 31, 2015.  
   
                During the fiscal year ended March 31, 2015, management evaluated intangible assets included in IPRD and determined that certain 
projects will no longer be pursued for further development resulting in an impairment charge of $418,065 recognized during the period. There 
were no impairment charges during the fiscal year ended March 31, 2014.  
   

During the fiscal year ended March 31, 2015, the Company evaluated fixed assets acquired from ADI and disposed of obsolete 
equipment with a book value of $162,609 and assets held for sale of $20,000.  The Company made a similar evaluation in the fiscal year ending 
March 31, 2014 that resulted in a loss on disposal of fixed assets of $129,308 and an impairment of fixed assets charge of $381,798 during that 
fiscal year.  
   

We have continued to generate limited revenue to offset our expenses, and so we have incurred net losses.  Our net loss for fiscal year 
ended March 31, 2015 was $4,141,653, compared to a net loss of $4,950,953 during the fiscal year ended March 31, 2014.  Our net loss per 
share for the fiscal year ended March 31, 2015 was $(0.08) per share, compared to a net loss per share of $(0.10) for the fiscal year ended March 
31, 2014.  The weighted average number of shares outstanding was 53,025,462 and 49,548,045, for the fiscal years ended March 31, 2015 and 
2014, respectively.  
   
FINANCIAL CONDITION  
   

At March 31, 2015, we had total assets of $12,231,394 compared to total assets of $12,850,139 at March 31, 2014. This decrease in 
assets was primarily related to write downs and depreciation of fixed assets and impairment charges and amortization of intangibles, more than 
offsetting increases in current assets.   We had cash of $767,214 at March 31, 2015 compared to $47,987 at March 31, 2014.  This increase is 
due to the Company increasing its borrowings on its notes payable and proceeds from common stock sales.  At March 31, 2015 the Company’s 
accounts receivables had increased by $201,844 from March 31, 2014.  This increase is due to outstanding receivables from RCDC.  At March 
31, 2015, the Company had deferred $179,969 of contract costs related to deferred revenues from sales to the RCDC joint venture.  There we no 
deferred contract costs at March 31, 2014.  The increase in inventory of $142,943 was primarily due to higher finished goods inventory 
including gemstone materials of $70,664 and higher diamond seed material included in raw material and supplies of $22,847.  
   

Total liabilities at March 31, 2015 were $4,098,772 compared to total liabilities of $2,920,722 at March 31, 2014.  This increase is 
largely the result of the Company’s borrowings under our notes payable and deferred revenue from sales to RCDC during the year ended March 
31, 2015.  
   

The Company had positive working capital (defined as current assets less current liabilities) of $86,254 at March 31, 2015 versus 
$(2,402,369) at March 31, 2014.  The most substantial change in working capital was due to the Company’s refinancing of short-term notes 
payable into long-term notes payable.  This refinancing improved the working capital of the Company by $1,412,060.  Beyond this refinancing, 
the major reason for the improvement in working capital was the increase in borrowing on our long-term notes payable and our sale of common 
stock that provided the Company additional cash resources.  
   

Total shareholders’ equity was $8,132,622 at March 31, 2015, compared to $9,929,417 at March 31, 2014. Shareholders’ equity 
decreased during the year primarily due to continuing net losses increasing the Company’s accumulated deficit more than offsetting increase in 
additional paid in capital from our common stock offerings.  
   
CASH FLOWS  
   
Operating Activities  
   

The Company has not generated positive cash flows from operating activities. For the year ended March 31, 2015, net cash flows used 
in operating activities were $(2,131,217) compared to $(1,364,820) for the year ended March 31, 2014.  The net cash flow used in operating 
activities for the year ended March 31, 2015 consists primarily of a net loss of $(4,141,653) offset by depreciation and amortization of 
$1,476,916, loss on disposal of equipment of $182,609, loss on impairment of in-process research and development of $418,065, expenses for 
stock issued in exchange for services of $77,858, employee stock based compensation of $155,000, income of $(29,041) from joint venture, an 
increase in current assets of $(157,706) and a decrease in current and other liabilities of $(113,265).  
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Investing Activities  
   

For the year ended March 31, 2015, net cash flows used in investing activities were $(237,496), consisting primarily of the purchases of 
property, plant, and equipment.  Net cash flows used in investing activities were $(71,889) for the year ended March 31, 2014.  This increase is 
due to the Company’s purchases of fixed assets for the expansion of its production facility during the year ended March 31, 2015.   
   
Financing Activities  
   

We have financed our operations primarily through advancements or the issuance of equity and debt instruments. For the years ended 
March 31, 2015 and March 31, 2014, we generated $3,087,940 and $1,261,439 from financing activities, respectively.  The cash generated 
during the year ended March 31, 2015 was primarily from the sale of common stock and the net additional borrowings on the Company’s note 
payable facility.  
   
LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES  
   
                We expect that working capital requirements will continue to be funded through a combination of our existing funds, further issuances 
of securities, and future credit facilities or corporate borrowings. Our working capital requirements are expected to increase in line with the 
growth of our business.   
   
                As of March 31, 2015, our cash balance was $767,214.  This amount is not expected to be adequate to fund our operations over the 
next fiscal year ending March 31, 2016.  As of March 31, 2015, we had no additional lines of credit or other bank financing arrangements other 
than as described in Item 8, Note 3.  Generally, we have financed operations through March 31, 2015 through the proceeds of sales of our 
common stock and borrowings under our existing credit facilities.    The Company is pursuing additional issuances of equity capital to meet 
operating cash requirements.  
   

Additional issuances of equity or convertible debt securities will result in dilution to our current stockholders. Such securities might 
have rights, preferences or privileges senior to our common stock. Additional financing may not be available upon acceptable terms, or at all. If 
adequate funds are not available or are not available on acceptable terms, we may not be able to take advantage of prospective new business 
endeavors or opportunities, which could significantly and materially restrict our business operations and could result in the shutdown of 
operations.  
   
MATERIAL COMMITMENTS AND ARRANGEMENTS  
   

On September 16, 2013, the Company entered into the Grace Rich Agreements with SAAMABA, LLC and S21 Research Holdings to 
form a joint venture with operations in the People’s Republic of China to deploy Scio designed diamond growing machines.  Under the Grace 
Rich Agreements, the Company has agreed to license its proprietary technology for the manufacture of diamond gemstones of agreed upon 
specifications.  In exchange for the license, the Company received licensing and development revenue and a minority ownership position in the 
joint venture.  In addition to the licensed technology, the Grace Rich Agreements include obligations for the Company to provide and be 
compensated for technology consulting services to the joint venture to support the start-up of operations.  
   
                On December 16, 2014, the Company entered into an agreement for the sale and lease of growers with HGI.  Pursuant to the Grower 
Sale-Lease Agreement, the Company agreed to a sale-leaseback arrangement for certain diamond growers produced by the Company during the 
term of the Grower Sale-Leaseback Agreement by which the Company will sell diamond growers to HGI and then lease the growers back from 
HGI.  The direct profit margin generated from the growers will be split between the Company and HGI in accordance with the Grower Sale-
Lease Agreement.  The Grower Sale-Lease Agreement requires the Company to operate and service the growers, and requires HGI to up-fit 
certain existing growers and to make capital improvements to the new growers under certain circumstances.  The Company will also have the 
right to repurchase the leased growers upon the occurrence of certain events.  
   
                On December 18, 2014 entered into an arrangement with Renaissance creating RCDD.   The Company and Renaissance are each 50% 
members of RCDC. The arrangement was entered into in order to facilitate the development of procedures and recipes for, and to market and 
sell, lab-grown fancy-colored diamonds.  RCDC will purchase rough Diamond material from the Company and process and finish the material 
into finished gemstones for sale to various retailers and other participants in the market for gemstones.  Profits generated by RCDC's operations 
will be distributed between the Company and Renaissance according to the terms of the LLC Agreement.  
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OFF BALANCE SHEET ARRANGEMENTS  
   

As of the date of this Annual Report, we do not have any off-balance sheet arrangements that have or are reasonably likely to have a 
current or future effect on our financial condition, changes in financial condition, revenues or expenses, results of operations, liquidity, capital 
expenditures or capital resources that are material to investors.  
   
ITEM 7A.  QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK.  
   

Not required because the Company is a smaller reporting company.  
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ITEM 8.  FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DAT A.  
   
REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM  
   
To the Board of Directors and  
   
Shareholders of Scio Diamond Technology Corporation  
   
We have audited the accompanying balance sheets of Scio Diamond Technology Corporation (the “Company”) as of March 31, 2015 and 2014, 
and the related statements of operations, shareholders’ equity, and cash flows for the years then ended. The Company’s management is 
responsible for these financial statements. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits.  
   
We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those standards 
require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material 
misstatement. The Company is not required to have, nor were we engaged to perform, an audit of its internal control over financial reporting. 
Our audits included consideration of internal control over financial reporting as a basis for designing audit procedures that are appropriate in the 
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting. 
Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit also includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in 
the financial statements, assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the 
overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.  
   
In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of Scio Diamond 
Technology Corporation as of March 31, 2015 and 2014, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for the years then ended in 
conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.  
   
The accompanying financial statements have been prepared assuming that the Company will continue as a going concern. As discussed in Note 1 
to the financial statements, the Company has generated limited revenue, incurred net losses and incurred negative operating cash flows since 
inception and will require additional financing to fund the continued development of products. The availability of such financing cannot be 
assured. These conditions raise substantial doubt about its ability to continue as a going concern. Management’s plans regarding those matters 
also are described in Note 1. The financial statements do not include any adjustments that might result from the outcome of this uncertainty.  
   
/s/ Cherry Bekaert LLP  
   
Greenville, South Carolina  
   
June 29, 2015  
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SCIO DIAMOND TECHNOLOGY CORPORATION  

   
BALANCE SHEETS  

As of March 31, 2015 and 2014  
   

   
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.  
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     March 31,    March 31,    
     2015    2014    
                   

ASSETS                     
Current Assets:                     

Cash and cash equivalents     $ 767,214     $ 47,987     
Accounts receivable       243,929       42,085     
Other receivables       —       89,192     
Deferred contract costs       179,969       —     
Inventory       295,760       152,817     
Prepaid expenses       57,012       79,078     
Prepaid rent       23,050       23,050     

                      
Total current assets       1,566,934       434,209     

                      
Property, plant and equipment                     

Facility       904,813       899,499     
Manufacturing equipment       2,927,761       3,171,656     
Other equipment       71,059       71,059     
Construction in progress        207,252        —     

                        
Total property, plant and equipment       4,110,885       4,142,214     

Less accumulated depreciation        (1,543,652)       (1,029,212)    
Net property, plant and equipment       2,567,233       3,113,002     
                      
Intangible assets, net       8,047,948       9,240,640     
Prepaid rent, noncurrent       19,238       42,288     
Investment in joint venture – RCDC       30,041       —     
Other assets       —       20,000     
                      
TOTAL ASSETS     $ 12,231,394     $ 12,850,139     
                      
LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY                     
Current Liabilities:                     

Notes payable     $ —     $ 1,412,060     
Accounts payable       708,760       671,782     
Customer deposits       38,603       179,610     
Deferred revenue       215,375       —     
Accrued expenses       517,942       573,126     

                      
Total current liabilities       1,480,680       2,836,578     

                      
Notes payable, non-current       2,500,000       —     
Other liabilities       118,092       84,144     
                      
TOTAL LIABILITIES       4,098,772       2,920,722     
                      

Common stock, $0.001 par value, 75,000,000 shares authorized; 56,531,499 and 50,739,312 shares issued 
and outstanding at March 31, 2015 and 2014, respectively       56,532       50,739     

Additional paid-in capital       26,815,005       24,476,940     
Accumulated deficit        (18,738,915)       (14,597,262)    
Treasury stock, no and 1,000,000 shares at March 31, 2015 and 2014, respectively       —        (1,000)    

                      
Total stockholders’  equity       8,132,622       9,929,417     

                      
TOTAL LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS ’  EQUITY     $ 12,231,394     $ 12,850,139     





  
SCIO DIAMOND TECHNOLOGY CORPORATION  

   
STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS  

For the years ended March 31, 2015 and 2014  
   

   
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.  
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     Year Ended    Year Ended    
     March 31, 2015   March 31, 2014   

Revenue                  
Product revenue, net    $ 351,193    $ 793,341    
Licensing revenue       375,000       625,000    
                   
Revenues, net       726,193       1,418,341    

                   
Cost of goods sold                  

Cost of goods sold       1,497,465       2,321,534    
                   
Gross margin (deficit)       (771,272)      (903,193)   
                   
General and administrative expenses                  

Professional and consulting fees       566,154       1,272,212    
Salaries and benefits       821,272       723,805    
Rent, equipment lease and facilities expense       145,252       150,502    
Marketing costs       59,727       49,216    
Depreciation and amortization       798,477       799,928    
Corporate general and administrative       345,263       379,552    
Forgiveness of legal accounts payable       (165,453)      —    
Loss on impairment of in-process research and development       418,065       —    
Loss on disposal of equipment       182,609       129,308    
Loss on impairment of fixed assets       —       381,798    

                   
Total general and administrative expenses       3,171,366       3,886,321    

                   
Loss from operations       (3,942,638)      (4,789,514)   
                   
Other income (expense)                  

Income from joint venture – RCDC       29,041       —    
Interest expense       (228,056)      (161,439)   

                   
Net loss    $ (4,141,653)   $ (4,950,953)   
                   
Loss per share                  

Basic:                  
Weighted average number of shares outstanding       53,025,462       49,548,045    

Loss per share    $ (0.08)   $ (0.10)   
Fully diluted:                  

Weighted average number of shares outstanding       53,025,462       49,548,045    

Loss per share    $ (0.08)   $ (0.10)   



  
SCIO DIAMOND TECHNOLOGY CORPORATION  

   
STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOW  

For the years ended March 31, 2015 and 2014  
   

   
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.  

   
(continued)  
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     Year Ended    Year Ended    

     
March 31,  

2015    
March 31,  

2014    
                   

Cash flows from operating activities:                     
Net loss     $ (4,141,653)    $ (4,950,953)    
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash used in operating activities:                     

Depreciation and amortization       1,476,916       1,574,418     
Loss on disposal of equipment       182,609       129,308     
Loss on impairment of fixed assets        —       381,798     
Loss on impairment of in-process research and development       418,065        —     
Expense for stock and inventory issued in exchange for operating expenses       77,858       421,496     
Income from joint venture – RCDC        (29,041)       —     
Employee stock based compensation       155,000       193,150     
Inventory write down       68,722       100,557     

Changes in assets and liabilities:                     
Decrease in accounts receivable        13,531      26,957     
Decrease/(increase) in other receivables       89,192        (89,192)    
Decrease/(increase) in prepaid expenses, rent and other assets        (37,517)      44,260     
Decrease/(increase) in inventory        (291,634)      258,127     
Increase in accounts payable       36,978       386,131     
(Decrease)/increase in customer deposits        (141,007)      179,610     
Decrease in accrued expenses       (43,184)       (54,436)    
Increase in other liabilities       33,948       33,949     

                      
Net cash used in operating activities        (2,131,217)       (1,364,820)    
                      
Cash flows from investing activities:                     

Purchase of property, plant and equipment        (236,496)       (71,889)    
Investment in joint venture – RCDC        (1,000)       —     

                      
Net cash used in investing activities        (237,496)       (71,889)    
                      
Cash flows from financing activities:                     

Proceeds from sale of common stock - net of fees       2,000,000       129     
Proceeds from notes payable       2,653,615       1,412,060     
Finance charges paid on note payable        —        (150,750)    
Payments on notes payable        (1,565,675)       —     

                      
Net cash provided by financing activities       3,087,940       1,261,439     
                      

Change in cash and cash equivalents       719,227        (175,270)    
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of period       47,987       223,257     

                      
Cash and cash equivalents, end of period     $ 767,214     $ 47,987     



   
SCIO DIAMOND TECHNOLOGY CORPORATION  

 
STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOW  

For the years ended March 31, 2015 and 2014  
(Continued)  

   

   
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.  
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     Year Ended    Year Ended    
     March 31, 2015   March 31, 2014   
                   

Supplemental cash flow disclosures:                  
Cash paid during the year for:                  

Interest    $ 84,165    $ 18,874    

Income taxes    $ —    $ —    
                   
Non-cash investing and financing activities:                  

Payment of accounts payable and accrued expenses with common stock    $ 112,000    $ 81,761    

Manufacturing equipment transferred to assets held for sale    $ —    $ 20,000    



  
SCIO DIAMOND TECHNOLOGY CORPORATION  

   
STATEMENTS OF SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY  

For the years ended March 31, 2015 and 2014  
   

   
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.  
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                 Additional                              
     Common Stock    Paid in    Treasury Stock    Accumulated          
     Shares    Amount    Capital    Shares    Amount    Deficit    Total    
                                                  

Balance, April 1, 2013    47,736,812    $ 47,737    $ 23,789,478    (1,000,000)   $ (1,000)   $ (9,646,309)   $ 14,189,906    
                                                

Common stock issued in exchange for 
consulting services    1,002,500       1,002       318,198    —       —       —       319,200    

Common stock issued in exchange for 
past legal services    1,000,000       1,000       163,000    —       —       —       164,000    

Administrative fee received for previous 
stock issuance    —       —       129    —       —       —       129    

Common stock issued for indemnification 
of legal settlement    1,000,000       1,000       (1,000)   —       —       —       —    

Employee stock based compensation    —       —       193,150    —       —       —       193,150    
Warrants issued in exchange for 

consulting services    —       —       13,985    —       —       —       13,985    

Net loss for the fiscal year ended March 
31, 2014    —       —       —    —       —       (4,950,953)      (4,950,953)   

Balance, March 31, 2014    50,739,312       50,739       24,476,940    (1,000,000)      (1,000)      (14,597,262)      9,929,417    
                                                

Common stock issued in exchange for 
operating expenses and inventory    558,856      559      177,299    —      —      —      177,858    

Common stock issued in exchange for 
past consulting services    50,000      50      11,950    —      —      —      12,000    

Retirement of treasury stock    (1,000,000)      (1,000)      —    1,000,000      1,000      —      —    
Common stock issued for cash @ $0.30 

per share    6,666,664      6,667      1,993,333    —      —      —      2,000,000    

Common stock returned to Company and 
cancelled    (1,000,000)      (1,000)     1,000    —      —      —      —    

Employee stock based compensation    516,667      517      154,483    —      —      —      155,000    
Net loss for the fiscal year ended March 

31, 2015    —      —      —    —      —       (4,141,653)      (4,141,653)   

Balance, March 31, 2015    56,531,499    $ 56,532    $ 26,815,005    —    $ —    $ (18,738,915)   $ 8,132,622    



  
NOTE 1 — ORGANIZATION AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES  
   
Organization and Business  
   

Scio Diamond Technology Corporation (referred to herein as the “Company”, “we”, “us” or “our”) was incorporated under the laws of 
the State of Nevada as Krossbow Holding Corp. on September 17, 2009. The Company’s focus is on man-made diamond technology 
development and commercialization.  
   
Going Concern  

   
The Company has generated little revenue to date and consequently its operations are subject to all risks inherent in the establishment 

and commercial launch of a new business enterprise.  
   
These factors raise substantial doubt about the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. During the year ended March 31, 

2015, management has responded to these circumstances by taking the following actions:  
   

   
Accounting Basis  

   
The financial statements of the Company have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United 

States of America (“GAAP”).  
   
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect 

the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses, and the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities. On an ongoing basis, the 
Company evaluates its estimates, including those related to revenue recognition, provision for doubtful accounts, sales returns, provision for 
inventory obsolescence, fair value of acquired intangible assets, useful lives of intangible assets and property and equipment, employee stock 
options, and contingencies and litigation, among others. The Company generally bases its estimates on historical experience and on various other 
assumptions that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which form the basis for making judgments about the 
carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. Actual amounts recorded could differ materially from 
those estimates  

   
                In accordance with Accounting Standards Codification (“ASC”) 323, Investments—Equity Method and Joint Ventures , the Company 
uses the equity method of accounting for investments in corporate joint ventures for which the Company has the ability to exercise significant 
influence but does not control and is not the primary beneficiary. Significant influence typically exists if the Company has a 20 % to 50 % 
ownership interest in the venture unless predominant evidence to the contrary exists. Under this method of accounting, the Company records its 
proportionate share of the net earnings or losses of equity method investees and a corresponding increase or decrease to the investment balances. 
Cash payments to equity method investees such as additional investments, loans and advances and expenses incurred on behalf of investees, as 
well as payments from equity method investees such as dividends, distributions and repayments of loans and advances are recorded as 
adjustments to investment balances. When the Company’s carrying value in an equity method investee is reduced to zero, no further losses are 
recorded in the Company’s financial statements unless the Company guaranteed obligations of the equity method investee or has committed 
additional funding.   When the equity method investee subsequently reports income, the Company will not record its share of such income until 
it equals the amount of its share of losses not previously recognized.  The Company evaluates its equity method investments for impairment 
whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amounts of such investments may not be recoverable.  
   
Fair Value of Financial Instruments  
   

The  carrying  value  of  cash and cash equivalents,  accounts receivable, accounts  payable  and  notes  payable  approximate  their  fair  
value  due  to  the  short-term nature of  these instruments.    
   

•  Raised $ 2 million in equity investment in the Company in the form of private placements of common shares to accredited 
investors.  Funds have been used to fund current operations;  

•  Raised $ 2.5 million in investment in the Company in the form of secured debt.  Funds have been used to re-finance higher interest 
rate secured debt, the expansion of our operations and to fund current operations;  

•  Established a joint venture with Renaissance Diamonds, Inc. focused on the creation of recipes and procedures to develop, market, 
and sell lab-grown fancy-colored diamonds; and  

•  Enhanced efforts on expanding and optimizing production of existing manufacturing capabilities.  
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Cash and Cash Equivalents  
   

For purposes of the statement of cash flows, the Company considers highly liquid financial instruments purchased with an original 
maturity of three months or less when purchased to be cash equivalents.  At March 31, 2015 and 2014, the Company held no cash equivalents.  

   
Basic and Diluted Net Loss per Share  
   

Net loss per share is presented under two formats: basic net loss per common share, which is computed using the weighted average 
number of common shares outstanding during the period, and diluted net loss per common share, which is computed using the weighted average 
number of common shares outstanding, and the weighted average dilutive potential common shares outstanding, computed using the treasury 
stock method. Currently, for all periods presented, diluted net loss per share is the same as basic net loss per share as the inclusion of weighted 
average shares of common stock issuable upon the exercise of options and warrants would be anti-dilutive.  

   
The following table summarizes the number of securities outstanding at each of the periods presented, which were not included in the 

calculation of diluted net loss per share as their inclusion would be anti-dilutive:  
   

   
Allowance for Doubtful Accounts  
   

An allowance for uncollectible accounts receivable is maintained for estimated losses from customers’ failure to make payment on 
accounts receivable due to the Company. Management determines the estimate of the allowance for uncollectible accounts receivable by 
considering a number of factors, including: (1) historical experience, (2) aging of accounts receivable and (3) specific information obtained by 
the Company on the financial condition and the current credit worthiness of its customers. The Company also maintains a provision for 
estimated returns and allowances based upon historical experience.  The Company has determined that an allowance was not necessary at 
March 31, 2015 or 2014.  
   
Other Receivables  
   

As of March 31, 2014, the Company considered a pending insurance settlement over the actions of a Company supplier of $ 89,192 as 
an other receivable.  This settlement was paid during the fiscal year ended March 31, 2015.  
   
Inventories  
   

Inventories are stated at the lower of average cost or market. The carrying value of inventory is reviewed and adjusted based upon slow 
moving and obsolete items. Inventory costs include material, labor, and manufacturing overhead and are determined by the “first-in, first-
out” (FIFO) method.  The components of inventories are as follows:  
   

   
During the first fiscal quarter of the fiscal year ended March 31, 2015, we experienced selling prices that were lower than cost and as a 

result recorded a lower of cost or market write down of $ 68,722 to the value of our inventory which is included in cost of good sold.  During the 
fiscal year ended March 31, 2014, the Company recorded a lower of cost or market write down to inventory of $ 100,557 which is included in 
cost of goods sold.   The estimation of the total write-down to inventory involves management judgments and assumptions, including 
assumptions regarding future selling price forecasts, the estimated costs to complete and disposal costs.  
     
Property, Plant and Equipment  
   

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment is on a straight line basis beginning at the time it is placed in service, based on the 
following estimated useful lives:  
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     March 31,    
     2015    2014    

Common stock options and warrants     5,799,295     9,609,295    

     March 31,    March 31,    
     2015    2014    

Raw materials and supplies     $ 58,390     $ 35,543     
Work in process       31,371       25,611     
Finished goods       205,999       91,663     
      $ 295,760     $ 152,817     



   

   
Leasehold improvements which are included in facility fixed assets on the balance sheet are depreciated over the lesser of the remaining 

term of the lease or the life of the asset (generally three to seven years).  
   

Expenditures for major renewals and betterments that extend the useful lives of property and equipment are capitalized. Expenditures 
for maintenance and repairs are charged to expense as incurred. Manufacturing equipment was placed into service beginning July 1, 2012.  The 
Company incurred total depreciation expense of $ 619,656 and $ 700,690 for the years ended March 31, 2015 and 2014, respectively.  
   

During the fiscal year ended March 31, 2015, the Company disposed of assets held for sale of $ 20,000 and of fixed assets that were no 
longer necessary for the Company’s operations with a net book value of $ 162,609 .  During the fiscal year ended March 31, 2014, the Company 
closed its operations in Hudson, Massachusetts and recognized a loss of $ 129,308 for the disposal of certain fixed assets at the location.  
Concurrent with the closing of the Hudson facility, the Company re-evaluated the useful life of certain fixed assets acquired from ADI in 2012 
and decided that an impairment charge related to these assets of $ 381,798 was appropriate.  
   
Intangible Assets  
   

Intangible assets, such as acquired in-process research and development costs, are considered to have an indefinite useful life until such 
time as they are put into service at which time they will be amortized on a straight-line basis over the shorter of their economic or legal useful 
life. Management evaluates indefinite life intangible assets for impairment on an annual basis and on an interim basis if events or changes in 
circumstances between annual impairment tests indicate that the asset might be impaired. The ongoing evaluation for impairment of its indefinite 
life intangible assets requires significant management estimates and judgment. Management reviews definite life intangible assets for 
impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of an asset may not be recoverable. During the fiscal 
year ended March 31, 2015, management evaluated assets included in IPRD and determined that certain projects will no longer be pursued for 
further development resulting in an impairment charge of $ 418,065 being recognized during the fiscal year.   There were no impairment charges 
during the fiscal year ended March 31, 2014.  
   
Income Taxes  
   

Income taxes are accounted for under the asset and liability method. Deferred income taxes reflect the tax consequences on future years 
of differences between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their financial reporting amounts. Valuation allowances are provided against 
deferred tax assets when it is more likely than not that an asset will not be realized in accordance with ASC 740, Accounting for Income Taxes .  
   

Management has evaluated the potential impact in accounting for uncertainties in income taxes and has determined that it has no 
significant uncertain income tax positions as of March 31, 2015 or 2014.  Income tax returns subject to review by taxing authorities include 
March 31, 2010 through March 31, 2015.  
   
Stock-based Compensation  
   

Stock-based compensation for the value of stock options is estimated on the date of the grant using the Black-Scholes option-pricing 
model. The Black-Scholes model takes into account implied volatility in the price of the Company’s stock, the risk-free interest rate, the 
estimated life of the equity-based award, the closing market price of the Company’s stock on the grant date and the exercise price. The estimates 
utilized in the Black-Scholes calculation involve inherent uncertainties and the application of management judgment.  
   
Concentration of Credit Risk  
   

During the year ended March 31, 2015 the Company had 31 different customers and one customer accounted for more than 10% of our 
total revenues.  This customer was Grace Rich LTD, our joint venture partner that accounted for $ 385,801 of total revenue.  At the end of the 
fiscal year ended March 31, 2015, the Company was selling substantially all of its production to the RCDC joint venture and had a receivable 
from RCDC at March 31, 2015 of $ 241,950 .  The Company expects this concentration of sales to RCDC to continue in the future.     
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     Years    
Machinery and equipment    3–15    
Furniture and fixtures    3–10    
Engineering equipment    5–12    



Revenue Recognition  
   

We recognize product revenue when persuasive evidence of an arrangement exists, delivery of products has occurred, the sales price is 
fixed or determinable, and collectability is reasonably assured. For our Company, this generally means that we recognize revenue when we or 
our fabrication vendor has shipped finished product to the customer. Our sales terms do not allow for a right of return except for matters related 
to any manufacturing defects on our part.   
   

For product sales to our joint venture partners for further processing and finishing, we currently defer all revenues when products are 
shipped.  We currently recognize revenue when the joint venture partner sells the finished goods manufactured from our materials.  Licensing 
and development revenues are recognized in the month as detailed in appropriate licensing and development contracts. In the event that licensing 
funds are received prior to the contractual commitment, the Company will recognize deferred revenue (liability) for the amount received.  
   
Recent Accounting Pronouncements  
   

In July 2012, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) issued Accounting Standards Update (“ASU”) No. 2012-02, Testing 
Indefinite-Lived Intangible Assets for Impairment (the revised standard). Under the amendments in this updates, a company has the option first 
to assess qualitative factors to determine whether the existence of events and circumstances indicates that the it is more likely than not that the 
indefinite-lived intangible assert is impaired as a basis for determining whether it is necessary to perform the qualitative impairment test in 
accordance with Topic 350.  The more likely than not threshold is defined as having a likely-hood of more than fifty percent.  If after assessing 
the qualitative factors, a company determines it does not meet the more likely than not threshold, a company is required to perform the 
quantitative impairment test by calculating the fair value of an indefinite-lived intangible asset and comparing the fair value with the carrying 
amount of the asset.  The Amendments in this update are effective for annual and interim impairment tests performed for fiscal years beginning 
after September 15, 2012. The Company adopted this new standard in the fiscal year ended March 31, 2014 and the adoption did not have a 
significant impact on its financial statements.  
   

In July 2013, the FASB issued ASU 2013-11, Income Taxes – Presentation of an Unrecognized Tax benefit When a Net Operation Loss 
Carryforward, a Similar Tax Loss, or a Tax Credit Carryforward Exists (“ASU 2013-11”) which is part of ASC 740, Income Taxes .  The new 
guidance requires and entity to present an unrecognized tax benefit and an NOL carryforward, a similar tax loss or a tax credit carryforward on a 
net basis as part of a deferred tax asset, unless the unrecognized tax benefit is not available to reduce the deferred tax asset component or would 
not be utilized for that purpose, then a liability would be recognized.  ASU 2013-11 is effective for annual and interim periods for fiscal years 
beginning after December 15, 2013.  The Company is currently evaluating the impact of the April 1, 2014 adoption of this guidance on its 
financial statements.  
   

In May 2014, the FASB issued ASU 2014-9, Revenue from Contracts with Customers (Topic 606). This guidance requires an entity to 
recognize revenue to depict the transfer of promised goods or services to customers in an amount that reflects the consideration to which the 
entity expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods or services. This guidance is effective for annual reporting periods beginning after 
December 15, 2016 and early adoption is not permitted. The Company will adopt this standard in fiscal year 2018. The Company has not yet 
determined the effect, if any, that the adoption of this standard will have on the Company’s financial position or results of operations.  
     

On May 28, 2014, the FASB issued ASU 2014-09, "Revenue from Contracts with Customers (Topic 606)," which affects any entity 
that either enters into contracts with customers to transfer goods or services or enters into contracts for the transfer of nonfinancial assets unless 
those contracts are within the scope of other standards. The guidance supersedes the revenue recognition guidance in Topic 605, "Revenue 
Recognition", and most industry-specific guidance throughout the Industry Topics of the Codification. The guidance also supersedes some cost 
guidance included in Subtopic 605-35, "Revenue Recognition- Contract-Type and Production-Type Contracts". On April 1, 2015, the FASB 
voted to propose to defer the effective date of the pronouncement by one year. ASU 2014-9, as amended, is effective for annual periods, and 
interim periods within those years, beginning after December 15, 2016, or December 31, 2017, if deferred. An entity is required to apply the 
amendments using one of the following two methods:  i) retrospectively to each prior period presented with three possible expedients: a) for 
completed contracts that begin and end in the same reporting period no restatement is required,  b) for completed contract with variable 
consideration an entity may use the transaction price at completion  rather than restating estimated variable consideration amounts in comparable 
reporting periods and c) for comparable reporting periods before date of initial application reduced disclosure  requirements  related to 
transaction price; ii) retrospectively  with the cumulative effect of initially applying the amendment  recognized at the date of initial application 
with additional disclosures for the differences of the prior guidance to the reporting periods compared to the new guidance and an explanation of 
the reasons for significant changes. We are required to adopt ASU 2014-09 in the first quarter of fiscal 2018, or in the first quarter of fiscal 2019, 
if deferred, and we are currently assessing the impact of this pronouncement on our financial statements.  
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In August 2014, the FASB issued ASU No. 2014-15, Disclosure of Uncertainties about an Entity's Ability to Continue as a Going 

Concern , which requires management to assess, at each annual and interim reporting period, the entity's ability to continue as a going concern 
within one year after the date that the financial statements are issued and provide related disclosures. The ASU is effective for the year ended 
March 31, 2017, with early adoption permitted. The Company has assessed the impact of this standard and does not believe that it will have a 
material impact on the Company’s financial statements or disclosures.   
   

There are currently no other accounting standards that have been issued but not yet adopted by the Company that will have a significant 
impact on the Company’s financial position, results of operations or cash flows upon adoption.  
   
 
NOTE 2 — INTANGIBLE ASSETS  
     

The assigned values of all patents considered in service by the Company are being amortized on a straight-line basis over the remaining 
effective lives of the patents.   
   

Intangible assets, such as acquired in-process research and development costs, are considered to have an indefinite useful life until such 
time as they are put into service at which time they will be amortized on a straight-line basis over the shorter of their economic or legal useful 
life.  
   

Intangible assets consist of the following:  
   

   
During the fiscal year ended March 31, 2015, management evaluated assets included in IPRD and determined that certain projects will 

no longer be pursued for further development resulting in an impairment charge of $ 418,065 .   
   
Total amortization expense during the years ended March 31, 2015 and 2014 was $ 774,627 and $ 775,011 , respectively.  
   
Total annual amortization expense of finite lived intangible assets is estimated to be as follows:  

   

 
NOTE 3 — NOTES PAYABLE  
   
                On October 16, 2014, the Company entered into a Second Amendment to Loan Agreement (“Amendment No. 2”) with Platinum 
Capital Partners, LP (“Platinum”) to its existing loan agreement dated as of June 21, 2013 with Platinum, as modified by the First Amendment to 
Loan Agreement dated as of October 11, 2013 .  Under the terms of Amendment No. 2, Platinum, among other things, consolidated the 
Company’s credit facilities into one $ 1,500,000 note and deferred $ 63,619 of interest that was due and payable on September 30, 2014 under 
the Loan Agreement until December 19, 2014.  The Company also executed two new promissory notes concurrently with Amendment No. 2: (i) 
a Revolving Promissory Note dated as of October 17, 2014 in the principal amount of $ 1,500,000 in favor of Platinum (the “New Revolving 
Promissory Note”), which replaced the Company’s Promissory Note dated as of June 21, 2013, in the principal amount of $ 1,000,000 in favor 
of Platinum, and the Company’s Promissory Note dated as of October 11, 2013, in the principal amount of $ 500,000 in favor of Platinum; and 
(ii) a Deferred Interest Promissory Note dated as of September 30, 2014, in the principal amount of $63,619 in favor of Platinum (the “Deferred 
Interest Promissory Note”).  The New Revolving Promissory Note had a maturity date of June 30, 2015 and interest on the outstanding principal 
accrued at a rate of 18 % per annum, compounded annually.  The Deferred Interest Promissory Note had a maturity date of December 19, 2014 
and interest on the outstanding principal accrued at a rate of 18 % per annum, compounded annually.  The loan agreement contained a number of 
restrictions on the Company’s business, including restrictions on its ability to merge, sell assets, create or incur liens on assets, make 
distributions to its shareholders and sell, purchase or lease real or personal property or other assets or equipment.  The loan agreement also 
contains affirmative covenants and events of default. 
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          March 31,    March 31,    
     Life    2015    2014    

Patents, gross     6.75 – 19.46     $ 8,135,063     $ 8,135,063     
In-process research and development     Indefinite       1,832,370       2,250,435     
             9,967,433       10,385,498     
Accumulated amortization             (1,919,485)       (1,144,858)    

Net intangible assets          $ 8,047,948     $ 9,240,640     

Fiscal Year Ending           
March 31, 2016    $ 774,840    
March 31, 2017      774,840    
March 31, 2018      774,840    
March 31, 2019      774,840    
March 31, 2020      595,159    
Thereafter    $ 2,521,059    



   
On December 16, 2014 the Company entered into a Loan Agreement (the “HGI Loan Agreement”) and a Security Agreement (the 

“HGI Security Agreement”) with Heritage Gemstone Investors, LLC (“HGI”) providing for a $ 2,000,000 secured non-revolving line of credit 
(the “HGI Loan”).  The HGI Loan, which is represented by a Promissory Note dated as of December 15, 2014 (the “HGI Note”), matures on 
December 15, 2017.  Borrowings accrue interest at the rate of 7.25 % per annum and the Company intends to make monthly interest payments.  
On December 18, 2014, $ 2,000,000 was drawn on the HGI Loan.  The Company utilized funds drawn on the HGI Loan to repay its existing 
indebtedness to Platinum and to continue to fund its ongoing operations.  The HGI Loan Agreement contains a number of restrictions on the 
Company’s business, including restrictions on its ability to merge, sell assets, create or incur liens on assets, make distributions to its 
stockholders and sell, purchase or lease real or personal property or other assets or equipment.   The HGI Loan Agreement contains standard 
provisions relating to a default and acceleration of the Company’s payment obligations thereunder upon the occurrence of an event of default, 
which includes, among other things, the failure to pay principal, interest, fees or other amounts payable under the agreement when due; failure to 
comply with specified agreements, covenants or obligations; cross-default with other indebtedness; the making of any material false 
representation or warranty; commencement of bankruptcy or other insolvency proceedings by or against the Company; and failure by the 
Company to maintain a book net worth of at least $ 4.0 million at all times.  The Company’s obligations under the HGI Loan Agreement are not 
guaranteed by any other party.  The Company may prepay borrowings without premium or penalty upon notice to HGI as provided in the HGI 
Loan Agreement.  The HGI Loan Agreement requires the Company to enter into the HGI Security Agreement.   Under the HGI Security 
Agreement, the Company grants HGI a first priority security interest in the Company’s inventory, equipment, accounts and other rights to 
payments and intangibles as security for the HGI Loan.  

   
Also on December 16, 2014, the Company entered into an agreement for the Sale and Lease of Growers (the “Grower Sale-Lease 

Agreement”) with HGI to allow for the expansion of current growers and the purchase of  new growers. Pursuant to the Grower Sale-Lease 
Agreement, the Company agreed to a sale-leaseback arrangement for certain diamond growers produced by the Company during the term of the 
Grower Sale-Leaseback Agreement by which the Company will sell diamond growers to HGI and then lease the growers back from HGI.  The 
term of the Grower Sale-Leaseback Agreement is ten years. For  the new and upgraded growers, the direct profit margin generated from the 
growers will be split between the Company and HGI in accordance with the Grower Sale-Lease Agreement.  The Grower Sale-Lease Agreement 
requires the Company to operate and service the growers, and requires HGI to up-fit certain existing growers and to make capital improvements 
to the new growers under certain circumstances.  At the end of the Grower Sale-Leaseback Agreement the Company takes ownership of the 
leased equipment. The Company will also have the right to repurchase the leased growers upon the occurrence of certain events prior to the 
expiration of the Grower Sale-Leaseback Agreement.  
   

As of March 31, 2015, HGI has advanced the Company $ 300,000 to fund improvements to our current growers that will expand 
manufacturing capacity in our production facility. In addition, HGI has advanced the Company $ 200,000  for the purchase of new grower 
equipment under the Sale-Leaseback Agreement.  As of March 31, 2015, the Company considers both of these advances totaling $ 500,000 as 
notes payable.  The Company anticipates completing the grower expansion and new equipment purchases during the first half of the fiscal year 
ending March 31, 2016.  
 
NOTE 4 — CAPITAL STOCK  
   

The authorized capital of the Company is 75,000,000 common shares with a par value of $  0.001 per share.  
  

At the request of the then Board of Directors, the Company entered into an agreement, effective April 12, 2014, with Mr. Joseph 
Cunningham to provide consulting services to the Company.  Under this agreement, the Company agreed to provide Mr. Cunningham $ 4,000 
and 20,000 shares of common stock per month in exchange for his professional services to the Company.  This contract expired in August 2014.  
During the fiscal year ended March 31, 2015, the Company issued 80,000 shares to Mr. Cunningham.  These shares were valued at an average of 
$ 0.43 per share based on the closing prices of the shares on the dates of grant and the Company recognized $ 34,200 in professional and 
consulting fee expense for these shares during the fiscal year ended March 31, 2015.  
  

On June 20, 2014, the then Board of Directors granted restricted stock grants to Mr. Michael Laub of 50,000 shares for previously 
performed services rendered to the Company.  The Company did not recognize expense for this restricted stock grant since it was in exchange 
for expenses previously accrued by the Company.  

    
On June 23, 2014, the Company, members of its Board of Directors and various plaintiffs (See NOTE 12 – LITIGATION) reached a 

settlement agreement that resulted in the return and cancellation of 1,000,000 share of common stock to the Company.  
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On July 15, 2014, the Board of Directors approved the issuance and sale of up to 2,000,000 shares of common stock to accredited 

investors at a price of $ 0.30 per share. On September 25, 2014, the Board agreed to increase the size of the offering up to 6,666,667 shares to 
raise up to $ 2,000,000 .  The Company completed the offering on December 23, 2014 and issued 6,666,664 shares of common stock, at a price 
of $ 0.30 per share, for total cash proceeds of $ 2,000,000 .  
  

On October 30, 2014, the Board of Directors approved the issuance of 50,000 shares to Bradley Robb to settle $ 15,000 of liabilities for 
services rendered to the Company.  Also on this date, the Board approved the issuance of 95,522 shares of stock to an affiliate of our landlord to 
settle $ 28,658 of outstanding rent liabilities.  The shares issued in each of these transactions were valued at $ 0.30 per share.  
  

On March 12, 2015, the Board of Directors approved the issuance of 333,333 shares to an affiliate of Renaissance Diamond, Inc. to 
settle $ 100,000 of liabilities for diamond seed inventory purchased by the Company.  The shares issued in this transaction were valued at $ 0.30 
per share, which was the market price of our stock when the inventory was purchased.  
   

In addition, on March 12, 2015, the Board of Directors approved the retirement of all 1,000,000 shares held in treasury by the 
Company.   

   
The Company had 56,531,499 shares of common stock issued and outstanding as of March 31, 2015.  

  
The Company had 5,566,795 warrants outstanding with a weighted average exercise price of $ 1.53 per share as of March 31, 2015.  No 

warrants were issued or exercised during the fiscal year ended March 31, 2015. 4,891,250 warrants with an exercise price of $ 1.60 will expire if 
not exercised during our next fiscal year ending March 31, 2016.   
  
 
NOTE 5 — SHARE-BASED COMPENSATION  
   

The Company currently has one equity-based compensation plan under which stock-based compensation awards can be granted to 
directors, officers, employees and consultants providing bona fide services to or for the Company.   The Company’s 2012 Share Incentive Plan 
was adopted on May 7, 2012 (the “2012 Share Incentive Plan” or “Plan”) and allows the Company to issue up to 5,000,000 shares of its common 
stock pursuant to awards granted under the 2012 Share Incentive Plan.  The Plan permits the granting of stock options, stock appreciation rights, 
restricted or unrestricted stock awards, phantom stock, performance awards, other stock-based awards, or any combination of the foregoing.  The 
only awards that have been issued under the Plan are stock options.   Because the Plan has not been approved by our shareholders, all such stock 
option awards are non-qualified stock options.    
   

On September 25, 2014, the Company entered into a severance agreement with our former Chief Executive Officer, Mr. Michael 
McMahon, whereby the Company granted him 416,667 shares of fully vested restricted common stock valued at $ 0.30 per share for a total 
value of $ 125,000 .  In addition, the Company agreed to provide Mr. McMahon 100,000 shares of restricted stock as compensation for the 
vested options that expired due to his termination.  The Company valued these shares at $ 0.30 per share and recognized $ 30,000 in stock based 
compensation expense during the fiscal year ended March 31, 2015. In total the Company recognized $ 305,077 in severance expense in our 
salaries and benefit expenses during the year ended March 31, 2015.  
   

The following sets forth the options to purchase shares of the Company’s stock issued and outstanding as of March 31, 2015:  
   

   
The intrinsic value of options outstanding and exercisable at March 31, 2015 and 2014 was $ 17,071 and $ 0 , respectively.  
   
The Company did not issue any options during the fiscal year ended March 31, 2015.    
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          Weighted-    Weighted-Average  
          Average Exercise    Remaining  

Options    Shares    Price    Contractual Term  
Options Outstanding April 1, 2013     4,092,500     $ 0.87     2.29    
Granted     706,250        0.36     —    
Exercised     —        —     —    
Expired/Cancelled     (456,250)       0.73     —    
Options Outstanding March 31, 2014     4,342,500     $ 0.77     1.75    
Granted     —        —     —    
Exercised     —        —     —    
Expired/cancelled     (4,110,000)      0.79     —    
Options Outstanding March 31, 2015     232,500     $ 0.35     1.45    

Exercisable at March 31, 2015     23,125     $ 0.44     1.20    



   
A summary of the status of non-vested shares as of March 31, 2015 and changes during the year ended March 31, 2015 is presented 

below.  
   

   
The following table summarizes information about stock options outstanding by price range as of March 31, 2015:  
   

   
For the years ended March 31, 2015 and 2014, the Company recognized $ 0 and $ 193,150 , respectively, as compensation cost for 

options issued, and recorded related deferred tax asset of $ 0 for all periods.  
   
At March 31, 2015, unrecognized compensation expense related to non-vested awards was $ 44,529 .  This cost is only expected to be 

recognized if certain performance metrics are attainded over the weighted average remaining life of the options of 1.48 years.   
   
 
NOTE 6 — OTHER INCOME AND EXPENSE  
   

For the fiscal year ended March 31, 2015, the Company recognized $ 29,041 as its proportional share of income from its joint venture 
with RCDC.  In addition, the Company recognized $ 228,056 in interest expense related to its notes payable that were outstanding during the 
fiscal year.    
 
NOTE 7 — OPERATING LEASES  
   

During the fiscal year ended March 31, 2015, the Company leased office space at a location in Greenville, South Carolina. Under the 
terms of the lease, the Company is obligated to pay escalation rentals for certain operating expenses and real estate taxes. The Company’s lease 
in Greenville, South Carolina expires in March 2019.  The Company leases electrical equipment in its production facility in South Carolina with 
these leases expiring during the 2017 fiscal year.  
   

The Company recognizes lease expense on a straight-line basis and recognized $ 398,590 and $ 421,038 in lease expense for the fiscal 
years ending March 31, 2015 and 2014, respectively.  The Company has other liabilities consisting of deferred rent payable of $ 118,092 and $ 
84,144 at March 31, 2015 and 2014, respectively.  Minimum future rental payments under the leases are summarized as follows:  
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          Weighted Average   
          Grant-Date    

Non-vested Shares    Shares    Fair Value    
Non-vested at April 1, 2013     2,466,167     $ 0.65     
Granted     706,250       0.22     
Vested     (575,625)      0.45     
Expired/cancelled: non-vested     (182,000)      0.38     
Non-vested at March 31, 2014     2,414,792       0.49     
Granted     —        —     
Vested     (122,000)      0.43     
Expired/cancelled: non-vested     (2,083,417)      0.52     
Non-vested at March 31, 2015     209,375     $ 0.21     

       Options Outstanding    Options Exercisable    

Exercise Price    
Number  

Outstanding    

Weighted Average  
Remaining  

Contractual Life  
(years)    

Weighted Average   
Exercise Price    

Number of  
Shares    

Weighted Average   
Exercise Price    

$ 0.80     7,500     0.27     $ 0.80     5,500     $ 0.80     
$ 0.33     225,000     1.49        0.33     17,625        0.33     
        232,500     1.45     $ 0.35     23,125     $ 0.44     

2016     $ 407,410     
2017       361,660     
2018       224,410     
2019       224,410     
2020        —     

2021 and thereafter     $ —     



  
NOTE 8 — RELATED PARTIES  

   
The Company incurred expenses of $ 19,658 for professional and consulting services provided by Adams Monahan, LLP, a firm in 

which our former board member, Edward S. Adams and Michael R. Monahan were partners, for the fiscal year ended March 31, 2014.  The 
Company and Adams Monahan LLP terminated their professional relationship on June 30, 2013 and the Company did not incur any expenses 
with Adams Monahan LLP during the fiscal year ended March 31, 2015.  

   
On March 6, 2013, the then Board of Directors retained two then directors, Mr. Michael Monahan and Mr. Theo Strous, to provide 

consulting services for the Company.  The Company recognized $ 45,000 in consulting expense for these services during the fiscal year ended 
March 31, 2014. These consulting service agreements with both Messrs. Monahan and Strous were terminated effective June 30, 2013 and the 
Company did not incur any consulting expenses related to these agreements during the fiscal year ended March 31, 2015.  

   
On January 6, 2014, the then Board of Directors created a Special Litigation Committee (“SLC”) to consider the merits of shareholder 

allegations made in ongoing litigation.  The Board appointed the current board member Mr. Theo Strous and Mr. Laurence Zipkin, an 
unaffiliated third party, to the SLC.  During the fiscal year ended March 31, 2014, the Company recognized $ 93,750 in consulting expense for 
the shares issued to Mr. Strous and $ 168,750 in total consulting expenses for the SLC.  

   
On May 27, 2014, the Board of Directors appointed Mr. James Korn and Mr. Gerald McGuire as independent members to the Board.  

Each of Messrs. Korn and McGuire were provided 250,000 shares of restricted stock upon their appointment to the Board.  On June 16, 2014, 
the Board of Directors appointed Bruce Likly as a member of Board and further appointed Mr. Likly to serve as the Co-Chairman of the Board.  
Mr. Likly was provided with a restricted share grant of 4,000,000 shares upon his appointment to the Board.  

   
On June 22, 2014, the equity granted to Messrs. Korn, Likly, and McGuire for their service on the Board of Directors consisting of 

250,000 , 4,000,000 and 250,000 restricted shares, respectively was returned to the Company.  The Company did not recognize any expense for 
the restricted shares granted and returned to the Company since none of the grants had vested at the time of their return to the Company.  
   

During the fiscal year ended March 31, 2015, five directors of the Company participated in the Company’s private placement stock 
offering.  Karl Leaverton purchased 333,333 shares for $ 100,000 , Bruce Likly purchased 375,000 shares for $ 112,500 , Lewis Smoak 
purchased 666,666 shares for $ 200,000 , Bern McPheely purchased 133,333 shares for $ 40,000 , and Ben Wolkowitz purchased 158,333 shares 
for $ 47,500 .  
   

See Item 8, NOTES 10 and 11 for discussion of revenues recognized from our joint venture partners.  
 
NOTE 9 — INCOME TAXES  
   

There was no current or deferred tax expense (benefit) for the years ended March 31, 2015 and 2014.  
   

The deferred tax asset (liability) at March 31, 2015 and 2014 consists of the following types of temporary differences and their related 
tax effects:  
   

   
The Company recorded a valuation allowance against its net deferred tax asset at March 31, 2015 and March 31, 2014, as the Company 

believes that it is more likely than not that this asset will not be realized.  
   

     At March 31,    At March 31,    
     2015    2014    

Accrued expenses     $ 194,165     $ 235,998     
Property and equipment        (185,992)       (150,810)    
Impairment of fixed assets       299,537       142,767     
Capitalized startup/acquisition costs       461,636       499,288     
Federal and state net operating loss carry-forward       5,344,982       3,857,269     
Intangible assets       59,849       14,537     
      $ 6,174,177     $ 4,599,049     
                      
Valuation allowance        (6,174,177)       (4,599,049)    

Total     $ —     $ —     

     At March 31, 2015        At March 31, 2014     
     Amount    %        Amount    %     

Tax at statutory federal income tax rate     $ (1,408,162)    (34.0) %    $ (1,683,324)    (34.0) % 
Increase (decrease) resulting from:                                  

State income tax expense       —     0.0  %      —     0.0  % 
Change in valuation allowance       1,406,400     34.0  %      1,671,941     33.8  % 
Incentive stock options       —     0.0  %      —     0.0  % 
Other, net       1,762     0.0  %      11,383     0.2  % 

                                   
Total     $ —     0.0  %    $ —     0.0  % 



   
The Company had federal and state net operating loss carry-forwards (“carry-forward”) of $ 16,447,935 and $ 10,231,000 at March 31, 

2015 and 2014 respectively.  These carry-forwards start to expire in the year 2031 .  
 
NOTE 10 — INVESTMENT IN GRACE RICH JOINT VENTURE  
   

On September 16, 2013, the Company entered into a series of agreements with SAAMABA, LLC (“SAAMABA”) and S21 Research 
Holdings (the “Grace Rich Agreements”) to form a joint venture with operations in the People’s Republic of China (“PRC”) to deploy a 
minimum of 100 Company designed diamond growing machines.  Through the Grace Rich Agreements, the Company owns 30 % of Grace Rich 
LTD, a corporation duly established pursuant to the laws of the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region of the PRC that is an investment and 
holding company for the factory and distribution center to be formed pursuant to the laws of the PRC as a wholly foreign owned enterprise.   
   

Under the Grace Rich Agreements, the Company has agreed to license its proprietary technology for the manufacture of diamond 
gemstones of agreed upon specifications.  In exchange for the license, the Company will receive licensing revenue and 30 % ownership in the 
joint venture.  In addition to the licensed technology, the Grace Rich Agreements include obligations for the Company to provide and be 
compensated for technology consulting services to the joint venture to support the start-up of operations.   
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The initial ownership interests in Grace Rich LTD are as follows:  SAAMABA LLC- 60 %; Scio Diamond Technology Corporation – 

30 % and S21 Holdings- 10 %.  The capital contributions required to finance Grace Rich LTD are requirements of SAAMABA, and the 
Company is not required to make any on-going funding contributions to the joint venture and its ownership stake cannot be reduced from 30%.  
   

The Company is licensing a portion of its patented technology to Grace Rich LTD and is not directly contributing any of its intellectual 
property.  Under the license agreement, the Company received $ 250,000 in licensing fees and $ 750,000 in development fees.  The Company 
believes the joint venture will be operational during calendar year 2016 and  once operations of Grace Rich LTD have commenced, the Company 
will receive $ 250 per machine per month in licensing fees with a minimum monthly payment of $ 25,000 until the joint venture starts to 
distribute cash to its partners.  
   

The Company has determined the fair value of the license agreement does not exceed the value of the expected returns from the joint 
venture and accordingly established an initial investment value of $ 0 for its interests in the joint venture and has not recorded any gains related 
to its contribution to the joint venture.  Grace Rich LTD was in its development stage through March 31, 2015 and did not have any revenues.  
Expenses incurred by the joint venture were for planning and startup expenses.    
   

As of March 31, 2015, the Company has not guaranteed obligations of the joint venture nor has it committed to provide additional 
funding. Therefore, the Company’s share of the joint venture’s net loss for the years ended March 31, 2015 or 2014 were not recognized because 
the initial carrying value of the Company’s ownership interest in the joint venture was zero.  
   

The Company recognized $ 375,000 and $ 625,000 in licensing revenues from Grace Rich during the fiscal years ended March 31, 2015 
and 2014, respectively. The Company recognized $ 10,801 of product revenue from Grace Rich during the fiscal year ended March 31, 2015. 
The Company incurred $ 96,776 and $ 151,359 of joint venture related expenses during the fiscal years ended March 31, 2015 and 2014, 
respectively that were reimbursed by the Grace Rich LTD.  These reimbursements were offset against the Company’s related operating expense.  
The Company had no outstanding receivables from of payables due Grace Rich LTD at March 31, 2015.     
 
NOTE 11 — INVESTMENT IN RCDC JOINT VENTURE  
   

On December 18, 2014 the Company entered into an arrangement with Renaissance Diamonds, Inc. (“Renaissance”) through the 
execution of a limited liability company agreement (the “LLC Agreement”) of Renaissance Created Diamond Company, LLC, a Florida limited 
liability company (“RCDC”), pursuant to which the Company and Renaissance are each 50 % members of RCDC.  
   

The LLC Agreement provides that RCDC is a manager-managed limited liability company, and each of the Company and Renaissance 
will appoint one manager, with both such managers appointing a third manager.  The managers will manage the day-to-day operations of RCDC, 
subject to certain customary limitations on managerial actions that require the consent of the Company and Renaissance, including but not 
limited to making or guaranteeing loans, distributing cash or other property to the members of RCDC, entering into affiliate transactions, 
amending or modifying limited liability company organizational documents, and entering into major corporate events, such as a merger, 
acquisition or asset sale.  
   

The arrangement was entered into in order to facilitate the development of procedures and recipes for, and to market and sell, lab-grown 
fancy-colored diamonds.  Pursuant to the LLC Agreement, the arrangement will last three years, unless terminated earlier, with the option to 
automatically renew for additional two-year periods.  

   
The Company made an initial $ 1,000 investment in RCDC and was granted a 50 % equity stake.  RCDC has the right of first refusal to 

purchase diamond gemstones from the Company, including rough diamond preforms or processed stones.  Renaissance may sell seed stock to 
RCDC for production by the Company.  RCDC purchase rough diamond material produced by the Company, finishes the rough gemstones and, 
in turn, sells the finished stones to various retailers and other participants in the market for gemstones.  Profits generated by RCDC’s operations 
will be distributed between the Company and Renaissance according to the terms of the LLC Agreement.  

   
Through March 31, 2015 the operations of RCDC have been focused on the development and processing of diamond material into 

finished Gemstone material and establishing sales and distribution channels for the finished goods.  Through March 31, 2014, the Company has 
sold product to RCDC valued at $ 241,950 .  The Company defers recognition of revenues and expenses on these sales to RCDC until finished 
goods are sold by RCDC.  Through March 31, 2015, the Company recognized $ 26,575 in revenue for product sold to RCDC and has deferred $ 
215,375 of revenue and $ 179,969 of expenses related to our sales to RCDC. The Company anticipates recognizing this deferred revenue and 
expense as RCDC sells through its inventory.   
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The Company utilizes the equity method of accounting for its investment in RCDC.  As such, the Company recognized $ 29,041 as its 

proportional shares of RCDC’s net income during the fiscal year ended March 31, 2015 as other income.  
   
Rollforward of the Company’s ownership interest in the joint venture for the year ended March 31, 2015:  
   

   
Selected financial results for RCDC from inception through March 31, 2015 are as follows:  
   

 
NOTE 12 — LITIGATION  
   

On October 15, 2013, plaintiff Mark P. Sennott, as Trustee of the Sennott Family Charitable Trust, (“Sennott”) filed a complaint 
derivatively, on behalf of ADI, in the United Stated District Court for the District of South Carolina (“District Court”), against Edward S. Adams 
(our then Chairman), Michael R. Monahan (a former member of the Company’s Board of Directors), the law firm of Adams Monahan, LLP, 
Loblolly, Inc., which was formerly known as Scio Diamond Technology Corporation, and the Company (collectively, “Sennott Defendants”).  
This derivative complaint on ADI’s behalf (the “ADI Derivative Complaint”) alleges claims for breach of fiduciary duty, constructive fraud and 
unjust enrichment.  The ADI Derivative Complaint was effectively settled on June 23, 2014.  The settlement included all claims previously 
asserted against the Company by the parties named in the Settlement Agreement.  As part of the settlement Agreement, 1,000,000 shares of 
common stock were returned to the Company and cancelled. On February 13, 2015, the District Court entered an order approving the Stipulation 
of Dismissal of the Derivative Action with Prejudice.  
   

On May 16, 2014 the Company received a subpoena issued by the SEC ordering the provision of documents and related information 
concerning various corporate transactions between the Company and its predecessors and other persons and entities.  The Company continues to 
cooperate with this inquiry.  
   

The Company recognizes legal fees for litigation as they are incurred as professional and consulting fees.  The Company then submits 
the expenses to our insurance carrier for reimbursement under our insurance policy.  During the fiscal year ended March 31, 2015, our insurance 
carrier paid $ 168,015 for past legal fees from the prior fiscal year.   This payment is recorded as a reduction to professional fees during the fiscal 
year ending March 31, 2015.  
  

During the fiscal year ended March 31, 2015, the Company reached an agreement with a former legal services provider that allowed the 
Company to settle outstanding past legal fees from prior fiscal years.  This settlement of $ 165,453 was recorded as forgiveness of legal accounts 
payable during the fiscal year.  
 
NOTE 13 – SUBSEQUENT EVENTS  
   

On May 7, 2015, the Board of Directors of the Company approved restricted stock awards for Mr. Gerald McGuire, the Company 
President and Chief Executive Officer and Mr. Jonathan Pfohl, the Company Chief Financial Officer.  Mssrs. McGuire and Pfohl were granted 
400,000 and 385,000 restricted shares of stock, respectively that will vest on July 1, 2018.  The restricted shares are valued at $ 1.03 , the closing 
price of the Company’s stock on May 7, 2015. The Company anticipates recognizing compensation expense for these restricted stock awards on 
a straight line basis over the vesting period.  
   

In addition, on May 7, 2015, the Board of Directors granted Renaissance Diamond Inc. a restricted stock award of 200,000 shares and a 
grant of 333,333 non-qualified stock options that only vest based on the attainment of specific performance criteria.  The Company does not 
anticipate recognizing any financial impact for these restricted stock and option awards unless the performance criteria are met.  

   
END NOTES TO FINANCIALS  
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Balance of ownership interest in joint venture at December 18, 2014     $ 1,000     
Aggregate fiscal 2014 equity gain – share of joint venture income        29,041     

Balance of ownership interest in joint venture at March 31, 2015     $ 30,041     
              
Cumulative recognized income on ownership interest in joint venture at March 31, 2015     $ 29,041     

Revenues    $ 124,908    
Expenses      66,825    
Net Income    $ 58,083    
            
Total Assets    $ 551,405    
            
Total Liabilities    $ 491,322    
Total Partners Capital       60,083    

Total Liabilities and Partner Capital    $ 551,405    



  
ITEM 9.  CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTA NTS AND FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE.  
   

None.  
   
ITEM 9A.  CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES.  
   
Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures  
   

Disclosure controls and procedures refer to controls and other procedures designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed 
by the Company in the reports that it files or submits under the Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time 
periods specified in the SEC rules and forms, and that such information is accumulated and communicated to the Company’s management, 
including its Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, as appropriate, to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure. As of 
March 31, 2015, we carried out an evaluation, under the supervision and with the participation of our management, including our Chief 
Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, of the effectiveness of the design and operation of our disclosure controls and procedures as 
defined in Exchange Act Rule 13a-15. We applied our judgment in the process of reviewing these controls and procedures, which, by their 
nature, can provide only reasonable assurance regarding our control objectives. Based upon that evaluation, our Chief Executive Officer and 
Chief Financial Officer have concluded that our disclosure controls and procedures were not effective as of March 31, 2015 due to the significant 
deficiency discussed below.  
   
Management’s Annual Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting  
   

Management of the Company is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting as 
defined in Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) promulgated under the Exchange Act. The Company’s internal control over financial reporting is a 
process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for 
external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. The Company’s internal control over financial reporting includes 
those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions 
and the dispositions of the assets of the Company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit 
preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the 
Company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of the management and directors of the Company; and (3) provide reasonable 
assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the Company’s assets that could have a 
material effect on its financial statements.  
   

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Therefore, even 
those systems determined to be effective can provide only reasonable assurance with respect to financial statement preparation and presentation. 
Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of 
changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.  
   

Management including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer conducted an assessment of the effectiveness of our 
internal control over financial reporting as of March 31, 2015.  In making this assessment, management used the criteria set forth by the 
Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission, or COSO, in Internal Control—Integrated Framework (2013).   During 
this assessment, management identified the following significant deficiencies in our internal control over financial reporting, which is common 
in small companies. This deficiency identified by our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer following the end of the fiscal year 
covered by this report:  
   

   
A material weakness (within the meaning of PCAOB Auditing Standard No. 5) is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in 

internal control over financial reporting, such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material misstatement of our annual or interim financial 
statements will not be prevented or detected on a timely basis. A significant deficiency is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in 
internal control over financial reporting that is less severe than a material weakness, yet important enough to merit attention by those responsible 
for oversight of our financial reporting.  
   

When management conducted this assessment at March 31, 2014, management determined that material weaknesses in internal control 
over financial reporting were in place.  During the fiscal year the following steps were taken to remediate these weaknesses:  
   
   

• Due to our small size, we have limited segregation of duties in certain areas of our financial reporting and other accounting 
processes and procedures. 
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During the period covered by this annual report on Form 10-K, we have been able to remediate the material weaknesses identified 

above but due to the continued limited segregation of duties in the finance and accounting functions of the Company a significant deficiency 
continues to exist as of March 31, 2015:  
   

To remediate this deficiency, we expect to implement the following changes during our fiscal year ending March 31, 2016:  
   

   
This annual report does not include an attestation report of our independent registered public accounting firm regarding internal control 

over financial reporting. Management’s report was not subject to attestation by our independent registered public accounting firm pursuant to an 
exemption for non-accelerated filers set forth in Section 989G of the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act.  
   
Changes in Internal Controls  
   

Other than described above, there were no significant changes in our internal controls over financial reporting that occurred during our 
fiscal year ended March 31, 2015, that materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal controls over financial 
reporting.  
   
ITEM 9B.  OTHER INFORMATION.  
   

NONE  
   
   

• The establishment of a board of directors on June 23, 2014 that includes a majority of outside and independent directors; 
• On July 11, 2014, our Chief Executive Officer was named a director of the Company.  This addition of management to the 

board of directors has substantially enhanced timely communication between the board and management of the Company 
related to issues affecting financial reporting; 

• The board of directors established a functioning audit committee compliant with NASDAQ listing requirements to oversee the 
financial reporting and control structure of the Company; and 

• We have improved our documentation of critical financial processes and controls. 

• Management is working with our outsourced accounting vendor to provide enhanced separation of duties amongst the 
personnel participating in our accounting function. 
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PART III  
   
ITEM 10.  DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS, AND CORPOR ATE GOVERNANCE.  
   

Information responsive to this item is incorporated herein by reference from Scio’s definitive proxy statement with respect to our 2015 
Annual Meeting of Stockholders to be filed with the SEC within 120 days after the end of the fiscal year covered by this Annual Report on Form 
10-K.  
   
ITEM 11.  EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION.  
   

Information responsive to this item is incorporated herein by reference from Scio’s definitive proxy statement with respect to our 2015 
Annual Meeting of Stockholders to be filed with the SEC within 120 days after the end of the fiscal year covered by this Annual Report on Form 
10-K.  
   
ITEM 12.  SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND RELATED 
STOCKHOLDER MATTERS.  
   

Information responsive to this item is incorporated herein by reference from Scio’s definitive proxy statement with respect to our 2015 
Annual Meeting of Stockholders to be filed with the SEC within 120 days after the end of the fiscal year covered by this Annual Report on Form 
10-K.  
   
Equity Compensation Plan Information  

   
The following table summarizes the sole equity compensation plan under which shares of the Company’s common stock may be issued as 

of March 31, 2015.  
   

   

   
The Scio Diamond Technology Corp. 2012 Share Incentive Plan (the “2012 Share Incentive Plan”) was adopted by the Company’s Board 

of Directors on May 7, 2012.  The 2012 Share Incentive Plan permits the granting of stock options, stock appreciation rights, restricted or 
unrestricted stock awards, phantom stock, performance awards, other stock-based awards, or any combination of the foregoing.  Up to 5,000,000 
shares of the Company’s common stock are authorized for issuance pursuant to awards granted under the 2012 Share Incentive Plan to the 
Company’s directors, officers, employees and consultants providing bona fide services to or for the Company.  
   
ITEM 13.  CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSAC TIONS AND DIRECTOR INDEPENDENCE.  
   

Information responsive to this item is incorporated herein by reference from Scio’s definitive proxy statement with respect to our 2015 
Annual Meeting of Stockholders to be filed with the SEC within 120 days after the end of the fiscal year covered by this Annual Report on Form 
10-K.  
   
   

(1) The 2012 Share Incentive Plan provides for the issuance of any shares available under the plan in the form of restricted or 
unrestricted stock awards, phantom stock, performance awards and other types of stock-based awards, in addition to the granting of 
options or stock appreciation rights. 
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Plan Category    

Number of  
securities  

to be issued upon  
exercise of  

outstanding  
options,  

warrants and  
rights      

Weighted-  
average  

exercise price of  
outstanding  

options,  
warrants  
and rights    

Number of securities  
remaining  

available for future  
issuance under  

equity compensation  
plans  

(excluding securities  
reflected in  
Column (a))     

Equity compensation plans approved by security holders     —        —     —     
Equity compensation plans not approved by security holders:                       

2012 Share Incentive Plan     232,500     $ 0.35     4,767,500  (1) 
                        
Total     232,500     $ 0.35     4,767,500     



   
ITEM 14.  PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING FEES AND SERVICES.  

   

Information responsive to this item is incorporated herein by reference from Scio’s definitive proxy statement with respect to our 2015 
Annual Meeting of Stockholders to be filed with the SEC within 120 days after the end of the fiscal year covered by this Annual Report on Form 
10-K.  
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PART IV  

   
ITEM 15.  EXHIBITS, FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES  

   
(a)                                  (1)                                  Financial Statements  

   
The following financial statements are located in Item 8 of this Report:  
Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm  
Balance Sheets as of March 31, 2015 and 2014  
Statements of Operations for the years ended March 31, 2015 and 2014  
Statements of Cash Flow for the years ended March 31, 2015 and 2014  
Statements of Shareholders’ Equity for the year ended March 31, 2015  
Notes to the Financial Statements  

   
(3)                                  Exhibits  
   
The following exhibits are filed with this Report on Form 10-K as required by Item 601 of Regulation S-K:  
   

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

   
   

3.1 Articles of Incorporation (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to the Form S-1/A filed with the SEC on May 13, 2010). 

3.2 Certificate of Amendment to Articles of Incorporation (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1(a) to the Form 8-K filed with 
the SEC on August 11, 2011). 

3.3 Amended and Restated bylaws (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to the Form 8-K filed with the SEC Commission on 
June 26, 2014). 

3.4 Second Amended and Restated Bylaws (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to the Form 8-K filed with the SEC on 
November 4, 2014). 

4.1 Loan Agreement dated as of June 21, 2013 between Scio Diamond Technology Corporation and Platinum Capital Partners, 
LP (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to the Form 8-K filed with the SEC on September 20, 2013). 

4.2 Security Agreement dated as of June 21, 2013 between Scio Diamond Technology Corporation and Platinum Capital Partners, 
LP (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.2 to the Form 8-K filed with the SEC on September 20, 2013). 

4.3 Promissory Note dated as of June 21, 2013 made by Scio Diamond Technology Corporation in favor of Platinum Capital 
Partners, LP (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.3 to the Form 8-K filed with the SEC on September 20, 2013). 

4.4 First Amendment to Loan Agreement dated October 11, 2013 between Scio Diamond Technology Corporation and Platinum 
Capital Partners, LP (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to the Form 8-K filed with the SEC on October 18, 2013). 

4.5 Promissory Note dated October 11, 2013 made by Scio Diamond Technology Corporation in favor of Platinum Capital 
Partners, LP (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.2 to the Form 8-K filed with the SEC on October 18, 2013). 

4.6 Second Amendment to Loan Agreement, dated as of October 16, 2014, by and between the Company and Platinum Capital 
Partners, LP (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Form 8-K filed with the SEC on October 22, 2014). 

4.7 Loan Agreement dated as of December 16, 2014, between the Company and Heritage Gemstone Investors, LLC (incorporated 
by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Form 8-K filed with the SEC on December 22, 2014). 

4.8 Security Agreement dated as of December 16, 2014, between the Company and Heritage Gemstone Investors, LLC 
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Form 8-K filed with the SEC on December 22, 2014). 

10.1 Asset Purchase Agreement by and among Krossbow Holding Corporation and Scio Diamond Technology Corporation 
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Form 8-K/A filed with the SEC on August 15, 2011). 

10.2 Schedule 1.1(a) “Acquired Assets” of the Asset Purchase Agreement by and among Krossbow Holding Corporation and Scio 
Diamond Technology Corporation (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Form 8-K/A filed with the SEC on 
August 15, 2011). 
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10.3 Asset Purchase Agreement by and among Scio Diamond Technology Corporation and Apollo Diamond, Inc. (incorporated by 
reference to Exhibit 10.3 to the Form 10-Q/A for the fiscal quarter ended September 30, 2011 filed with the SEC on 
August 16, 2012). 

10.4 Asset Purchase Agreement by and among Scio Diamond Technology Corporation and Apollo Diamond Gemstone 
Corporation (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to the Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended March 31, 2012 filed with 
the SEC on August 16, 2012). 

10.5 Amended and Restated Employment Agreement by and between Scio Diamond Technology Corporation and Joseph D. 
Lancia (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Form 8-K filed with the SEC on August 8, 2012). (1) 

10.5A Change in Control Agreement by and between Scio Diamond Technology Corporation and Joseph D. Lancia (incorporated by 
reference to the Exhibit 10.4 to Form 8-K filed with the SEC on August 8, 2012). (1) 

10.5B Agreement of Separation, Waiver, and Release of Joseph D. Lancia (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Form 8-
K filed with the SEC on December 7, 2012). (1) 

10.6 Amended and Restated Employment Agreement by and between Scio Diamond Technology Corporation and Charles G. 
Nichols (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to the Form 8-K filed with the SEC on August 8, 2012). (1) 

10.6A Change in Control Agreement by and between Scio Diamond Technology Corporation and Charles G. Nichols (incorporated 
by reference to Exhibit 10.6 to the Form 8-K filed with the SEC on August 8, 2012). (1) 

10.6B Agreement of Separation, Waiver, and Mutual Release of Charles G. Nichols (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the 
Form 8-K filed with the SEC on December 7, 2012). (1) 

10.7 Amended and Restated Employment Agreement by and between Scio Diamond Technology Corporation and Michael W. 
McMahon (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Form 8-K filed with the SEC on August 8, 2012). (1) 

10.7A Employment Letter with Michael McMahon (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Form 8-K filed with the SEC on 
February 4, 2012). (1) 

10.7B Change in Control Agreement by and between Scio Diamond Technology Corporation and Michael W. McMahon 
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.5 to the Form 8-K filed with the SEC on August 8, 2012). (1) 

10.7C Severance Agreement and General Release, effective September 25, 2014, between the Company and Michael W. McMahon 
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Form 8-K filed with the SEC on October 1, 2014).(1) 

10.8 Subscription Agreement dated May 4, 2012 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.11 to the Form 10-K for the fiscal year 
ended March 31, 2012 filed with the SEC on August 16, 2012). 

10.9 Form of Warrant by and between Scio Diamond Technology Corporation and certain Investors (incorporated by reference to 
Exhibit 10.1 to the Form 8-K filed with the SEC on May 10, 2012). 

10.10 Scio Diamond Technology Corp. 2012 Share Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Form 8-K filed 
with the SEC on February 4, 2012). (1) 

10.10A Scio Diamond Technology Corp. Amended and Restated 2012 Share Incentive Plan. (1)* 

10.10B Form of Qualified Stock Option Grant Agreement by and between Scio Diamond Technology Corporation and certain 
Executive Officers (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.7 to the Form 8-K filed with the SEC on August 8, 2012). (1) 

10.10C Form of Stock Option Grant Agreement (Non-Qualified Stock Option) for Non-Employee Directors (incorporated by 
reference to Exhibit 10.6 to the Form 10-Q filed with the SEC on February 14, 2013). (1) 

10.10D Form of Restricted Stock Agreement. (1)* 

10.11 Lease with Innovation Center (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.01 to the Form 10-Q for the fiscal quarter year ended 
March 31, 2012 filed with the SEC on August 16, 2012). 

10.11A Supplemental Notice to Lease dated October 14, 2011, by and between Scio Diamond Technology Corporation and 
Innovation Center, LLC (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.14 to the Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended March 31, 
2012 filed with the SEC on August 16, 2012). 

10.12 Employment Letter Agreement of Stephen D. Kelley (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to the Form 8-K filed with the 
SEC on December 7, 2012). (1) 
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10.13 Employment Letter Agreement dated March 4, 2013 between Scio Diamond Technology Corporation and Jonathan Pfohl 
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Form 8-K filed with the SEC on March 7, 2013). (1) 

10.13B Employment Agreement dated March 31, 2015 between Scio Diamond Technology Corporation and Jonathan Pfohl 
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 99.2 to Form 8-K filed with the SEC on March 6, 2015).(1) 

10.14 Code of Ethics and Business Conduct (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.8 to the Form 8-K filed with the SEC on 
August 8, 2012). 

10.14A Code of Conduct.* 

10.14B Corporate Governance Guidelines.* 

10.15 Warrant dated March 25, 2013 by and between Scio Diamond Technology Corporation and Theodorus Strous (incorporated 
by reference to Exhibit 10.15 to the Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended March 31, 2014 filed with the SEC on June 27, 
2013). (1) 

10.16 Warrant dated March 25, 2013 by and between Scio Diamond Technology Corporation and Filip De Weerdt (incorporated by 
reference to Exhibit 10.16 to the Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended March 31, 2014 filed with the SEC on June 27, 2013). 

10.17 Consulting Agreement dated March 6, 2013 by and between Scio Diamond Technology Corporation and Theodorus Strous 
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.17 to the Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended March 31, 2014 filed with the SEC on 
June 27, 2013). (1) 

10.18 Consulting Agreement dated March 6, 2013 by and between Scio Diamond Technology Corporation and Michael R. Monahan 
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.18 to the Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended March 31, 2014 filed with the SEC on 
June 27, 2013). (1) 

10.19 Joint Venture Agreement, by and between Scio Diamond Technology Corporation, SAAMABA, LLC and S21 Research 
Holdings, dated September 16, 2013 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Form 10-Q filed with the SEC on 
November 14, 2013). 

10.20 Shareholders Agreement, by and between Scio Diamond Technology Corporation, SAAMABA, LLC and S21 Research 
Holdings, dated September 16, 2013 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Form 10-Q filed with the SEC on 
November 14, 2013). 

10.21 License Agreement, by and between Scio Diamond Technology Corporation and Grace Rich Limited, dated September 16, 
2013 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to the Form 10-Q filed with the SEC on November 14, 2013). 

10.22 Development Agreement, by and between Scio Diamond Technology Corporation and Grace Rich Limited, dated September 
16, 2013 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.5 to the Form 10-Q filed with the SEC on November 14, 2013). 

10.23 Consulting Services Agreement, by and between Scio Diamond Technology Corporation and Grace Rich Limited, dated 
September 16, 2013 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 to the Form 10-Q filed with the SEC on November 14, 2013). 

10.24 Rights Agreement, dated as of April 15, 2014, between Scio Diamond Technology Corporation and Empire Stock Transfer 
Inc. which includes the Form of Rights Certificate as Exhibit A and Summary of Rights to purchase Common Stock as 
Exhibit B (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to the Form 8-K filed with the SEC on April 16, 2014). 

10.25 Amendment No. 1, dated June 22, 2014 to Rights Agreement, dated as of April 15, 2014, by and between Scio Diamond 
Technology Corporation and Empire Stock Transfer Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to the Form 8-K filed with 
the SEC on June 26, 2014). 

10.26 Settlement Agreement, dated as of June 23, 2014, by and among the Company, the Adams Group and the Save Scio Group 
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 99.1 to the Form 8-K filed with the SEC on June 26, 2014). 

10.27 Agreement for the Sale and Lease of Growers dated as of December 16, 2014, between the Company and Heritage Gemstone 
Investors, LLC (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to the Form 8-K filed with the SEC on December 22, 2014). 

10.28 Renaissance Created Diamond Company, LLC Limited Liability Company Agreement, dated as of December 18, 2014, 
between the Company and Renaissance Diamond Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Form 8-K filed with 
the SEC on December 23, 2014). 
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*                                          Filed herewith.  

   

   
   

10.29 Employment Agreement dated March 31, 2015 between Scio Diamond Technology Corporation and Gerald McGuire 
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 99.1 to Form 8-K filed with the SEC on March 6, 2015).(1) 

23 Consent of Cherry Bekaert LLP.* 

24 Power of Attorney (contained herein as part of the signature pages).* 

31.1 Rule 13a-14(a) Certification of the Chief Executive Officer.* 

31.2 Rule 13a-14(a) Certification of the Chief Financial Officer.* 

32 Section 1350 Certifications of the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer.* 

101 The following materials from the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended March 31, 2015, 
formatted in eXtensible Business Reporting Language (XBRL); (i) Balance Sheets as of March 31, 2015 and 2014; 
(ii) Statements of Operations for the years ended March 31, 2015 and 2014; (iii) Statements of Shareholders’ Equity for the 
years ended March 31, 2015 and 2014; (iv) Statements of Cash Flow for the years ended March 31, 2015 and 2014; and 
(v) Notes to the Financial Statements* 

(1) Management contract or compensatory plan or arrangement required to be filed as an Exhibit to this Annual Report on 
Form 10-K. 
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SIGNATURES  

   
Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to 

be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.  
   

   
POWER OF ATTORNEY  

   
KNOW ALL MEN BY THESE PRESENTS, that each person whose signature appears below constitutes and appoints Gerald McGuire, 

his true and lawful attorney-in-fact and agent, with full power of substitution and resubstitution, for him and in his name, place and stead, in any 
and all capacities, to sign any and all amendments to this Annual Report on Form 10-K, and to file the same, with all exhibits thereto, and other 
documents in connection therewith, with the Securities and Exchange Commission, granting unto attorney-in-fact and agent full power and 
authority to do and perform each and every act and thing requisite or necessary to be done in and about the premises, as fully to all intents and 
purposes as he might or could do in person, hereby ratifying and confirming all that attorney-in-fact and agent, or his substitute or substitutes, 
may lawfully do or cause to be done by virtue hereof.  

   
Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the following persons on 

behalf of the registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated.  
   

   
   

Date: June 29, 2015  SCIO DIAMOND TECHNOLOGY CORPORATION  
   /s/ Gerald McGuire  
   Chief Executive Officer  

Date: June 29, 2015  /s/ GERALD McGUIRE  
   Gerald McGUIRE  
   Chief Executive Officer  
   (Principal Executive Officer)  
      
Date: June 29, 2015  /s/ JONATHAN PFOHL  
   Jonathan Pfohl  
   Chief Financial Officer  
   (Principal Accounting and Financial Officer)  
      
Date: June 29, 2015  /s/ BERNARD McPHEELY  
   Bernard McPheely  

Chairman and Director  
   
Date: June 29, 2015  

   
/s/ BRUCE LIKLY  

   Bruce Likly  
Vice-Chairman and Director  

      
Date: June 29, 2015  /s/ JAMES KORN  
   James Korn  
   Director  
      
Date: June 29, 2015  /s/ KARL LEAVERTON  
   Karl Leaverton  
   Director  
      
Date: June 29, 2015  /s/ LEWIS SMOAK  
   Lewis Smoak  
   Director  
      
Date: June 29, 2015  /s/ BEN WOLKOWITZ  
   Ben Wolkowitz  
   Director  
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EXHIBIT INDEX  
   

   
   

  
   
 

   10.10A  Scio Diamond Technology Corp. Amended and Restated 2012 Share Incentive Plan.  
         
   10.10D  Form of Restricted Stock Agreement.  
         
   10.14A  Code of Conduct.  
         
   10.14B  Corporate Governance Guidelines  

   
   23  Consent of Cherry Bekaert LLP. 
         
   24  Power of Attorney (contained herein as part of the signature pages).  
         
   31.1  Rule 13a-14(a) Certification of the Chief Executive Officer.  
         
   31.2  Rule 13a-14(a) Certification of the Chief Financial Officer.  
         
   32  Section 1350 Certifications of the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer.  
         
   101  The following materials from the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended March 31, 2015, 

formatted in eXtensible Business Reporting Language (XBRL); (i) Balance Sheets as of March 31, 2015 and 2014; 
(ii) Statements of Operations for the years ended March 31, 2015 and 2014; (iii) Statements of Shareholders’ Equity 
for the year ended March 31, 2015; (iv) Statements of Cash Flow for the years ended March 31, 2015 and 2014; and 
(v) Notes to the Financial Statements  
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Exhibit 10.10D  

   
SCIO DIAMOND TECHNOLOGY CORPORATION  

   
RESTRICTED STOCK AWARD AGREEMENT  

   
This Restricted Stock Award Agreement (this “ Agreement ”) is made and entered into as of [Date] by and among Scio Diamond 

Technology Corporation, a Nevada corporation (the “ Company ”), and [Executive] (“ Executive ,” and collectively with the Company, the “ 
Parties ”). This Agreement sets forth the understanding and agreement of the Parties with respect to the [Number of Shares] shares of Common 
Stock (the “ Shares ”) issued to Executive pursuant to the terms and conditions of the Board action dated [Issue Date].  

   
Capitalized terms that are not defined in this Agreement have the meanings set forth in Appendix A to this Agreement.  

   

   

   

   
The Company agrees to issue the Shares to Executive as soon as practicable following the date of this Agreement. The Company 

acknowledges that Executive has paid full consideration for the Shares in the form of services previously rendered and/or services to be rendered 
hereafter to the Company. Until fully vested, the Shares shall be held in escrow by the Company. The Company’s Chief Financial Officer shall 
be appointed as escrow agent to hold the Shares.  
   

   
The Shares will vest and no longer be subject to forfeiture according to the vesting schedule set forth in Section 1, subject to Section 4 

and Section 7 of this Agreement. Shares that have vested and are no longer subject to forfeiture in accordance with this Agreement are referred 
to herein as “ Vested Shares .” Shares that are not vested and remain subject to forfeiture in accordance with this Agreement are referred to 
herein as “ Unvested Shares .” Collectively, the Unvested Shares and the Vested Shares are referred to in this Agreement as the “ Shares .”  
   
   

1.  Details Related to the Shares:  

Executive :  [Executive]  
      
Issue Date :  [Issue Date]  
      
Vesting Commencement Date :  [Issue Date]  
      
Number of Shares :   [Number of Shares]  
      
Fair Market Value Per Share on Issue 
Date (for Tax and Informational Purposes 
Only) :  

   
[Closing Price on Issue Date]  

      
Vesting Schedule :  Shares will vest and no longer be subject to forfeiture on [Vesting 

Date], subject to vesting terms and conditions as set forth in this 
Agreement.  

2.  Issuance of Shares; Consideration  

3.  Vesting  



   

   
(a)        In the event of Executive’s Termination of Service by the Company without Cause, by Executive for Good Reason, as a result 

of Executive’s Total Disability, or as a result of Executive’s death, any Unvested Shares on the date of such termination will become vested and 
no longer subject to forfeiture.  

   
(b)        Unless the Company determines otherwise prior to Executive’s Termination of Service, upon Executive’s Termination of 

Service by the Company for Cause or if Executive resigns other than for Good Reason, any Unvested Shares will be immediately forfeited to the 
Company without the payment of any consideration to Executive.  
   

   
Executive will be recorded as a shareholder of the Company with respect to the Shares and shall have all voting, distribution and other 

rights with respect to the Shares as provided in the Company’s articles of incorporation, bylaws and applicable law. In the event of the forfeiture 
of Unvested Shares, Executive will no longer be a shareholder of the Company with respect to such forfeited Unvested Shares.  
   

   
Executive agree to comply with all laws, rules, and regulations applicable to the grant and vesting of each Award of Restricted Stock 

and the sale or other disposition of Stock received pursuant to each Award of Restricted Stock, including, without limitation, compliance with 
the Company’s insider trading policies. The Stock you receive under the Plan will have been registered under the Securities Act of 1933, as 
amended (the “ 1933 Act ”). If you are an “affiliate” of the Company, as that term is defined in Rule 144, promulgated pursuant to the 1933 Act 
(“ Rule 144 ”), you may not sell the Stock received pursuant to an Award of Restricted Stock except in compliance with Rule 144. Certificates 
representing Stock issued to an “affiliate” of the Company may bear a legend setting forth such restrictions on the disposition or transfer of the 
Stock as the Company deems appropriate to comply with federal and state securities laws.  
   
   

4.  Effect of Termination of Service  

5.  Status as Shareholder  

6.  Stock Exchange Requirements; Applicable Laws  
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(a)        Proportional adjustments will be made to the number and kind of Shares in the event, at any time or from time to time, a stock 

dividend, stock split, spin-off, combination or exchange of shares, recapitalization, distribution to shareholders (other than minimum cash 
distributions, discretionary distributions or other cash dividends), or other change in the Company’s corporate or capital structure results in 
(i) the outstanding shares of Common Stock, or any securities exchanged therefor or received in their place, being exchanged for a different 
number or kind of securities of the Company or (ii) new, different or additional securities of the Company or any other company being received 
by the holders of shares of Common Stock. The determination by the Board of Directors of the Company as to the terms of any such adjustment 
will be conclusive and binding, absent manifest error. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the issuance by the Company of shares of stock of any 
class, or securities convertible into shares of stock of any class, for cash or property, or for labor or services rendered, either upon direct sale or 
upon the exercise of rights or warrants to subscribe therefor, or upon conversion of shares or obligations of the Company convertible into such 
shares or other securities, will not affect, and no adjustment by reason thereof will be made with respect to, the Shares. Also notwithstanding the 
foregoing, a dissolution or liquidation of the Company or a Change of Control will not be governed by this Section 7(a) but will be governed by 
Sections 7(b) and 7(c), respectively.  

   
(b)        In the event of the Company’s dissolution or liquidation, to the extent a vesting condition or forfeiture provision applicable to 

the Shares has not been waived by the Company, any Unvested Shares will be forfeited to the Company immediately prior to the consummation 
of such dissolution or liquidation.  

   
(c)        The Shares will become fully vested and no longer subject to forfeiture immediately prior to a Change of Control if and to the 

extent the Shares are not converted, assumed, substituted for or replaced by a Successor Company. If and to the extent a Successor Company 
converts, assumes, substitutes for or replaces the Shares, the vesting restrictions and forfeiture restrictions applicable to the Shares will not be 
accelerated or lapse, and all such vesting restrictions and forfeiture restrictions will continue with respect to any shares of the Successor 
Company or other consideration that may be received with respect to the Shares.  

   
For the purposes of this Section 7(c), the Shares will be considered converted, assumed, substituted for or replaced by the Successor 

Company if following the Change of Control, Executive has the right to receive, for each Share outstanding immediately prior to the Change of 
Control, the consideration (whether stock, cash or other securities or property) received in the Change of Control by holders of Common Stock 
for each share held by such holders on the effective date of the transaction (and if holders were offered a choice of consideration, the type of 
consideration chosen by the holders of a majority of the outstanding shares); provided, however, that if such consideration received in the 
Change of Control is not solely common stock of the Successor Company, the Company may, with the consent of the Successor Company, 
provide for the consideration to be received pursuant to the Shares, for each share of Common Stock subject thereto, to be solely common stock 
of the Successor Company substantially equal in fair market value to the per share consideration received by holders of Common Stock in the 
Change of Control. The determination of such substantial equality of value of consideration will be made by the Board of Directors of Company, 
and its determination will be conclusive and binding, absent manifest error.  
   
   

7.  Adjustments; Change of Control  
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Executive understands that under Section 83(a) of the Code, the excess of the fair market value of the Unvested Shares on the date the 

forfeiture restrictions lapse over the purchase price, if any, paid for such Shares will be taxed, on the date such forfeiture restrictions lapse, as 
ordinary income subject to payroll and withholding tax and tax reporting, as applicable. For this purpose, the term “forfeiture restrictions” means 
the right of the Company to receive back any Unvested Shares pursuant to Section 4(b) of this Agreement. Executive understands that he may 
elect under Section 83(b) of the Code to be taxed at the time the Unvested Shares are acquired by Executive (based on the fair market value of 
the Unvested Shares as of the Issue Date), rather than when and as the Unvested Shares cease to be subject to the forfeiture restrictions. Such 
election (an “ 83(b) Election ”) must be filed with the Internal Revenue Service within 30 days from the Issue Date of the Shares.  

   
Executive understands that there is a risk the Internal Revenue Service might challenge the Company’s determination of the fair market 

value of the Shares, in which case Executive may be deemed to have received more ordinary income than originally estimated. Executive also 
understands that (a) Executive will not be entitled to a deduction for any ordinary income previously recognized as a result of the 83(b) Election 
if the Unvested Shares are subsequently forfeited to the Company, and (b) the 83(b) Election may cause Executive to recognize more ordinary 
income than would have otherwise been recognized if the Internal Revenue Service determines that the fair market value of the Unvested Shares 
on the Issue Date is higher than the Company’s determination of the fair market value of the Shares on that date and/or the value of the Unvested 
Shares subsequently declines.  

   
THE FORM FOR MAKING AN 83(b) ELECTION IS ATTACHED TO THIS AGREEMENT AS EXHIBIT B . EXECUTIVE 

UNDERSTANDS THAT FAILURE TO FILE SUCH AN ELECTION WITHIN THE 30-DAY PERIOD MAY RESULT IN THE 
RECOGNITION OF ORDINARY INCOME BY EXECUTIVE AS THE FORFEITURE RESTRICTIONS LAPSE. Executive further 
understands that an additional copy of such election form should be filed with Executive’s federal income tax return for the calendar year in 
which the Issue Date of the Shares falls. Executive acknowledges that the foregoing is only a summary of the federal income tax laws that apply 
to the receipt of the Unvested Shares under this Agreement and does not purport to be complete. EXECUTIVE FURTHER 
ACKNOWLEDGES THAT THE COMPANY HAS DIRECTED EXECUTIV E TO SEEK INDEPENDENT ADVICE REGARDING 
THE APPLICABLE PROVISIONS OF THE CODE, AND THE INCO ME TAX LAWS OF ANY MUNICIPALITY, STATE OR 
FOREIGN COUNTRY IN WHICH EXECUTIVE MAY RESIDE.  
   
   

8.  Section 83(b) Election for Shares  
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Executive agrees to make arrangements satisfactory to the Company for the payment of any applicable federal, state, local or foreign 

withholding tax obligations that arise in connection with the acquisition or vesting of the Shares.  
   

   
10.1        Notices. Any notice required in connection with the terms and conditions of this Agreement will be given in writing and will 

be deemed effective upon personal delivery or upon deposit in the U.S. mail, registered or certified, postage prepaid and addressed to the party 
entitled to such notice. Any notice will be addressed as follows (or to such other address as such party may designate by ten days’ advance 
written notice under this Section 11.1 to all other parties to this Agreement):  

   
Company:                   Scio Diamond Technology Corporation  

Attn: Chief Financial Officer  
411 University Ridge, Suite D  
Greenville, SC 29601  

   
Executive:                   [Executive]  

Address 1  
Address 2  

   
10.2        No Waiver . No waiver of any provision of this Agreement will be valid unless in writing and signed by the person against 

whom such waiver is sought to be enforced, nor will failure to enforce any right hereunder constitute a continuing waiver of the same or a waiver 
of any other right hereunder.  

   
10.3        Undertaking . Executive hereby agrees to take whatever additional action and execute whatever additional documents the 

Company may deem necessary or advisable in order to carry out or effect one or more of the obligations or restrictions imposed on Executive or 
the Shares pursuant to the express provisions of this Agreement.  

   
10.4        Agreement Is Entire Contract . The Parties acknowledge that this Agreement sets forth the entire understanding between 

Executive and the Company regarding the Shares and supersedes all prior oral and written agreements on the subject.  
   
10.5        Successors and Assigns . The provisions of this Agreement will inure to the benefit of, and be binding on, the Company and 

its successors and assigns and Executive and their legal representatives, heirs, legatees, distributees, assigns and transferees by operation of law, 
whether or not any such person will have become a party to this Agreement and agreed in writing to join herein and be bound by the terms and 
conditions hereof.  

   
10.6        No Employment or Service Contract . Nothing in this Agreement will affect in any manner whatsoever the right or power of 

the Company, or a Related Company, or Executive, to terminate Executive’s employment or services on behalf of the Company, for any reason, 
with or without cause.  
   
   

9.  Tax Withholding  

10.  General Provisions  
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10.7        Counterparts; Governing Law . This Agreement may be executed in two or more counterparts, each of which will be 

deemed an original, but which, upon execution, will constitute one and the same instrument. To the extent not otherwise governed by the laws of 
the United States, this Agreement will be construed and administered in accordance with and governed by the laws of the State of South 
Carolina without giving effect to principles of conflicts of law.  

   
[Signature page follows]  
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Parties have entered into this Agreement as of the date first written above.  

   

   
   

SCIO DIAMOND TECHNOLOGY CORPORATION     
      
      

   
[Name]     
Chief Executive Officer     
      
EXECUTIVE:     
      
      
[Executive]     
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EXHIBIT A  

   
DEFINITIONS  

   
1.           “ Cause ” has the meaning set forth in the Plan.  
   
2.           “ Change of Control ” has the meaning set forth in the Plan.  
   
3.           “ Code ” means the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended from time to time.  
   
4.           “ Common Stock ” means the Company’s common stock, par value $0.01 per share.  
   
5.           “ Good Reason ” means that Executive, without his consent, has either:  

   
(a)          experienced a material diminution in his authority, duties or responsibilities at the Company; or  
   
(b)          experienced a material diminution in Executive’s Annual Salary; or  
   
(c)          suffered a material breach of this Agreement by Employer;  

   
provided, however, that the foregoing conditions shall constitute Good Reason only if Executive notifies Employer in writing of the existence of 
the condition which Executive believes constitutes Good Reason within ninety (90) days of the initial existence of such condition (which notice 
specifically identifies such condition and the details regarding its existence), (B) Employer fails to remedy such condition within thirty (30) days 
after the date on which it receives such notice (the “ Remedial Period ”), and (C) Executive terminates his/her employment with Employer within 
sixty (60) days after the end of the Remedial Period..  
   
6.           “ Related Company ” means any entity that is directly or indirectly controlled by, in control of or under common control with the 
Company.  
   
7.           “ Securities Act ” means the Securities Act of 1933, as amended.  
   
8.           “ Successor Company ” means the surviving company, the successor company or parent company, as applicable, in connection with a 
Change of Control.  
   
9.           “ Termination of Service ” means a termination of employment or service relationship with the Company or a Related Company for 
any reason, whether voluntary or involuntary, including by reason of death or disability or a failure to renew the employment relationship. 
Transfer of Executive’s employment or service relationship between the Company and any Related Company shall not be considered a 
Termination of Service. Executive’s change in status from an employee of the Company or a Related Company to a nonemployee director, 
consultant, advisor, or independent contractor of the Company or a Related Company shall not be considered a Termination of Service.  
   
10.           “ Total Disability ” means Executive’s inability to perform the duties set forth in the Employment Agreement for a period or periods 
aggregating ninety calendar days in any twelve-month period as a result of physical or mental illness, loss of legal capacity or any other cause 
beyond Executive’s control, unless Executive is granted a leave of absence by the Board of Directors of Employer.  
   
   

 



   
EXHIBIT B  

   
ELECTION UNDER SECTION 83(b)  

OF THE INTERNAL REVENUE CODE OF 1986  
   
The undersigned taxpayer hereby elects, pursuant to Section 83(b) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, to include in 

taxpayer’s gross income for the current taxable year the amount of any compensation taxable to taxpayer in connection with taxpayer’s receipt of 
the property described below:  
   

   
NAME OF TAXPAYER:                                                                    
   
NAME OF SPOUSE:                                                                           
   
ADDRESS:                                                                                           
   
IDENTIFICATION NO. OF TAXPAYER:                                       
   
IDENTIFICATION NO. OF SPOUSE:                                              
   
TAXABLE YEAR:                                                                              

   

   

   

   
The property is subject to a forfeiture right pursuant to which shares are forfeited to the Company if taxpayer terminates his 
employment with or service to the Company other than for good reason or if the Company terminates his employment or service 
without cause.  The forfeiture restrictions lapse with respect to 1/2 of the shares on the first anniversary of the date the shares were 
transferred to taxpayer and with respect to the remaining shares on the second anniversary of such date, or in the event taxpayer’s 
employment with or service to the Company terminates for reasons other than those described above.  

   

   

   
   

1.  The name, address, taxpayer identification number and taxable year of the undersigned are as follows:  

2.  The property with respect to which the election is made is described as follows: [•] shares of common stock, par value $0.01 per share, 
of Scio Diamond Technology Corporation, a Washington corporation (the “  Company ” ).  

3.  The date on which the property was transferred is: __________________________  

4.  The property is subject to the following restrictions:  

5.  The aggregate fair market value at the time of transfer, determined without regard to any restriction other than a restriction which by its 
terms will never lapse, of such property is: $[ • ]  

6.  The amount (if any) paid for such property is: $0.00  



   
The undersigned has submitted a copy of this statement to the person for whom the services were performed in connection with the 

undersigned’s receipt of the above-described property. The undersigned is the person performing the services in connection with the transfer of 
said property.  

   
The undersigned understands that the foregoing election may not be revoked except with the consent of the Commissioner of Internal 

Revenue.  

   

   
   

Dated:          
         Taxpayer  
            
Dated:          
         Taxpayer’s Spouse  
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DISTRIBUTION OF COPIES  
   

   

   

Scio Diamond Technology Corporation  
Attn: Chief Financial Officer  
411 University Ridge, Suite D  
Greenville, SC 29601  

   
   
   

1.  File original with the Internal Revenue Service Center where the taxpayer’s income tax return will be filed. Filing must be made by no 
later than 30 days after the date of issue.  

2.  Attach one copy to the taxpayer’s income tax return for the taxable year in which the property was transferred.  

3.  Mail or deliver one copy to the Company at the following address:  



 
Exhibit 10.14A  

   
SCIO DIAMOND TECHNOLOGY CORPORATION  

CODE OF CONDUCT  
   

Expectations  
Our Code of Conduct serves as an active reference, describing how we expect our employees, Board members, partners and business associates 
to conduct themselves in doing business for or with Scio Diamond Technology Corporation (Scio Diamond).  
   
What is expected of employees?  
Each of us must be committed to utilizing our Code as a guide for interactions with our stakeholders, including fellow employees, officers, 
directors, customers, business partners, shareholders, suppliers, government agencies and communities. It is equally important that non-
employee groups, such as contractors, suppliers, consultants and representatives, follow this Code. This unified approach drives our efforts to 
create more livable environments, enable communications and provide protection and safety.  
   
To better understand the behaviors expected of us, we are each responsible for reading and abiding by our Code. We must know and follow all 
Scio Diamond policies, as well as all laws and regulations that apply to our work. Employees are also responsible for reading, understanding and 
acknowledging the Scio Diamond Technology Corporation Employee Handbook.  
   
If a conflict exists between any of these standards, the highest standard of ethical behavior shall apply. Seek guidance from the appropriate 
contact before deciding which path you should follow.  
   
What is expected of managers and supervisors?  
As leaders, managers and supervisors have additional responsibilities. In particular, they are expected to:  
   
• Communicate about ethics and compliance issues  
• Ensure that their personal actions set an appropriate example of expected behaviors  
• Hold employees accountable for completing all training requirements  
• Create work environments that welcome open communication and encourage employees to ask questions or raise concerns  
• Report known or suspected ethical or legal misconduct to the appropriate point of contact  
• Respect, to the greatest extent practical and legally permissible, the confidentiality of employees who raise honest concerns or participate in 
investigations  
• Strictly avoid and never tolerate acts of retaliation against people who report concerns, or behavior that may be perceived by others to be 
retaliation  
   
What is expected of business partners?  
We expect those working on Scio Diamond’s behalf, including our consultants, suppliers, agents, contractors, subcontractors and representatives, 
to uphold our values, the ethical principles set forth in our Code, and any applicable Company policies, laws and regulations. We choose to work 
with business partners who stand behind the quality of the goods and services they provide. If you know or suspect that one of our business 
partners is engaging in ethical or legal misconduct, please speak with the appropriate contact listed in the “Asking Questions and Raising 
Concerns” section of our Code.  
   
   



   
What is expected of us when engaging third parties?  
We must carefully consider whom we retain to conduct business on behalf of Scio Diamond. If we wish to engage anyone as a sales agent, 
marketing representative, distributor or dealer, we must contact the CEO or CFO, who will seek legal counsel as appropriate. These parties must 
adhere to Company Policy, including this Code and must be documented in a formal written agreement. This agreement must be signed by a 
company officer and is subject to legal review and approval.  
   
We may not retain a sales agent or marketing representative if they, anyone they employ, their close relative or anyone financially interested in 
their business, works for, or is an official of an actual or potential Scio Diamond customer. To obtain a specific exception to this rule, contact the 
CEO or CFO who will consult legal counsel as appropriate.  
   
There are specific rules regarding compensation for sales agents and marketing representatives. These rules must be followed fully, unless 
otherwise permitted through an approved agreement executed by an officer of the company. We must inform all third parties working on Scio 
Diamond’s behalf about our Code, and they must agree to follow it with respect to all activities they conduct on behalf of Scio Diamond. In 
addition, distributors, agents, and dealers must agree to a provision relating to business ethics.  
   
Making Ethical Decisions  
We all take pride in our work and in the choices we make on behalf of Scio Diamond. These choices may be more difficult to make when we 
encounter ethical challenges. Our Code helps us recognize and resolve these challenges. When faced with a difficult ethical decision, ask 
yourself the following questions to determine whether the action you are contemplating is appropriate:  
   
• Am I adhering to the letter and spirit of our Company’s policies and all applicable laws and regulations?  
• Is my action consistent with Scio Diamond’s values and the principles set forth in our Code?  
• Would I be acting in the best interests of Scio Diamond, my coworkers and our customers?  
• What would my family, friends or neighbors think of my action?  
• Would I want my action reported on the front page of a newspaper or on the Internet?  
   
If you are still unsure about what to do, do not take action. Instead, review the relevant sections of our Code, Employee Handbook or other 
Company policies. Ask for help by speaking with your manager or supervisor. Seek guidance from any of the other appropriate points of contact 
listed in this document.  
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Asking Questions and Raising Concerns  
In the course of our business, there may be times when we need to seek advice or raise concerns about a potential ethical or legal violation. 
Doing so provides Scio Diamond the opportunity to properly address the issue. The reporting process is flexible, allowing you to raise concerns 
in several ways. In most cases, you should first contact your manager or supervisor. If this is not possible or practical, or if you would feel more 
comfortable discussing the matter with someone else, you may contact any of the following individuals:  
   

• The Company’s Human Resources consultant, InnovateHR (864-451-7809)  
• The Company’s Legal Counsel  
• The Chief Financial Officer  
• The Chief Executive Officer  
• The Chairman of the Board  
• The Chairman of the Board’s audit committee  
• The Chairman of the Board’s governance committee  

   
If you know or suspect that one of our business partners is engaging in ethical or legal misconduct, please speak with one of the appropriate 
contacts listed above.  
   
Anonymity and Confidentiality  
When you contact someone from Scio Diamond about an ethics concern, you may remain anonymous. External parties may contact Scio 
Diamond at 864-751-4880. You may also make an anonymous report by calling InnovateHR at 864-451-7809 or by emailing via the Scio 
Diamond web site using general inquiries email form (http://www.sciodiamond.com/contact-us/general-inquiries). Please direct the inquiry or 
report to an appropriate, named contact and please provide as much detail as possible.  
   
Guidelines for Raising Concerns  
Experience shows that many issues are best resolved locally between an employee and their supervisor. It is never easy to raise concerns about 
possible misconduct. Doing so requires honesty and courage. Listed below are some general ideas on how to discuss your concern with 
management:  
   

1. Schedule a specific time to discuss your concern with your supervisor, your manager or any other point of contact listed above.  
2. Discuss your concerns calmly and professionally.  
3. Provide all relevant facts and identify your concerns about the possible impact of the potential misconduct.  
4. Thank the individual for their time and their attention to the issue.  

   
If this approach does not work or does not seem appropriate to your particular circumstances, one of the contacts listed above should be notified.  
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Guidelines for Receiving Concerns  
If you are a manager or supervisor, your reaction when employees bring concerns forward is very important. Listed below are some general 
guidelines on how to respond when an employee raises a concern:  
   
1. Ensure you have enough time to adequately discuss the concern. If not, schedule an alternate time and communicate to the employee that this 
change will ensure that he or she has your full attention. If appropriate, conduct the meeting in a private location.  
2. Listen carefully and remain respectful, calm and professional at all times.  
3. Avoid intimidating or judgmental behavior.  
   
Zero Tolerance for Retaliation  
Raising concerns helps Scio Diamond respond to problems as soon as possible. Scio Diamond will not tolerate retaliation against any employee 
for reporting an ethics or compliance issue in good faith or for participating in an investigation in good faith. Reporting potential misconduct or 
participating in an investigation in “good faith” means making a genuine attempt to provide honest, complete and accurate information, even if it 
later proves to be mistaken or unsubstantiated. These actions may not be the basis for any form of retaliation, including an improper denial of 
benefits, termination, demotion, suspension, threats, poor performance evaluation, intimidation, harassment or discrimination.  
   
We must treat all fellow employees who raise concerns in a respectful manner. Retaliation is a violation of our Code and could result in 
disciplinary action, up to and including termination. If you know or suspect that you or a coworker has experienced retaliation, please contact 
anyone listed above.  
   
Following Our Code  
We take the guidelines in our Code seriously and strive to follow them conscientiously at all times. Please note that violations of the law, Scio 
Diamond policy or our Code may lead to disciplinary action, up to and including termination. In addition, such violations may result in civil or 
criminal consequences for both the persons involved and Scio Diamond.  
   
Working @ Scio Diamond  
Inclusion and Diversity  
Scio Diamond values different ideas, opinions and experiences and is committed to continually advancing a culture of inclusion and diversity. 
While each of us has a right to our own personal beliefs and values, we may not impose these beliefs or values on others in the workplace. This 
means we may not use Company facilities or communications tools (e-mail, intranet, bulletin boards, etc.) to advocate religious, political, or 
other potentially sensitive personal beliefs. Employees responsible for Scio Diamond’s corporate charitable contributions must ensure they are 
not used to promote such issues.  
   
EMPLOYEES SHOULD REFER TO THE EMPLOYEE HANDBOOK FOR MORE SPECIFICS.  
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Discrimination  
To maintain an inclusive and diverse work environment, we must each take steps to ensure our workplace provides equal employment and 
advancement opportunities, incentives and discipline. In so doing, we may not make employment-related decisions based on any characteristics 
protected by applicable law, such as age, color, gender, gender identity, national origin, physical or mental disability, race, religion, sexual 
orientation or any other legally protected personal basis. For those of us working on government contracts or programs involving export control 
information, government security rules or contract requirements may restrict certain work to individuals holding the appropriate clearance or 
export authorization. If you know of, suspect or personally experience discrimination, report the situation to a manager or supervisor you trust, 
the Human Resources department or any of the points of contact listed in the section titled “Asking Questions and Raising Concerns.”  
   
Harassment  
Harassment has no place at Scio Diamond. Although legal definitions of “harassment” may differ, our Company considers it to include any form 
of unwelcome conduct toward another person that has the purpose or effect of creating an intimidating, hostile or offensive work environment 
for that person. Harassing conduct can be committed by an employee or a non-employee and can take many forms, including making gestures or 
remarks, touching or displaying pictures. Promises of promotion or special treatment in return for sexual favors also constitutes harassment.  
   
Scio Diamond will not tolerate any such conduct, regardless of whether a harassment claim is enforceable under local law. If you or someone 
else you know has faced or is facing harassing behavior, report this immediately to a manager or supervisor you trust, InnovateHR or any of the 
points of contact listed in the “Asking Questions and Raising Concerns” section of our Code.  
   
Employee Privacy  
Our relationships with our fellow employees and our Company are built on mutual trust and respect. To maintain these relationships, we must 
each do our part to keep employees’ personal information confidential. We do this by following Scio Diamond’s internal control procedures and 
by complying with related legislation in the countries where we do business. This means we may not access without proper authorization any 
system, database or record containing prospective, current or former employee personal information.  
   
Those of us who have access to employees’ personal information have an obligation to exercise caution before disclosing it. We may only 
disclose employment record information if permitted to do so by law. We may provide this information to another Scio Diamond employee if he 
or she has a substantial and legitimate business need to know it.  
   
Employee medical records are confidential and private. We may only disclose employee medical information if we are permitted to do so by law 
or if the employee concerned has given us written permission to do so. If you have any questions about this policy, please contact the 
InnovateHR at 864-451-7809.  
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Safety and Security  
Each of us has a right to a safe and secure workplace. To help make that possible, we are all accountable to protect ourselves and our fellow 
employees. We must follow all safety policies and procedures and promptly report any unsafe work conditions, as well as job-related injuries or 
illnesses, to our supervisor.  
   
We must also be familiar with our site’s Emergency Response Plan. If you or someone else is in potential danger, please act in accordance with 
your site’s plan, which includes contacting local emergency responders immediately.  
   
Ensuring a safe workplace also means minimizing the potential for violence on our Company’s premises or when engaging in business on Scio 
Diamond’s behalf. This means employees may not:  
   
• Engage in any sort of workplace violence, including threats, threatening behavior, harassment, intimidation, assaults and similar conduct  
• Carry weapons without prior written approval from the CEO or CFO.  
   
We also must be alert to and report the presence of unknown individuals or unusual activities that could lead to theft or harm to Scio Diamond 
property or personnel. Report any security concerns, incidents or suspicious activities to your manager, your supervisor, a Scio Diamond security 
representative, or the CEO or CFO as quickly as possible.  
   
Drugs and Alcohol  
To maintain a safe workplace and to ensure we deliver the highest quality products and services to our customers, it is essential that we are able 
to think clearly and react quickly. For this reason, we may never be impaired by, use, or consume illegal or unauthorized drugs or alcohol while 
acting on behalf of the Company (i.e. while on company premises, or while on Company business). In addition we may never possess, sell, or 
buy illegal or unauthorized drugs while acting on behalf of the Company. The only exception to these rules is when alcohol is consumed in 
limited amounts at authorized Company events or business dinners. In such cases, we are required to strictly observe any applicable laws 
regarding alcohol consumption.  
   
Environmental Responsibility  
By working on Scio Diamond’s behalf, we have made a commitment to care for the environment and respect the communities where we do 
business. This requires that we act in a respectful manner toward our environment, meeting or exceeding the requirements set forth by applicable 
environmental laws and regulations, as well as Scio Diamond policies. We must avoid negative impacts on our environment, including the soil, 
air and water we share, and the communities in which we operate, and we need to perform our job duties in a responsible manner at all times. 
We must report potential environmental issues and seek advice regarding how to comply with environmental laws and regulations whenever 
necessary.  
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If you know or suspect that an environmental hazard exists or that environmental guidelines are not being followed, report the situation to your 
manager, your supervisor or the CEO or CFO immediately.  
   
Human Rights  
We are committed to conducting our business in a manner that respects and advances human rights based on our values and operating principles. 
We uphold human rights at all times and in all locations, regardless of local business customs.  
   
In particular, we are committed to:  
   
• Providing safe and secure conditions for those working on our Company’s behalf  
• Protecting the environment  
• Following all applicable wage and hour laws  
• Strictly prohibiting human trafficking and the use of child or forced labor, including prison or bonded labor  
• Treating each other fairly and equitably.  
   
To ensure that every facet of our business upholds these standards, we seek business partners who share these commitments.  
   
Accurate Records  
When it comes to preparing Scio Diamond’s corporate records, honesty and transparency are our guides. Each of us has a responsibility to 
ensure that the information contained in all of our business records — including our time cards, expense reports, sales records, purchase orders 
and production records — is full, fair, accurate, timely and understandable. We accomplish this by only providing information that is completed 
in accordance with our internal control procedures. If you are unsure how to represent information in a Scio Diamond report or document, refer 
to the Employee Handbook or contact your manager, CEO or CFO.  
   
Our commitment to acting ethically and honestly requires that we engage in legitimate and authorized business transactions. We may never make 
a false representation on behalf of Scio Diamond, whether verbally or in writing. In addition, we must not hide Scio Diamond funds, 
mischaracterize Company transactions, create unrecorded fund accounts or knowingly allow similar illegal activities to occur.  
   
If you have accounting, recordkeeping or auditing concerns, contact your manager, your supervisor, the CFO, an internal auditor or the 
Chairman of the Scio Diamond Board of Directors Audit committee. You can also contact the Scio Diamond Audit Committee anonymously by 
mail, c/o the Scio Diamond Corporate Secretary, 411 University Ridge, Suite D, Greenville, SC 29601, USA.  
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Records Retention  
Properly creating, maintaining and destroying records are important aspects of keeping accurate business records. We must retain all Scio 
Diamond records in conformity with the guidelines set forth in our records retention schedules, as well as U.S. and local laws. These records 
retention schedules dictate the length of time companies must keep business records, as well as the way in which these records are to be 
destroyed.  
   
If you are notified by a Company lawyer that you possess records relevant to anticipated or pending litigation, an investigation or audit, follow 
the guidelines set forth in that notification. Do not destroy, alter or conceal any covered documents (including computer files, e-mails and disks) 
in response to or in anticipation of any such Company notification, government proceeding or lawsuit.  
   
If you have a question related to the retention of a document you possess, contact the Company Legal department before taking any action.  
   
Internal and Government Investigations  
From time to time, Scio Diamond conducts internal investigations of ethics and compliance issues. Everyone has a duty to cooperate and provide 
honest information in connection with an investigation when asked. Anyone who fails to cooperate with or obstructs an investigation in any way, 
or fails to comply with these guidelines, will be subject to appropriate discipline, up to and including termination.  
   
In addition, we are expected to fully cooperate with any government investigation. If you learn about a possible government investigation or 
inquiry, inform your manager, your supervisor or company officer immediately. Be sure to submit any subpoenas or written requests for 
information to the Company Counsel before taking or promising any action. If you are approached outside the workplace by a government 
investigator, you have the right to consult the Company Counsel (or your own private legal counsel) before speaking with the investigator.  
   
With respect to all investigations, you must never:  
   

   
What is a Conflict of Interest?  
A conflict of interest occurs when personal interests interfere with, or appear to interfere with, our ability to make objective judgments in the best 
interest of Scio Diamond. Avoiding actual or apparent conflicts of interest creates and sustains the trust of our customers and other business 
partners, our fellow employees and the public, so it is critical for all of us to be vigilant in this area. While it is impossible to address every 
situation where a conflict of interest may arise, the following sections address the most common scenarios.  
   
   

•  Destroy, alter or conceal any Scio Diamond document in anticipation of, or in response to, a request for these documents from Scio 
Diamond investigators, government agencies or courts  

•  Make any incomplete, false or misleading statement to any Scio Diamond or government investigator  
•  Try to influence anyone else to provide incomplete, false or misleading information to any Scio Diamond or government investigator  
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Relations between Employees  
Conflicts of interest commonly arise when personal relationships exist between employees. Even if these relationships do not improperly 
influence sound, objective business decisions, they may appear to have such an effect. This is especially true when we have direct or indirect 
reporting relationships with romantic partners or family members. In addition, it will likely appear improper if we perform paid or unpaid work 
for someone to whom we directly or indirectly report. As a general rule, avoid these situations. If you have a personal relationship that might 
appear to influence your judgment, disclose it promptly to your manager or supervisor, Human Resources or the Company Legal department.  
   
Personal Gain from Corporate Opportunities  
During the course of our employment at Scio Diamond, we may learn about business opportunities in which we are personally interested. We 
may not pursue or direct a third party to pursue any opportunity we learn about in connection with our employment or through the use of 
Company property or information, unless we have obtained written approval from the Company Legal department.  
   
Doing Business with Family Members  
We must be cautious when one of our immediate family members works for a company with which Scio Diamond does or intends to do 
business. If you find yourself in such a situation and your job involves making business decisions in relation to that company, you must disclose 
the situation immediately to your manager, your supervisor, or the Company Legal department.  
   
Investing in Outside Businesses  
A conflict of interest may arise if you or a family member holds a financial interest in a privately owned enterprise with which Scio Diamond 
does business or competes. The potential for a conflict of interest in this situation generally depends on the size of your investment, your role at 
Scio Diamond and the business relationship between Scio Diamond and the other company. You must obtain prior written approval from the 
Company Legal department before making such an investment.  
   
Outside Employment  
We must be careful to ensure that our outside interests and activities do not conflict with our obligations to Scio Diamond. Since outside 
employment may make us appear biased or harm our ability to make decisions in the best interest of Scio Diamond, we may not be employed by, 
work as a consultant for, or be affiliated with a Scio Diamond competitor, customer or supplier without prior written approval from the Company 
Human Resources department and Legal department.  
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Gifts and Entertainment  
Conducting business with integrity means never seeking to improperly influence business decisions. For this reason, it is important for each of us 
to exercise common sense and good judgment when giving or receiving business courtesies. A “business courtesy” is the payment of anything of 
value, including cash, entertainment, meals, social events, sporting events, favors, gratuities, discounts and services. In general, we may not offer 
or accept a business courtesy if it:  

   
• Violates any law, regulation or policy applicable to the giver or recipient  
• May be considered a bribe, payoff or kickback  
• Violates customary business practices  
• Gives the appearance of impropriety or could give rise to a conflict of interest  

   
We must always avoid situations where business courtesies could harm the reputation of our Company or those of us involved. Please note that 
we may never attempt to circumvent these rules by using our personal funds or by engaging an agent or representative to pay for any business 
courtesy that we cannot pay for ourselves. The rules outlined in this section also govern the actions of our family members and close friends, as 
well as those of Scio Diamond’s agents and representatives. Any exceptions to these guidelines must be specifically approved in writing by the 
CEO and CFO (or his or her designee) and the Company Counsel.  
   
Commercial Business Courtesies  
Offering business courtesies to commercial (non-government) customers: Exchanging reasonable and limited business courtesies with 
commercial customers is considered a legitimate business practice worldwide. While we must never offer such courtesies to improperly obtain or 
retain business, we may offer them to develop good will with our customers and to promote our Company’s goods and services.  
You may provide representatives of commercial customers any of the following:  
   

   
We may not offer lavish, extravagant or unreasonable business courtesies, such as travel and overnight lodging.  
   
Accepting business courtesies from commercial customers:  
The guidelines that govern giving business courtesies to commercial customers also apply when accepting business courtesies from them. At no 
time may we solicit a business courtesy or promise a business decision in return for such a courtesy. If you are offered a business courtesy or gift 
that exceeds nominal or token value, or that seems inconsistent with our business practices, you should refuse it and report it to your manager or 
supervisor.  
   
   

•  Entertainment attended by the representative and yourself that is reasonable, infrequent, for a legitimate business reason, consistent with 
normal industry practices and local laws, and used to foster business relationships with the customer (such as sporting events and meals)  

•  Holiday gifts in connection with a recognized local holiday or event  
•  Scio Diamond promotional items of token value that bear the Scio Diamond identifier (name, logo, etc.) and are distributed to all 

customers for advertising or commemorative purposes or to generate good will.  
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Fair Dealing  
Although we at Scio Diamond compete vigorously to be an industry leader, we must do so fairly, being careful to communicate with honesty and 
to represent accurately the quality, features and availability of our products and services. This means maintaining high standards of fairness and 
honesty when engaging in marketing, promotional and advertising activities and refraining from making disparaging or untrue statements about 
our competitors’ products or services.  
   
Through our work, we may also come across nonpublic competitor information that would give our Company a competitive advantage. We must 
be particularly careful to gather and receive this information in a lawful and ethical manner. While it may be legal for us to use certain 
competitive information, it might not be ethical or wise for us to do so. We therefore may never use or disclose such information without 
receiving prior permission from our manager or supervisor.  
   
If you are bidding on a government contract and receive source selection information that the government uses in evaluating bids or proposals, 
contact the Company Counsel immediately.  
   
Fair Competition  
Scio Diamond competes ethically and legally in the global marketplace. At no time may we engage in activities that unfairly limit free trade or 
competition. In order to compete fairly, we must follow the antitrust and competition laws in place in the countries where we do business. These 
laws are designed to preserve a fair and level playing field for all businesses by prohibiting formal and informal agreements and practices that 
improperly restrain trade.  
   
To comply with these laws, we may never discuss with competitors activities that may restrain trade, such as price fixing, bid rigging, or 
improperly dividing or allocating markets, territories or customers. Antitrust and competition laws also prohibit entering into formal or informal 
agreements with suppliers, distributors or customers that may improperly restrict competition. Such agreements include tying products, fixing 
resale prices or refusing to sell to particular customers or buy from particular suppliers.  
   
Exercise particular caution when discussing any of these topics, especially when attending industry association meetings. If a discussion ensues 
regarding a prohibited topic, stop the conversation immediately and report it to the Company Counsel. If you have questions regarding antitrust 
and competition laws, contact the Company Counsel immediately.  
   
Securities Trading  
During the course of our employment at Scio Diamond, we may come to know information about our Company or our business partners before it 
is disclosed to the public. This information is often called “inside” or “material, nonpublic” information. According to securities laws, 
information is considered “material” if it would influence an investor to buy, sell or hold the securities of the company about which the 
information relates. Information is “nonpublic” until it has been publicly disclosed and a sufficient amount of time has passed for the securities 
market to absorb the information.  
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Because we work for a U.S. company that is publicly traded, we are obligated to understand and comply with the laws that relate to the use of 
inside information. In general, these laws state that we may not buy or sell a company’s stock if we hold inside information about that company. 
This practice, which is known as “insider trading,” violates both our Code and the law. Some common examples of “inside” information may 
include discussions of mergers and acquisitions; changes in a company’s senior management or executive structure; or sensitive corporate 
financial information.  
   
We are also prohibited from “tipping” or sharing such information with a family member or friend who then buys or sells a security based upon 
that information. In such a situation, the person disclosing the information may be liable for violating securities laws, even if he or she did not 
personally make a trade.  
   
In addition, the Board of Directors, Company Officers and any employees in possession of non-public information will strictly adhere to any 
trading “blackout” window as published by the CFO.  
   
If you have questions about these complex laws or need assistance in determining whether information you possess is inside information, contact 
the Company Legal department or the Scio Diamond Corporate Secretary.  
   
Fraud and Theft  
By working for Scio Diamond, we have made a commitment to each other, our Company and our shareholders to protect and use our Company’s 
assets appropriately and for business purposes. Such assets include physical property, intellectual property, information technology and our 
Company’s reputation. Scio Diamond will promptly investigate, and where appropriate, prosecute reported incidents of fraud or theft of its 
assets. You should promptly report any suspected theft, loss or abuse of Company assets to your manager or supervisor, or InnovateHR or Legal 
Counsel.  
   
Physical Assets  
We all work hard to create and manage our Company’s physical assets. These assets include Scio Diamond’s products, money, facilities, 
vehicles and equipment. We must safeguard this highly valuable property and protect it at all times. We each have a personal responsibility to 
ensure that we use our Company’s assets only to promote Scio Diamond’s business interests.  
   
Intellectual Property  
Scio Diamond’s intellectual property is at least as valuable as our physical assets, if not more so, and we must protect it carefully. Intellectual 
property (or “IP”) includes patents, trademarks, copyrights and trade secrets, as well as technical data and software developed under or used in 
support of customer contracts.  
   
In general, Scio Diamond retains exclusive ownership of the IP in any idea, process, trademark, invention or improvement we conceive in 
relation to our work with our Company. Our obligation to protect intellectual property continues even after our employment ends. A “trade 
secret” is information that generally is not known or reasonably ascertainable by the public and gives Scio Diamond a competitive advantage. 
Some examples include:  
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At times, we may refer to trade secrets as “confidential” or “proprietary” information. We may only disclose this information to coworkers who 
have a legitimate business need to know it, and we generally should not disclose this information to persons outside the Company.  
   
The only exceptions to this rule occur when:  
   

   
We must also respect the IP belonging to others. In part, this means we may only acquire third-party proprietary information after obtaining both 
written permission from the third party and legal advice from the Company Legal department. Once you possess third-party proprietary 
information, you must protect it according to the terms of the written agreement.  
   
Any unsolicited third-party proprietary information received by you should be forwarded immediately upon receipt, without any examination or 
review, to the Company Counsel. Also, you must avoid any unlicensed use of a third party’s invention (including patents, utility models and 
design patents), identifier (such as a name, trademark or logo) or work (such as photographs, printed materials or software). You may never 
knowingly make use of such IP without obtaining prior permission from the third-party owner.  
   
If you have any questions, consult the Company Counsel.  
   
Information Technology  
One of our Company’s most valued assets is its information technology. We should always use this technology for responsible and authorized 
business purposes, meaning we may never access Scio Diamond’s network systems to download or communicate inappropriate, unprofessional, 
inflammatory or illegal content. This includes obscene, profane, sexually harassing, socially or ethnically offensive, or defamatory messages, 
pictures and videos. In addition, remember that only Scio Diamond-approved software may be downloaded onto your Company computer.  
   
   

•  Technical information about current or planned products and/or processes  
•  Procurement plans, supplier lists or purchase prices  
•  Cost, pricing, marketing or service strategies  
•  Nonpublic earnings reports and other financial reports  
•  Information related to divestitures, mergers and acquisitions  

1)  This information is protected against unauthorized use or further disclosure by a signed confidentiality agreement, or  
2)  Your manager or supervisor determines that the information is not considered a trade secret, and therefore may be released.  
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Since the information technology we use when working for Scio Diamond belongs to our Company, we also should not expect that e-mails, 
Internet activity or voicemails transmitted or received on Scio Diamond’s network systems are private. Scio Diamond reserves the right to 
review e-mail and Internet activity, and will do so in accordance with local law. Accessing any employee e-mail account requires the approval of 
Human Resources, the Scio Diamond Legal department and either the Chief Financial Officer, the Chief Executive Officer, the Chairman of the 
Board of directors or Chairman of the Board’s Audit Committee.  
   
Evidence of abuse of Scio Diamond-provided network systems may result in termination of access and disciplinary action.  
   
Statements to the Media and Investment Analysts  
It is important for Scio Diamond to provide the public with accurate and consistent information regarding our operations. We may only make 
public statements regarding issues or matters for which we are authorized spokespersons. If a member of the media contacts you about a Scio 
Diamond matter, refer him or her to either the Director of Public Relations or the Chief Executive Officer. If an analyst approaches you, you 
should refer him or her to either the Director of Investor Relations, the Chief Financial Officer or the Chief Executive Officer.  
   
Waivers and Amendments  
In certain limited circumstances and upon written request to the Scio Diamond Chief Executive Officer and the Chairmen of the Board’s Audit 
and Governance committees, Scio Diamond may find it appropriate to waive applicability of a provision of our Code. Waivers of our Code for 
executive officers and directors may be made only by the Board of Directors and will be publicly disclosed when required by regulation or law. 
Scio Diamond reserves the right to make unilateral changes at any time to our Code or any Company policy or procedure. Nothing contained in 
our Code or in any referenced Company policy or procedure should be construed as modifying the employment-at-will relationship.  
   
Contact Information:  
   

HR Matters:  
InnovateHR  
10 Airport Road  
Greenville, SC 29601  
(864) 451 7809  
   
Legal Matters  
David L Young, Esq.  
Best & Flanagan LLP  
225 South Sixth Street  
Suite 4000  
Minneapolis, MN 55402  
(612) 339 5897  
dyoung@bestlaw.com  
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General Inquiries  
Scio Diamond Technology Corporation  
411 University Ridge  
Suite D  
Greenville, SC  
29601  
(864) 751 4880  
info@sciodiamond.com  

   
Adopted: 05/07/2015  
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Exhibit 10.14B  

   
SCIO DIAMOND TECHNOLOGY CORPORATION  

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE GUIDELINES  
   

   

   
These Corporate Governance Guidelines are established by the Board of Directors of Scio Diamond Technology Corporation Inc. (Scio 
Diamond or the Company) to provide a structure within which our directors and management can effectively pursue the Company’s 
objectives for the benefit of its stockholders.  
   
The Board is elected by the stockholders to oversee their interest in the long-term health and the overall success of the business and its 
financial strength.  
   
The Board serves as the ultimate decision-making body of the Company, except for those matters reserved to or shared with the 
stockholders. The Board selects and oversees the members of senior management, who are charged by the Board with conducting the 
business of the Company.  
   
The Board intends that these guidelines serve as a flexible framework within which the Board may conduct its business, not as a set of 
binding legal obligations. These guidelines should be interpreted in the context of all applicable laws, Scio Diamond’s charter documents 
and other governing legal documents and Scio Diamond’s company policies.  
   

   

   
   

1. Introduction 
2. Board Structure and Composition 
3. Principal Duties of the Board of Directors 
4. Board Procedures 
5. Board Committees 
6. Director Orientation and Continuing Education 
7. Board Performance 
8. Board Compensation 
9. Auditor Rotation 
10. Communications with Stockholders 
11. Periodic Review of the Corporate Governance Guidelines 

1)  Introduction  

2)  Board Structure and Composition  

a)  Size of the Board. The authorized number of directors will be determined from time to time by resolution of the Board and in 
accordance with the official company By-Laws.  

b)  Board Membership Criteria. The Corporate Governance Committee will evaluate candidates for membership on the Board, including 
candidates nominated or recommended by stockholders, in light of criteria established by the Board, and recommend to the Board the 
slate of nominees for election at the Annual Meeting of Stockholders or nominees for election to fill interim vacancies on the Board.  



   

   

   

   
   

c)  Director Independence. A majority of directors on the Board will be independent as required by the NASDAQ Stock Market. The 
Board also believes that it is often in the best interest of Scio Diamond and its stockholders to have non-independent directors, 
including current and (in some cases) former members of management, serve as directors. Each independent Director who experiences 
a change in circumstances that could affect such Director’s independence should deliver a notice of such change to Scio Diamond’s 
Counsel.  

d)  Director Tenure. Directors are reelected each year and the Board does not believe it should establish term limits because directors who 
have developed increasing insight into Scio Diamond and its operations over time provide an increasing contribution to the Board as a 
whole. To ensure the Board continues to generate new ideas and to operate effectively, the Governance Committee shall monitor 
performance and take steps as necessary regarding continuing director tenure.  

e)  Directors Who Change Their Present Job Responsibility. Any Director who experiences a material change in his/her job 
responsibilities or the position he/she held when he/she came on the Board should deliver a notice of such change in status to the 
Chairman of the Board and/or the Chairman of the Governance Committee. The Governance Committee will then evaluate whether the 
individual continues to satisfy the Board’s membership criteria in light of his/her new occupational status and shall recommend to the 
Board the action, if any, to be taken with respect to such individual.  

3)  Principal Duties of the Board of Directors  

a)  To Oversee Management and Evaluate Strategy. The fundamental responsibility of the directors is to exercise their business 
judgment to act in what they reasonably believe to be the best interests of Scio Diamond and its stockholders. It is the duty of the Board 
to oversee management’s performance to ensure that the Company operates in an effective, efficient and ethical manner in order to 
produce value for Scio Diamond’s stockholders. The Board also evaluates the Company’s overall strategy and monitors Scio 
Diamond’s performance against its operating plan and against the performance of its peers. Additionally, the Board has responsibility 
for risk oversight, with reviews of certain areas being conducted by the relevant board committees. The Board is responsible for 
oversight of strategic, financial and execution risks and exposures associated with Scio Diamond’s business strategy, product 
innovation and sales road map, policy matters, significant litigation and regulatory exposures, and other current matters that may 
present material risk to the Company’s financial performance, operations, infrastructure, plans, prospects or reputation, acquisitions and 
divestitures. Directors are expected to invest the time and effort necessary to understand Scio Diamond’s business and financial 
strategies and challenges. The basic duties of the directors include attending Board meetings and actively participating in Board 
discussions. Directors are also expected to make themselves available outside of board meetings for advice and consultation.  
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Directors are expected to prepare for, attend, and contribute meaningfully in all Board and applicable committee meetings in order to 
discharge their obligations. Consistent with their fiduciary duties, directors are expected to maintain the confidentiality of the Board and its 
committee’s deliberations in accordance with SEC, NASDAQ and FINRA requirements.  

   
   

b)  To Select the Chairman, Vice-Chairman, Secretary and Chief Executive Officer. The Board will select the chairman, vice-
chairman and secretary of the Board and the Chief Executive Officer in compliance with Scio Diamond’s Certificate of Incorporation 
and Bylaws. The chairman and vice-chairman of the board will not be a current employee of Scio Diamond, or someone employed by 
Scio Diamond any time within the prior three years, unless the appointment is approved by two-thirds of the disinterested directors. The 
duties of the secretary may be performed by a Board member, Scio Diamond employee or outside consultant as long as the Board 
deems the individual qualified to keep accurate minutes of all meetings, act as parliamentarian and provide guidance to the Board to 
ensure that the actions of the Board are well documented and adhere to all legal, Financial Industry Regulatory Authority (FINRA) and 
Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC) guidelines.  

c)  To Evaluate Management Performance and Compensation. At least annually, the Compensation Committee will evaluate the 
performance of the chief executive officer and the other officers. It will review and recommend the compensation plans, policies and 
arrangements for the board of directors, executive officers and other officers to the Board for approval. It will also evaluate the 
compensation plans, policies and programs for officers and employees to ensure they are appropriate, competitive and properly reflect 
the Company’s objectives and performance.  

d)  To Review Management Succession Planning. The Compensation Committee will review at least annually and recommend to the 
Board plans for the development, retention and replacement of executive officers of Scio Diamond.  

e)  To Monitor and Manage Potential Conflicts of Interest. All members of the Board must inform the Audit Committee of the Board of 
all types of transactions between them (directly or indirectly) and Scio Diamond as soon as reasonably practicable even if these 
transactions are in the ordinary course of business. The Audit Committee of the Board will review and approve all related party 
transactions for which audit committee approval is required by applicable law or the rules of the NASDAQ Stock Market. The Board 
will also ensure that there is no abuse of corporate assets or unlawful related party transactions.  

f)  To Ensure the Integrity of Financial Information. The Audit Committee of the Board evaluates the integrity of Scio Diamond’s 
accounting and financial reporting systems, including the audit of the Company’s annual financial statements by the independent 
auditors, and that appropriate disclosure controls and procedures and systems of internal control are in place. The Audit Committee 
reports to the Board on a regular basis and the Board, upon the recommendation of the Audit Committee, takes the actions that are 
necessary to ensure the integrity of Scio Diamond’s accounting and financial reporting systems and that such controls are in place in 
accordance with SEC and NASDAQ requirements.  

g)  To Monitor the Effectiveness of Board Governance Practices. The Corporate Governance Committee of the Board will annually 
review and evaluate the effectiveness of the governance practices under which the Board operates and make changes to these practices 
as needed.  

4)  Board Procedures  
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a)  Frequency of Board Meetings. Regular meetings of the Board shall be held at such times and places as determined by the Board. 
There will be at least four regularly scheduled meetings of the Board each year but the Board will meet more often if necessary.  

b)  Attendance at Board Meetings. To facilitate participation at the Board meetings, directors may attend in person, via telephone 
conference or via video-conference. Materials are distributed in advance of meetings.  

c)  Other Commitments. Each member of the Board is expected to ensure that other existing and future commitments, including 
employment responsibilities and service on the boards of other entities, do not materially interfere with the member’s service as 
director. The members of the Board cannot have more than three (3) public company board memberships, including membership on the 
Scio Diamond Board.  

d)  Board Membership Limits of the Chief Executive Officer. The chief executive officer cannot have more than three (3) public 
company board memberships, including membership on the Scio Diamond Board.  

e)  Executive Sessions of Independent Directors. NASDAQ rules require independent Board members to regularly meet in executive 
session. The independent Board members shall meet in executive session at each regularly scheduled Board meeting, and at other times 
as necessary. Committees of the Board may also meet in executive session as deemed appropriate.  

f)  Board Access to Management. Members of the Board will have access to Scio Diamond’s management and employees as needed to 
fulfill their duties. Furthermore, the Board encourages management to, from time to time, bring managers into meetings of the Board 
who: (a) can provide additional insight into the items being discussed because of personal involvement in these areas, and/or (b) are 
managers with future potential that senior management believes should be given exposure to the Board.  

g)  Code of Conduct. Scio Diamond has adopted a Code of Conduct to provide guidelines for the ethical conduct by directors, officers and 
employees. The Code of Conduct is posted on Scio Diamond’s website.  

h)  Engaging Experts. The Board and each committee of the Board will have the authority to obtain advice, reports or opinions from 
internal and external counsel and expert advisers and will have the power to hire, at the expense of Scio Diamond, legal, financial and 
other advisers as they may deem necessary or appropriate with the understanding that such effort will be in coordination with the 
CEO/CFO as appropriate.  

i)  Minimum Stock Ownership Requirement. In an effort to more closely align the interests of our directors and senior management 
with those of our stockholders, each director and senior officer will be required to meet the following minimum stock ownership 
requirements: (i) each director shall own at least 100,000 shares of Scio Diamond stock; (ii) our chief executive officer shall own at 
least 400,000 (four hundred thousand) shares of Scio Diamond stock. Our directors shall have five years from the date they became a 
director of Scio Diamond to come into compliance with these ownership requirements. Our chief executive officer shall have five years 
from the later of (x) December 1, 2014 or (y) the date they assumed such roles at Scio Diamond to come into compliance with these 
ownership requirements. Scio Diamond advisors who don't receive annual equity grants are exempt from the minimum ownership 
requirements set forth above. Compliance with the minimum stock ownership level will be determined on the date when the grace 
period set forth above expires, and annually on each December 31 thereafter.  
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Scio Diamond provides an orientation program for new directors that includes written materials, oral presentations, and meetings with senior 
members of management. The orientation program is designed to familiarize new directors with Scio Diamond’s business and strategy. The 
Board believes that ongoing education is important for maintaining a current and effective Board. Accordingly, the Board encourages 
directors to participate in ongoing education, as well as participation in accredited director education programs. The Board will reimburse 
directors for expenses incurred in connection with these education programs.  
   

   
The Board develops and maintains a process whereby the Board, its committees and its members are subject to annual evaluation and self-
assessment. The Corporate Governance Committee oversees this process.  
   

   
The Compensation Committee of the Board has the responsibility to review and recommend to the Board compensation programs for non-
employee directors.  

   
   

5)  Board Committees  

a)  Number and Composition of Committees. The Board currently has the following standing committees: an Audit Committee, a 
Compensation Committee and a Corporate Governance Committee. From time to time the Board may form a new committee or disband 
a current committee depending on the circumstances. Each committee complies with the independence and other requirements 
established by applicable law and regulations, including SEC and NASDAQ rules.  

b)  Committee Appointments. Members of all standing committees are appointed by the Board. The Board determines the exact number 
of members and can at any time remove or replace a committee member.  

c)  Committee Proceedings. The Chair of each committee of the Board will, in consultation with appropriate committee members and 
members of management, and in accordance with the committee’s charter, determine the frequency and length of committee meetings 
and develop the committee’s agenda.  

6)  Director Orientation and Continuing Education  

7)  Board Performance  

8)  Board Compensation  
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The Audit Committee of the Board will ensure that the lead audit partner and the audit review partner be rotated every five (5) years as is 
required by SEC and NASDAQ rules.  
   

   

   
Scio Diamond Technology Corporation Inc.  
Attn: Investor Relations  
411 University Ridge, Suite D  
Greenville, SC 29601  

   
Email: investorrelations@sciodiamond.com  
   
Each communication should specify the applicable addressee or addressees to be contacted as well as the general topic of the 
communication. Scio Diamond will initially receive and process communications before forwarding them to the addressee. Scio 
Diamond generally will not forward to the directors a communication that it determines to be primarily commercial in nature or related 
to an improper or irrelevant topic, or that requests general information about the company.  
   

   

   
These guidelines shall be reviewed periodically by the Corporate Governance Committee (together with the Compensation Committee, as 
necessary) and the Board will make appropriate changes based on recommendations from the Committee(s).  
   

Adopted: 5/7/2015  
   
   

   

9)  Auditor Rotation  

10)  Communications with Stockholders  

a)  Stockholder Communications to the Board. Stockholders may contact the Board about bona fide issues or questions about Scio 
Diamond by sending mail or email to:  

b)  Annual Meeting of Stockholders. Each director is encouraged to attend the Annual Meeting of Stockholders.  

11)  Periodic Review of the Corporate Governance Guidelines  
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Exhibit 10.10A  

   
SCIO DIAMOND TECHNOLOGY CORPORATION  

   
AMENDED AND RESTATED 2012 SHARE INCENTIVE PLAN  

   
1.             Establishment, Purpose and Types of Awards . Scio Diamond Technology Corp., a Nevada corporation (the 

“Corporation”) hereby establishes the 2012 SHARE INCENTIVE PLAN (the “Plan”). The purpose of the Plan is to advance the interests of the 
Corporation by providing directors, selected employees and consultants of the Corporation with the opportunity to acquire shares of Common 
Stock. By encouraging stock ownership, the Corporation seeks to attract, retain and motivate the best available personnel for positions of 
substantial responsibility; to provide additional incentive to directors, selected employees and consultants of the Corporation to promote the 
success of the business as measured by the value of its shares; and generally to increase the commonality of interests among directors, 
employees, consultants and other shareholders.  

   
The Plan permits the granting of stock options (including incentive stock options within the meaning of Code Section 422 and non-

qualified stock options), stock appreciation rights, restricted or unrestricted stock awards, phantom stock, performance awards, other stock-based 
awards, or any combination of the foregoing.  

   
2.             Definitions . Under the Plan, except where the context otherwise indicates, the following definitions apply:  
   
“Administrator’ means the Board or the committee(s) or officer(s) appointed by the Board that have authority to administer the Plan as 

provided in Section 3 hereof.  
   
“Affiliate” means any entity, whether now or hereafter existing, which controls, is controlled by, or is under common control with, the 

Corporation, including, but not limited to, joint ventures, limited liability companies, and partnerships. For this purpose “control” shall mean 
ownership of 50% or more of the total combined voting power or value of all classes of stock or interests of the entity.  

   
“Award” means any stock option, stock appreciation right, stock award, phantom stock award, performance award, or other stock-

based award pursuant to the Plan.  
   
“Board” means the Board of Directors of the Corporation.  
   
“Cause” has the meaning ascribed to such term or words of similar import in Participant’s written employment or service contract with 

the Corporation and, in the absence of such agreement or definition, means Participant’s (i) conviction of or plea of guilty or nolo contendere to, 
a felony or crime involving moral turpitude; (ii) fraud on or misappropriation of any funds or property of the Corporation, any affiliate, customer 
or vendor; (iii) personal dishonesty, incompetence, willful misconduct, willful violation of any law, rule or regulation (other than minor traffic 
violations or similar offenses), or breach of fiduciary duty which involves personal profit; (iv) willful misconduct in connection with 
Participant’s duties’ or willful failure to perform Participant’s responsibilities in the best interests of the Corporation; (v) illegal use or 
distribution of drugs; (vi) violation of any Corporation rule, regulation, procedure or policy; or (vii) breach of any provision of any employment, 
nondisclosure, non-competition, non-solicitation or other similar agreement executed by Participant for the benefit of the Corporation, all as 
determined by the Administrator, which determination will be conclusive.  
   
   



   
“Change of Control” means if any of the following occurs:  
   
(i) any individual, firm, corporation or other entity, or any group (as defined in Section 13(d)(3) or the Exchange Act becomes, directly 

or indirectly, the beneficial owner (as defined in the general rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission with respect to 
Sections 13(d) and 13(g) of the Act) of more than 35% of the then outstanding shares of the Corporation’s capital stock entitled vote generally in 
the election of directors of the Corporation; or  

   
(ii) the stockholders of the Corporation approve a definitive agreement for (i) the merger or other business combination of the 

Corporation with or into another corporation pursuant to which the stockholders of the Corporation do not own, immediately after the 
transaction, more than 50% of the voting power of the corporation that survives and is a publicly owned corporation and not a subsidiary of 
another corporation, or (ii) the sale, exchange or other disposition of all or substantially all of the assets of the Corporation.  

   
To the extent required by Section 409A of the Code, Change of Control shall have the same meaning as set forth in Section 409A.  
   
“Code” means the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, and any regulations promulgated thereunder.  
   
“Common Stock” means the Corporation’s common stock, par value $0.001 per share.  
   
“Corporation” means Scio Diamond Technology Corp., a Nevada corporation.  
   
“Consultant” means an individual consultant or advisor who renders or has rendered bona fide services, including acting as distributors 

for the Corporation’s product line(s), other than services in connection with the offering or sale of securities of the Corporation in a capital-
raising transaction or as a market maker or promoter of the Corporation’s securities.  

   
“Disability” shall mean the inability to engage in any substantial gainful activity by reason of any medically determinable physical or 

mental impairment which can be expected to result in death or which has lasted or can be expected to last for a continuous period of not less than 
twelve months. The Administrator may require such proof of Disability as the Administrator in its sole discretion deems appropriate and the 
Administrator’s good faith determination as to whether Participant is totally and permanently disabled will be final and binding on all parties 
concerned.  
   
   



   
“Employee” means any person employed by the Corporation or any affiliate, other than in the capacity as director, advisory director or 

comparable status.  
   
“Exchange Act” means the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended.  
   
“Fair Market Value” means, with respect to a share of Common Stock for any purpose on a particular date: the price as determined by 

the Board. For all purposes under the Plan, the term “relevant date” as used in this definition means the date as of which Fair Market Value is to 
be determined in the Administrator’s sole discretion.  

   
“Grant Agreement” means a written document memorializing the terms and conditions of an Award granted pursuant to the Plan. Each 

Grant Agreement shall incorporate the terms of the Plan.  
   
“Participants” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 5.  
   
“Parent” shall mean a corporation, whether now or hereafter existing, within the meaning of the definition of ’ ‘parent corporation”

provided in Code section 424(e), or any successor thereto.  
   
“Performance Goals” shall mean performance goals established by the Administrator which may be based on one or more business 

criteria selected by the Administrator that apply to an individual or group of individuals, the Corporation and/or one or more of its Affiliates 
either separately or together, over such performance period as the Administrator may designate, including, but not limited to, criteria based on 
operating income, earnings or earnings growth, sales, return on assets, equity or investment, regulatory compliance, satisfactory internal or 
external audits, improvement of financial ratings, achievement of balance sheet or income statement objectives, or any other objective goals 
established by the Administrator, and may be absolute in their terms or measured against or in relationship to other companies comparably, 
similarly or otherwise situated.  

   
“Subsidiary” and “Subsidiaries” shall mean only a corporation or corporations, whether now or hereafter existing, within the meaning 

of the definition of “subsidiary corporation” provided in section 424(f) of the Code, or any successor thereto.  
   
“Ten-Percent Stockholder” shall mean a Participant who (applying the rules of Code section 424(d) owns stock possessing more than 

10% of the total combined voting power or value of all classes of stock or interests of the Corporation.  
   
   



   
3.             Administration .  

   
(a)           Administration of the Plan . The Plan shall be administered by the Board or a committee that may be appointed by the Board 

from time to time. To the extent allowed by applicable state or federal law, the Board by resolution may authorize an officer or officers to grant 
Awards (other than stock Awards) to other officers and employees of the Corporation and its Affiliates, and, to the extent of such authorization, 
such officer or officers shall be the Administrator.  

   
(b)           Powers of the Administrator . The Administrator shall have all the powers vested in it by the terms of the Plan, such powers to 

include authority, in its sole discretion, to grant Awards under the Plan, prescribe Grant Agreements evidencing such Awards and establish 
programs for granting Awards.  

   
The Administrator shall have full power and authority to take all other actions necessary to carry out the purpose and intent of the Plan, 

including, but not limited to, the authority to: (i) determine the eligible persons to whom, and the time or times at which, Awards shall be 
granted; (ii) determine the types of Awards to be granted; (iii) determine the number of shares to be covered by or used for reference purposes 
for each Award; (iv) impose such terms, limitations, restrictions and conditions (not inconsistent with the Plan) upon any such Award as the 
Administrator shall deem appropriate, including, but not limited to, whether a stock option shall be an incentive stock option or a nonqualified 
stock option, any exceptions to non-transferability, any Performance Goals applicable to Awards, any provisions relating to vesting, any 
circumstances in which the Awards would terminate, the period during which Awards may be exercised, and the period during which Awards 
shall be subject to restrictions; (v) modify, amend, extend or renew outstanding Awards, or accept the surrender of outstanding Awards and 
substitute new Awards (provided however, that, except as provided in Section 6 or 7(d) of the Plan, any modification that would materially 
adversely affect any outstanding Award shall not be made Without the consent of the holder); (vi) accelerate, extend or otherwise change the 
time in which an Award may be exercised or becomes payable and to waive or accelerate the lapse, in whole or in part, of any restriction or 
condition with respect to such Award, including, but not limited to, any restriction or condition with respect to the vesting or exercisability of an 
Award following termination of any grantee’s employment or other relationship with the Corporation or an Affiliate; (vii) establish objectives 
and conditions (including, without limitation, vesting criteria), if any, for earning Awards and determining whether such objectives and 
conditions have been satisfied; (viii) determine the Fair Market Value of the Common Stock from time to time in accordance with the Plan; and 
(be) for any purpose, including but not limited to, qualifying for preferred tax treatment under foreign tax laws or otherwise complying with the 
regulatory requirements of local or foreign jurisdictions, to establish, amend, modify, administer or terminate sub-plans, and prescribe, amend 
and rescind rules and regulations relating to such sub-plans.  

   
The Administrator shall have full power and authority, in its sole discretion, to administer and interpret the Plan, Grant Agreements and 

all other documents relevant to the Plan and Awards issued thereunder, and to adopt and interpret such rules, regulations, agreements, guidelines 
and instruments for the administration of the Plan and for the conduct of its business as the Administrator deems necessary or advisable.  
   
   



   
(c)           Non-Uniform Determinations . The Administrator’s determinations under the Plan (including, without limitation, 

determinations of the persons to receive Awards, the form, amount and timing of such Awards, the terms and provisions of such Awards and the 
Grant Agreements evidencing such Awards) need not be uniform and may be made by the Administrator selectively among persons who receive, 
or are eligible to receive, Awards under the Plan, whether or not such persons are similarly situated.  

   
(d)           Limited Liability . To the maximum extent permitted by law, no member of the Administrator shall be liable for any action 

taken or decision made in good faith relating to the Plan or any Award thereunder.  
   
(e)           Indemnification . To the maximum extent permitted by law and by the Corporation’s charter and by-laws, the members of the 

Administrator shall be indemnified by the Corporation in respect of all their activities under the Plan.  
   
(f)           Reliance on Reports . Each member of the Board shall be fully justified in relying or acting in good faith upon any report 

made by the accountants of the Corporation, and upon any other information furnished in connection with this Plan. In no event shall any person 
who is or shall have been a member of the Board or the Administrator be liable for any determination made or other action taken or any omission 
to act in reliance upon any such report or information, or for any action taken, including the furnishing of information, or failure to act, if in good 
faith.  

   
(g)           Effect of Administrator’s Decision . All actions taken and decisions and determinations made by the Administrator on all 

matters relating to the Plan pursuant to the powers vested in it hereunder shall be in the Administrator’s sole discretion and shall be conclusive 
and binding on all parties concerned, including the Corporation, its stockholders, any participants in the Plan and any other employee, 
consultant, or director of the Corporation, and their respective successors in interest.  

   
4.            Shares Available for the Plan . The aggregate number of shares of Common Stock issuable pursuant to all Awards granted 

under the Plan shall not exceed 5,000,000. In no event (subject to adjustment as provided in Section 7(f)), may the number of shares issuable 
pursuant to the exercise of incentive stock options granted hereunder exceed 5,000,000. The aggregate number of shares of Common Stock 
available for grant under this Plan and the number of shares of Common Stock subject to outstanding Awards shall be subject to adjustment as 
provided in Section 7(f).  

   
The Corporation shall reserve such number of shares for Awards under the Plan, subject to adjustments as provided in Section 7(f) of 

the Plan. If any Award, or portion of an Award, under the Plan expires or terminates unexercised, becomes unexercisable or is forfeited or 
otherwise terminated, surrendered or canceled as to any shares, or if any shares of Common Stock are repurchased by or surrendered-to the 
Corporation in connection with any Award (whether or not such surrendered shares were acquired pursuant to any Award), or if any shares are 
withheld by the Corporation, the shares subject to such Award and the repurchased, surrendered and withheld shares shall thereafter be available 
for further Awards under the Plan; provided, however, that to the extent required by applicable law, any such shares that are surrendered to or 
repurchased or withheld by the Corporation in connection with any Award or that are otherwise forfeited after issuance shall not be available for 
purchase pursuant to incentive stock options intended to qualify under Code section 422.  
   
   



   
5.            Participation . Participation in the Plan shall be open only to those employees, officers, and directors of, and consultants 

providing bona fide services to or for, the Corporation, or of any Affiliate of the Corporation, as may be selected by the Administrator from time 
to time. The Administrator may also grant Awards to individuals in connection with hiring, retention or otherwise, prior to the date the 
individual first performs services for the Corporation or an Affiliate, provided that such Awards shall not become vested or exercisable prior to 
the date the individual first commences performance of such services.  

   
6.            Awards . The Administrator, in its sole discretion, shall establish the terms of all Awards granted under the Plan. All Awards 

shall be subject to the terms and conditions provided in the Grant Agreement. Awards may be granted individually or in tandem with other types 
of Awards. Each Award shall be evidenced by a Grant Agreement, and each Award shall be subject to the terms and conditions provided in the 
applicable Grant Agreement. The Administrator may permit or require a recipient of an Award to defer such individual’s receipt of the payment 
of cash or the delivery of Common Stock that would otherwise be due to such individual by virtue of the exercise of: payment of: or lapse or 
waiver of restrictions respecting, any Award. If any such deferral is required or permitted, the Administrator shall, in its sole discretion, establish 
rules and procedures for such deferral.  

   
(a)           Stock Options . The Administrator may from time to time grant to eligible Participants Awards of incentive stock options as 

that term is defined in Code section 422 or non-qualified stock options; provided, however, that Awards of incentive stock options shall be 
limited to employees of tile Corporation or of any current or hereafter existing “parent corporation” or “subsidiary corporation,” as defined in 
Code sections 424(e) and (f), respectively, of the Corporation. The exercise price of any option granted under the Plan shall be determined by the 
sole discretion of the Administrator. No stock option shall be an incentive stock option unless so designated by the Administrator at the time of 
grant or in the Grant Agreement evidencing such stock option.  

   
(i)           Special Rules for Incentive Stock Options . The aggregate Fair Market Value, as of the date the Option is granted, of the 

shares of Common Stock with respect to which incentive stock options are exercisable for the first time by a Participant during any calendar year 
(under all incentive stock option plans, as defined in Section 422 of the Code, of the Corporation, or any Parent or Subsidiary), shall not exceed 
$100,000 or such other dollar limitation as may be provided in the Code. Notwithstanding the prior provisions of this Section, the Board may 
grant Options in excess of the foregoing limitations, in which case such Options granted in excess of such limitation shall be Options which are 
non-qualified stock options.  
   
   



   
(b)           Stock Appreciation Rights . The Administrator may from time to time grant to eligible Participants Awards of Stock 

Appreciation Rights (“SAR”). A SAR may be exercised in whole or in part as provided in the applicable Grant Agreement and entitles the 
grantee to receive, subject to the provisions of the Plan and the Grant Agreement, a payment having an aggregate value equal to the product of (i) 
the excess of (A) the Fair Market Value on the exercise date of one share of Common Stock over (B) the base price per share specified in the 
Grant Agreement, which shall not be less than the Fair Market Value of one share of Common Stock as of the date the SAR is granted, times (ii) 
the number of shares specified by the SAR, or portion thereof, which is exercised. Payment by the Corporation of the amount receivable upon 
any exercise of a SAR may be made by the delivery of Common Stock or cash, or any combination of Common Stock and cash, as specified in 
the Grant Agreement or as determined in the sole discretion of the Administrator. If upon settlement of the exercise of a SAR a grantee is to 
receive a portion of such payment in shares of Common Stock, the number of shares shall be determined by dividing such portion by the Fair 
Market Value of a share of Common Stock on the exercise date. No fractional shares shall be used for such payment and the Administrator shall 
determine whether cash shall be given in lieu of such fractional shares or whether such fractional shares shall be eliminated.  

   
(c)           Stock Awards . The Administrator may from time to time grant restricted or unrestricted Stock Awards to eligible Participants 

in such amounts, on such terms and conditions (which terms and conditions may condition the vesting or payment of Stock Awards on the 
achievement of one or more Performance Goals), and for such consideration, including no consideration or such minimum consideration as may 
be required by law, as it shall determine.  

   
(d)           Phantom Stock . The Administrator may from time to time grant Awards to eligible participants denominated in stock-

equivalent units (’‘Phantom Stock”) in such amounts and on such terms and conditions as it shall determine, which terms and conditions may 
condition the vesting or payment of Phantom Stock on the achievement of one or more Performance Goals. Phantom Stock units granted to a 
Participant shall be credited to a bookkeeping reserve account solely for accounting purposes and shall not require a segregation of any of the 
Corporation’s assets. An Award of Phantom Stock may be settled in Common Stock, in cash, or in a combination of Common Stock and cash, as 
specified in the Grant Agreement. Except as otherwise provided in the applicable Grant Agreement, the grantee shall not have the rights of a 
stockholder with respect to any shares of Common Stock represented by a phantom stock unit solely as a result of the grant of a phantom stock 
unit to the grantee. In granting any such Phantom Stock Awards, the Administrator shall consider the potential application of Section 409A of 
the Code, and the applicable Grant Agreement shall include appropriate disclosure with respect to any such potential application.  

   
(e)           Performance Awards . The Administrator may, in its sole discretion, grant Performance Awards, which become payable on 

account of attainment of one or more Performance Goals established by the Administrator. Performance awards may be paid by the delivery of 
Common Stock or cash, or any combination of Common Stock and cash, as specified in the Grant Agreement.  
   
   



   
(f)           Other Stock-Based Awards . The Administrator may from time to time grant other stock-based awards to eligible Participants 

in such amounts, on such terms and conditions, and for such consideration, including no consideration or such minimum consideration as may be 
required by law, as it shall determine. Other stock-based awards may be denominated in cash, in Common Stock or other securities, in stock-
equivalent units, in stock appreciation units, in securities or debentures convertible into Common Stock, or in any combination of the foregoing 
and may be paid in Common Stock or other securities, in cash, or in a combination of Common Stock or other securities and cash, all as 
determined in the sole discretion of the Administrator as set forth in the Grant Agreement. In granting any such Awards, the Administrator shall 
consider the potential application of Section 409A of the Code, and the applicable Grant Agreement shall include appropriate disclosure with 
respect to any such potential application.  

   
7.            Miscellaneous .  
   
(a)           Investment Representations . The Administrator may require each person acquiring shares of Common Stock pursuant to 

Awards hereunder to represent to and agree with the Corporation in writing that such person is acquiring the shares without a view to 
distribution thereof. The certificates for such shares may include any legend that the Administrator deems appropriate to reflect any restrictions 
on transfer. All certificates for shares issued pursuant to the Plan shall be subject to such stock transfer orders and other restrictions as the 
Administrator may deem advisable under the rules, regulations and other requirements of the Securities and Exchange Commission, any stock 
exchange upon which the Common Stock is then listed or interdea1er quotation system upon which the Common Stock is then quoted, and any 
applicable federal or state securities laws. The Administrator may place a legend or legends on any such certificates to make appropriate 
reference to such restrictions.  

   
(b)           Compliance with Securities Law . Each Award shall be subject to the requirement that if, at any time, counsel to the 

Corporation shall determine that the listing, registration or qualification of the shares subject to such an Award upon any securities exchange or 
interdealer quotation system or under any state or federal law, or the consent or approval of any governmental or regulatory body, or that the 
disclosure of nonpublic information or the satisfaction of any other condition is necessary in connection with the issuance or purchase of shares 
under such an Award, such Award may not be exercised, in whole or in part, unless such satisfaction of such condition shall have been effected 
on conditions acceptable to the Administrator. Nothing herein shall be deemed to require the Corporation to apply for or to obtain such listing, 
registration or qualification, or to satisfy such condition.  
   
   



   
(c)           Withholding of Taxes . Grantees and holders of Awards shall pay to the Corporation or its Affiliate, or make provision 

satisfactory to the Administrator for payment of, any taxes required to be withheld in respect of Awards under the Plan no later than the date of 
the event creating the tax liability. The Corporation or its Affiliate may, to the extent permitted by law, deduct any such tax obligations from any 
payment of any kind otherwise due to the grantee or holder of an Award. In the event that payment to the Corporation or its Affiliate of such tax 
obligations is made in shares of Common Stock, such shares shall be valued at Fair Market Value on the applicable date for such purposes and 
shall not exceed in amount the minimum statutory tax withholding obligation.  

   
(d)           Loans . To the extent otherwise permitted by law, the Corporation or its Affiliate may make loans to grantees to assist 

grantees in exercising Awards and satisfying any withholding tax obligations.  
   
(e)           Transferability . Except as otherwise determined by the Administrator or provided in a Grant Agreement, and in any event in 

the case of an incentive stock option or a stock appreciation right granted with respect to an incentive stock option, no Award granted under the 
Plan shall be transferable by a grantee otherwise than by will or the laws of descent and distribution or pursuant to the terms of a “qualified 
domestic relations order” (within the meaning of Section 414(P) of the Code and the regulations and rulings thereunder). Unless otherwise 
determined by the Administrator in accord with the provisions of the immediately preceding sentence, an Award may be exercised during the 
lifetime of the grantee, only by the grantee or, during the period the grantee is under a legal disability, by the grantee’s guardian or legal 
representative.  

   
(f)           Adjustments for Corporate Transactions and Other Events .  
   

(i)           Capital Adjustments . In the event of any change in the outstanding Common Stock by reason of any stock dividend, 
stock split, reverse stock split, split up; recapitalization, reclassification, reorganization, combination or exchange of shares, merger, 
consolidation, liquidation or the like, then (A) the maximum number of shares of such Common Stock as to which Awards may be 
granted under the Plan, and (B) the number of shares covered by and the exercise price and other terms of outstanding Awards, shall, 
without further. action of the Board, be appropriately adjusted to reflect such event, unless, with respect to Section 7(f)(i)(A) only, the 
Board determines, at the time it approves such action that no such adjustment shall be made. The Administrator may make adjustments, 
in its sole discretion, to address the treatment of fractional shares and fractional cents that arise with respect to outstanding Awards as a 
result of the stock dividend, stock split or reverse stock split.  

   
(ii)          Change of Control Transactions . In the event of any transaction resulting in a Change of Control of the Corporation, 

any outstanding stock options and other Awards will become fully vested and no longer subject to forfeiture immediately prior to a 
Change of Control if and to the extent the Awards are not converted, assumed, substituted for or replaced by a Successor Company. If 
and to the extent a Successor Company converts, assumes, substitutes for or replaces the Awards, the vesting restrictions and forfeiture 
restrictions applicable to the Awards will not be accelerated or lapse, and all such vesting restrictions and forfeiture restrictions will 
continue with respect to any shares of the Successor Company or other consideration that may be received with respect to the Awards.  

   
   



   
For the purposes of this Section 7(f)(ii), the Awards will be considered converted, assumed, substituted for or replaced by the 

Successor Company if following the Change of Control, Executive has the right to receive, for each Award outstanding immediately 
prior to the Change of Control, the consideration (whether stock, cash or other securities or property) received in the Change of Control 
by holders of Common Stock for each share held by such holders on the effective date of the transaction (and if holders were offered a 
choice of consideration, the type of consideration chosen by the holders of a majority of the outstanding shares); provided, however, that 
if such consideration received in the Change of Control is not solely common stock of the Successor Company, the Company may, with 
the consent of the Successor Company, provide for the consideration to be received pursuant to the Awards, for each share of Common 
Stock subject thereto, to be solely common stock of the Successor Company substantially equal in fair market value to the per share 
consideration received by holders of Common Stock in the Change of Control. The determination of such substantial equality of value 
of consideration will be made by the Board of Directors of Company, and its determination will be conclusive and binding, absent 
manifest error.  

   
(g)          Termination, Amendment and Modification of the Plan. The Board may terminate, amend or modify the Plan or any portion 

thereof at any time, but no amendment or modification shall be made which would impair the rights of any grantee under any Award theretofore 
made, without his or her consent. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained in the Plan, the Board may not amend or modify the Plan 
or any portion thereof without stockholder approval where such approval is required by applicable law. Furthermore, notwithstanding anything 
to the contrary contained in the Plan, the Administrator may not amend or modify any Award if such amendment or modification would require 
the approval of the stockholders if the amendment or modification were made to the Plan.  

   
(i)           Non-Guarantee of Employment or Service . Nothing in the Plan or in any Grant Agreement thereunder shall confer any right 

on an individual to continue in the service of the Corporation or shall interfere in any way with the right of the Corporation to terminate such 
service at any time with or without cause or notice and whether or not such termination results in (i) the failure of any Award to vest; (ii) the 
forfeiture of any unvested or vested portion of any Award; and/or (iii) any other adverse effect on the individual’s interests under the Plan.  

   
(h)           No Trust or Fund Created . Neither the Plan nor any Award shall create or be construed to create a trust or separate fund of 

any kind or a fiduciary relationship between the Corporation and a grantee or any other person. To the extent that any grantee or other person 
acquires a right to receive payments from the Corporation pursuant to an Award, such right shall be no greater than the right of any unsecured 
general creditor of the Corporation.  
   
   



   
(i)           Governing Law . The validity, construction and effect of the Plan, of Grant Agreements entered into pursuant to the Plan, and 

of any rules, regulations, determinations or decisions made by the Administrator relating to the Plan or such Grant Agreements, and the rights of 
any and all persons having or claiming to have any interest therein or thereunder, shall be determined exclusively in accordance with applicable 
federal laws and the laws of the State of Nevada without regard to its conflict of laws principles. Any suit with respect to the Plan shall be 
brought in the federal or state courts in the districts which include the city and state in which the principal offices of the Corporation are located.  

   
(j)           Effective Date; Termination Date . The Plan is effective as of the date approved by Board and shall continue in effect for a 

term of ten (10) years, unless earlier terminated pursuant to Section 7(g) hereof. No Award shall be granted under the Plan after the close of 
business on the day immediately preceding the tenth anniversary of the effective date of the Plan, or if earlier, the tenth anniversary of the date 
the Plan is approved by the stockholders, and no Award under the Plan shall have a term of more than ten (10) years. Subject to other applicable 
provisions of the Plan, all Awards made under the Plan prior to such termination of the Plan shall remain in effect until such Awards expire or 
have been satisfied or terminated in accordance with the Plan and the terms of such Awards; provided, however, that no Award that 
contemplates exercise or conversion may be exercised or converted, and no Award that defers vesting, shall remain outstanding and unexercised, 
unconverted or unvested, in each case, for more than ten (10) years after the date such Award was initially granted.  

   
(k)           Regulatorv Restrictions . The Plan and the Corporation’s obligations under the Plan and any Grant Agreement shall be subject 

to all applicable federal and state laws, rules and regulations, and to such approvals by any regulatory or governmental agency as may be 
required. Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, (i) the Corporation shall not be required to sell or issue any shares of Common Stock 
pursuant to any Award if the sale or issuance of such shares would constitute a violation by the individual exercising the Award or the 
Corporation of any provision of any law or regulation of any governmental authority, including without limitation any federal or state securities 
laws or regulations, and (ii) the inability of the Corporation to obtain any necessary authority from any regulatory body having jurisdiction, 
which authority is deemed by the Corporation’s counsel to be necessary to the lawful exercise or payment of any Award hereunder, shall relieve 
the Corporation of any liability in respect of the exercise or payment of such Award to the extent such requisite authority shall have been deemed 
necessary and shall not have been obtained.  
   
   



   
PLAN APPROVAL AS AMENDED:  
   

   

   
   
  

Dated:        

      
Jonathan Pfohl     
Corporate Secretary     



 
Exhibit 23  
   

CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING  FIRM  
   
We consent to the incorporation by reference in Registration No. 333-203197 of Scio Diamond Technology Corporation on Form S-8 of our 
report dated June 29, 2015, related to the financial statements of Scio Diamond Technology Corporation at March 31, 2105 and 2014, and for 
each of the years in the two-year period ended March 31, 2105, which report appears in this Annual Report on Form 10-K of Scio Diamond 
Technology Corporation.  
   
/s/ Cherry Bekaert LLP  
   
Greenville, South Carolina  
June 29, 2015  
   
   
  



 
Exhibit 31.1  

Rule 13a-14(a) Certification of the Principal Executive Officer  

I, Gerald McGuire, certify that:  

1.                 I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Scio Diamond Technology Corporation;  

2.                 Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to 
make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period 
covered by this report;  

3.                 Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material 
respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;  

4.                 The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as 
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a–15(e) and 15d–15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a–
15(f) and 15d–15(f)) for the registrant and have:  

(a)                  Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under 
our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly 
during the period in which this report is being prepared;  

(b)                  Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be 
designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial 
statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;  

(c)                  Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions 
about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and 

(d)                  Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the 
registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is 
reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and  

5.                 The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial 
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent 
functions):  

(a)                  All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting 
which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and  

(b)                  Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the 
registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.  

   
  

Date:  June 29, 2015     By:  /s/ Gerald McGuire  
         Gerald McGuire  
         Chief Executive Officer (Principal Executive Officer)  



 
Exhibit 31.2  

Rule 13a-14(a) Certification of the Principal Financial Officer  

I, Jonathan Pfohl, certify that:  

1.                 I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Scio Diamond Technology Corporation;  

2.                 Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to 
make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period 
covered by this report;  

3.                 Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material 
respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;  

4.                 The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as 
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a–15(e) and 15d–15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a–
15(f) and 15d–15(f)) for the registrant and have:  

(a)                  Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under 
our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly 
during the period in which this report is being prepared;  

(b)                  Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be 
designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial 
statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;  

(c)                  Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions 
about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and 

(d)                  Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the 
registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is 
reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and  

5.                 The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial 
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent 
functions):  

(a)                  All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting 
which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and  

(b)                  Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the 
registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.  

   
  

Date:  June 29, 2015     By: /s/ Jonathan Pfohl  
         Jonathan Pfohl  

      Chief Financial Officer (Principal Financial Officer)  



 
Exhibit 32  

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,  
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO  

SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002  

The undersigned, the President and Chief Executive Officer and the Chief Financial Officer of Scio Diamond Technology Corporation 
(the “Company”), each certify that, to his knowledge on the date of this certification:  

1.               The annual report of the Company for the period ended March 31, 2015 as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on this 
date (the “Report”) fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and  

2.               The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and result of operations of the 
Company.  

   

   
  

Date:  June 29, 2015     /s/ Gerald McGuire  
         By:  Gerald McGuire  
         Its:  Chief Executive Officer (Principal Executive Officer)  

Date:  June 29, 2015     /s/ Jonathan Pfohl  
         By:  Jonathan Pfohl  
         Its:  Chief Financial Officer (Principal Financial Officer)  


